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Monday, March 5, 2007

     --- Upon commencing at 9:07 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Good morning.


MR. THOMPSON:  Got them on.  Thank you.  


MS. NOWINA:  I apologize for the delay.  


The Board has received three notices of motions from parties for review of separate aspects of the November 7th, 2006 EB‑2005‑0551 decision with reasons in the Natural Gas Electricity Interface Review proceeding.


Moving parties and responding parties have submitted factums regarding the threshold questions for these motions.  The oral hearing today is to hear those submissions.


The panel has read all of your factums.  Parties shall confine their submissions to the material in their factums and to responding to the factums of other parties and to address only the issues provided in the Board's Procedural Order No. 1:  (a) What are the threshold questions that the Board should apply in determining whether the Board should review the NGEIR decision; and (b) Have the moving parties met the test or tests?


My name is Pamela Nowina.  I will be the Presiding Member today.  Joining me are Paul Vlahos and Cathy Spoel.  May I have appearances, please.


APPEARANCES:

MS. ALDRED:  I'm Mary Anne Aldred.  I'm the Board's general counsel.


MS. NOWINA:  Turn your mike on, please.


MS. ALDRED:  Sorry, I haven't been in this hearing room yet.  How do I turn it on?


MS. NOWINA:  The green button.


MS. ALDRED:  I'm Mary Anne Aldred.  I'm Ontario Energy Board general counsel.


MR. THOMSON:  Kent Thomson and David Akman from Davies Ward here for Staff of the OEB.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. MORAN:  Pat Moran on behalf of the Association of Power Producers of Ontario.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Moran.


MR. WARREN:  Robert Warren, counsel for the Consumers Council of Canada.  With me is my colleague April Brousseau.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.


MR. JANIGAN:  Michael Janigan on behalf of the Vulnerable Energy Consumers' Coalition.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.


MR. THOMPSON:  Peter Thompson on behalf of the Industrial Gas Users Association.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.


MR. LESLIE:  Glenn Leslie on behalf of Union Gas.  Sharon Wong is with me.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Leslie.


MR. CASS:  Fred Cass and David Stevens for Enbridge Gas Distribution.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.


MR. RYDER:  Alick Ryder for the City of Kitchener, and with me is Mr. Gruenbauer of the City of Kitchener.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Ryder.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Good morning.  John DeVellis for the School Energy Coalition.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.


MS. SMITH:  Laurie Smith is appearing on behalf of MHP Canada, and with me is Mr. Jim Redford.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Just a couple of comments from the Panel.  You'll note that Mr. Thomson and Mr. Akman are appearing as external counsel on behalf of Board Staff.


I want to inform parties that this Panel has not met with Mr. Thomson or Mr. Akman.  We have not given them direction.  We have not received advice from them, nor will we unless it's during the course of this oral proceeding.  And their positions will be all on the public record.


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:


I'd like to say a few words about the schedule of appearances.

We will move SEC up, because it appears that they are in support of the moving parties, so it makes sense for them to be closer to the moving parties.  We'll move them up either to immediately before or immediately after Board Staff, depending on how our schedule today goes.


As we noted in our letter of Procedural Order 2, we will complete today the submissions of the moving parties and Board Staff.  So I would like to now get an estimate of time from the moving parties.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. DeVellis, I think your mike is on.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  So I would like to get an estimate of time from the moving parties, and we will hold you to that time, and if it's too lengthy, we'll negotiate about how long it will be.


So who would like to start?


MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, I anticipate that I will be an hour, and, as I will indicate in the opening of my submissions, Mr. Janigan and I are dividing up our submissions, although I have the lion's share of the submission, but I think an hour is a reasonable estimate of the time.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Mr. Janigan.


MR. JANIGAN:  I believe my submissions will take approximately 20 minutes.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.  Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I think I'd be an hour to an hour to an hour and a half.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.


MR. MORAN:  Yes, Madam Chair.  I'll be approximately 45 minutes to an hour.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Moran.


MR. RYDER:  Yes, I'll be an hour to an hour and 15 minutes.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Ryder.  Mr. Thomson.


MR. THOMSON:  I'll be in the range of an hour.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  That appears quite comfortable for today, so we will proceed on that basis.


Are there any preliminary matters?  None?  Then, Mr. Warren, were you going to start us off?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. WARREN:

MR. WARREN:  Thank you, Madam Chair, Members of the Panel.  These are the submissions of my client, the Consumers Council of Canada, and Mr. Janigan's client, the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Warren, is your mike on?


MR. WARREN:  It is, sir.  I'm sorry.  I guess I have to speak a little more loudly; is that the case?


MS. NOWINA:  A little bit, Mr. Warren.


MR. WARREN:  The two areas that we will cover are the following:  the threshold tests that the Board should apply in deciding whether it should review the NGEIR decision on its merits; and, secondly, whether the moving parties ‑ and when I say "the moving parties", I refer to Mr. Janigan's clients and mine ‑ have met those tests.


The second point necessarily involves some consideration of the merits; namely, whether there are arguable questions as to the correctness of the NGEIR decision.


It is not our intention, obviously, to deal at any length with the merits of the arguments.  The moving parties, in our respectful submission, are not under an obligation to establish that they will be successful on the merits.


For a road map of our submissions, I will be making submissions on the content of the threshold test.  I will also make some submissions on the merits; namely, why it is we think we meet those tests.


Mr. Janigan will address the balance of the arguments on the merits.  I will then conclude with a brief submission on the relief we are asking for and our costs.


Dealing first, then, with the threshold test or tests.  As the Board is aware, and I don't need to spend any time on this, the Statutory Powers Procedure Act allows regulatory agencies in this province to review their own decisions if they make rules to that effect.  The Board has made rules to that effect.


Rule 44.01 of the Board's rules, which appears in our book of authorities -- perhaps I should ask the Board if they have our book of authorities in front of them.


MS. NOWINA:  I'm sure we do, Mr. Warren, just ‑‑


MR. SCHUCH:  Madam Chair, we should probably enter this as an exhibit at this stage.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Why don't we do that, Mr. Schuch? 


MR. SCHUCH:  And that would be Exhibit J1.1.  And that would be the book of the authorities of the Consumers Council of Canada and the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.


EXHIBIT NO. J1.1:  BOOK OF THE AUTHORITIES OF THE 


CONSUMERS COUNCIL OF CANADA AND THE VULNERABLE ENERGY 


CONSUMERS COALITION.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. WARREN:  The Board has made rules governing reviews of its decision, and I'd ask the Board to turn to tab 10 of our book of authorities to the second page, which is marked as page 25.


Rule 44.01 sets out the grounds for a motion for review.  I ask the Board to pay particular attention to subsection A, which reads:

"Every notice of motion made under Rule 42.01, in addition to the requirements under Rule 8.02, shall:  (a) set out the grounds for the motion that raise a question as to the correctness of the order or decision, which grounds may include..."


In our submission, the use of the words "may include" is language which indicates that the list is not exhaustive.


I'd ask the Board, then, to turn to tab 2 of our book of authorities, which is a decision by this Board in an application by Natural Resource Gas Limited in RP‑2004‑0167. And I'd ask the Board, in particular, to turn to page 7 of that reported decision.


And in the first full paragraph on that page, you'll see that the Board says, and I quote:

"This is not a hearing of the application de novo.  In considering a motion to vary, the Board considers whether new evidence has been presented by the applicant."


And then I underscore the following words:

"... or whether the original Panel made an error in law or in principle so as to justify the reversal of the original decision."


That statement of the Board's own view of its powers of review is, in my respectful submission, the most recent and the most significant decision, comment on it, and it frames the Board's powers very broadly.  

I'd ask the Board then to turn briefly to the decision which follows at tab 3, which is a decision of the Court of Appeal in re: Russell.  It's a case that a number of the parties, the moving parties and responding parties have referred to.  And I refer to page 8 of the reported decision, numbers paragraph 15, of the Court of Appeal's statement, and I quote:

"On the whole, courts have been mindful of the uniqueness of the powers of review of administration proceedings and have been loathe to interpret the power narrowly."


And it then goes on to refer to two Divisional Court decisions to that effect.


We submit, Madam Chair and Members of the Panel, that the relevant test is whether the moving parties have raised serious questions as to the correctness of the NGEIR decision in law or in principle.  And we submit that the moving parties have done so, and I will turn to submissions on those points in a few moments.


I do, however, at this stage want to respond to a number of the arguments that have been made by the responding parties on this issue of the tests.


Let me deal first with the submissions of Mr. Thomson on behalf of Board Staff.  Mr. Thomson's argument, as I understand it, reduced to its essence, is this.  The argument is that the changes that were made in the grounds for review --


[Technical pause]


MR. LESLIE:  Mr. Warren, while we're having a little break, have you got an extra copy of your material?  


MR. WARREN:  I was dealing, Madam Chair, Members of the Panel, with the arguments that have been made by some of the responding parties on this issue of what the threshold tests were, and I was addressing first the submissions of Board Staff or counsel for Board Staff.


And the argument, as I understand it, reduced to its essence, is that the changes that were made in the grounds for review in 2002 significantly limited the Board's powers of review.  The argument, again, as I understand it, is that the predecessor to Rule 44, which is Rule 63, included as a ground of review, error of law or jurisdiction, including a breach of natural justice.  The argument is that by deleting that provision the Board has limited its review power to changes in facts or in circumstances.


I have referred the Board already to the NRG decision which appears in our book of authorities, and I think it  useful if the Board were to turn it up.  It, again, appears at tab 2 of our book of authorities, at page 7.


Now, this is a decision in which the Board said, and I want to quote again: 

“...that in considering a motion to vary is the Board considers whether new evidence has been presented by the applicant or whether the original Panel made an error in law or principle so as to justify the reversal of the original decision.”


Now, the significance of that observation lies not just in the breadth of the standard it proposes, but it also lies in chronology.  It's a decision that was issued in 2005, some three years after the changes on which Mr. Thomson relies. 


I think the Board is entitled to assume that when the Board made its decision in NRG, it was fully aware of the 2002 decision and did not regard those changes as limiting its scope of review.  Since Board Staff has failed in its submission, as far as I can tell, to take account of the Board statement, the power of its review in the NRG case, I submit with great respect that its argument about the significance of the 2002 changes is simply and flatly wrong.


The Board has, in 2002, stated what its view of its powers of review are, and they're far broader than Mr. Thomson would have us believe.


Let me then turn to the position of Enbridge Gas Distribution which is –- I should say nearly as restrictive as that of Board Staff.


Again, reduced to its essence, it would appear to be that once a party has made an argument, it cannot make that argument again on appeal:  Once a decision is final with respect to all points -- a decision addition is, in effect, final with respect to all points the party has made.


Now, the reverse side of that the mirror image, if you wish, an argument, which Enbridge doesn’t make but which it could is that a party is precluded from making an argument on appeal it did not make in the hearing.  Catch 22.  The simple and crude logic of this line of analysis is that a party can never seek a review of a decision because it has either made all of its arguments or it didn't make them.


There are two fundamental problems with that line of argument, in my respectful submission.  The first and most basic is that it simply misses the whole point of an appeal.  The purpose of an appeal is to allow the parties to seek a review when they believe the decision is wrong regardless of whether they made arguments before.  To accept EGD's argument is to eliminate, in effect, any right for appeal.  It does away with the need for any appellate court.


An argument which so obviously misses the nature of an appeal is, in my respectful submission, misguided.


But the second problem with Enbridge’s argument is that it ignores the fact that the moving parties are making arguments about the decision.  They could not have known in advance how the NGEIR panel would decide the case, how it would interpret section 29, and its arguments are directed, the arguments of the moving parties, are directed to that decision.


That's the difference.


It's only when the decision is issued that the moving parties can make arguments about how the decision is wrong.


Now, Enbridge also posits what it calls the due diligence test for the threshold test, and in articulating the argument, Enbridge relies on submissions which I and my friend Mr. Thompson made in responding to one of Enbridge's own motions for review.  I guess I should -- Mr. Thompson and I should be flattered that such scrupulous attention has been made to our arguments.


But this is, in effect, a kind of "gotcha" form of argumentation.  You argued this one time, and so, you know, gotcha.


What it ignores is that that due diligence test is applied in a very different context than the case before you now.


In that case, Enbridge had sought a review based on evidence which it said was new but in fact was simply a re-articulation, in somewhat more strident terms, of the same evidence it had advanced at the hearing.


So the due diligence test, as expressed by Mr. Thompson and me, and as apparently adopted by the Board, applied in circumstances where Enbridge was relying on new evidence.  It's not the case here.


What we're saying, in our respectful submission, is that the due diligence test as framed there doesn't apply.  But the second component of the due diligence test is, in effect, a sly reiteration of the notion that you can't make the same points in arguing an appeal that you made in the case before.  For the reasons I've said before, in my respectful submission, that's wrong.


A party should, in our respectful submission, be entitled to make an argument that a decision was wrong, and they should not be precluded from making the same argument if it addresses serious flaws in the decision itself.  That's the very essence of the appeal.


We turn finally, in dealing with the responding parties' arguments, to the submissions of Union.


Now, Union, in its factum, relies on more traditional arguments, namely, the need for finality and certainty.  The moving parties do not quarrel that those are legitimate considerations which the Board can apply.


But the need for certainty in this case militates in favour, and not against, a review.  The section 29 power is an important power, and the NGEIR case is, to my knowledge, to our knowledge, the first in which it has been exercised.  And the decision has a significant impact on consumers.


It is essential, in our respectful submission, that a substantial measure of certainty about how section 29 -- that there be a substantial measure of certainty about how section 29 should be interpreted and applied.


How the exercise of this section 29 power relates to the Board's overall statutory obligations and to its other statutory mandate under section 36 are matters which are, in my respectful submission, mixed up in the section -- in the NGEIR decision, and which require clarification, in our respectful submission.  The parties have raised questions of fundamental importance about how the section 29 power is to be exercised and they have raised questions as to the correctness of the NGEIR's panel's interpretation of the application of section 29.


I want to deal with two of the cases which my friends Ms. Wong and Mr. Leslie have cited in their factum.


The first is the Chandler decision, which appears at tab 4 of their book of authorities.  I'm not sure the Board needs to turn it up, but it does appear at tab 4 of their book of authorities.


Now, this is a decision of the Supreme Court of Canada, and the late Justice Sopinka, speaking for the majority, dealt with -- articulated with the principle ‑‑ 


Actually, if the Board does want to turn it up, it appears at tab 4 of Mr. Leslie's and Ms. Wong's book of authorities.  I don't know whether Mr. Schuch wants to make that an exhibit at this stage.


MR. SCHUCH:  I'm sorry.  This would be the book of authorities of Union?


MR. WARREN:  Of Union Gas.


MR. SCHUCH:  We will assign that Exhibit J1.2.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


EXHIBIT NO. J1.2:  BOOK OF AUTHORITIES OF UNION GAS.

MR. WARREN:  I take it from the factum of my friends that the Chandler decision is relied on for the proposition which appears at page 596 of the reported decision, that, and I quote:

"There is a sound policy reason for recognizing the finality of proceedings before administrative tribunals."


The significance of the Chandler decision is that it was made in a context where there was no statutory right of review.  It was, in effect, dealing with the old common-law circumstances, and the rule of common law was that there was no inherent right in a regulatory agency to review its own decisions.  It could only do so in the narrowest of circumstances.


And Mr. Sopinka J.'s expression of that policy consideration has to be seen in that consideration.


I note, however, that on the same page, Sopinka J. said, "Justice may" ‑‑ and I'm quoting from the second full paragraph that's marked at letter E in the right‑hand column:

"Justice may require the reopening of administrative proceedings in order to provide relief which would otherwise be available on appeal."


So it is not a decision which is relevant to our circumstance.


Now, the second decision that I want to refer to in Mr. Leslie's book of authorities appears at tab 5, and that is a decision of this Board in a review of a motion brought by Mr. Leslie's client, Union Gas.  And this decision is, again, a 2005 decision.  


And it is, again, noteworthy of the fact that the Board took a broad view of its power of review in this decision.  This is three years after the changes in the rules that form, in effect, the essence of Board Staff counsel's argument.  


But in that case, Mr. Leslie apparently relies on that, again citing eminent counsel for the Industrial Gas Users Association that there should be a limited review.


If the Board turns up page 4 of the decision, this isn't a passage which is cited, black‑lined by Mr. Leslie, but I'm going to point to it.  It says:

"In the specific circumstances of this decision..."


It's under the heading "Standard of Review":

"In the specific circumstances of this decision, the Board recognized that confirmation or clarification might be helpful."


So this decision takes a broad view of the Board's power of review and decides that, in the circumstances before it, a review was both necessary and appropriate.  And we submit that the same kind of reasoning applies in this case.


Now, the final decision that I want to refer to in Mr. Leslie's authorities is -- appears at tab 9 of his authorities, and that is the decision of the Supreme Court of Canada in the Consolidated-Bathurst Packaging Limited case, a case which is famous in administrative-law circumstances for another set of principles that my friend doesn't rely on in this case.


But, as I understand it, Mr. Leslie's reliance and Ms. Wong's reliance on this case is for the proposition which appears in it that, in the ordinary course, the panel which hears the evidence should make the decision.


Now, the logic of that argument is that this Panel, or some other panel, should not hear a review because you didn't hear the evidence.  And this appears at ‑‑ this proposition is articulated at various points in the decision, particularly at page 559 of the decision.  You see that it's been black‑lined.  It says, and I'm quoting from the long paragraph which continues at the top of page 559: 

"I agree that, as a general rule, the members of a panel who actually participate in the decision must have heard all of the evidence as well as the arguments presented by the parties in this respect..."


And then he goes on to quote Justice Pratt's words in Doyle and the Restrictive Trade Practices Commission.


I want to make two comments, two observations about this particular use of the Consolidated-Bathurst case.


First, again, the iron logic of that analysis is that you can never have a review by another panel, never, if you adopt that reasoning.


And, clearly, the legislature in the Statutory Powers Procedure Act felt it was necessary and appropriate that tribunals be given that power if they wanted them, and the Board has adopted that power.  But to apply this logic, you can never have a different panel review.  It effectively vitiates the right of appeal which is given by the Board's rules.


But, equally significant, this is not a case in which the Panel had to make findings that were based on its reading of the witnesses.  This is not a case, in other words, which turns on the nuances of the testimony as presented by the living witness.  It's not a case that turns on credibility. 


In our respectful submission, the Board could reach a decision simply reading the transcript of the evidence, largely technical in its nature.


So I say, with respect, that the Chandler decision and the Consolidated‑Bathurst decision are not decisions which are really determinative of the issues before you.  We submit that the questions which we raise need to be resolved in the interests of certainty and finality and that doing so would be a perfectly proper exercise of the Board's review powers.


Now, various of the responding parties - indeed, all of the responding parties - have tendered a number of decisions of variation administrative agencies, all of them saying, We interpret the power of review in a very limited way.


These decisions, in my respectful submission ‑‑ in our respectful submission, must be seen in their context.  For example, the decisions of labour relations tribunals involve the resolution of disputes between parties.


It is not the same context here, and so the comments in those cases about the need for quick decisions and finality have to be seen in the context of the need for a quick resolution of a lis inter partes.


Now, Union relies on -- as an example of the phenomenon, Union relies on a decision of the Pay Equity Tribunal, and this appears ‑‑ the Board doesn't need to turn it up, but it appears on tab 7 of my friend's materials.  And in that case, the tribunal said it was important to bring finality in an expeditious manner.


But those kinds of considerations don't apply here.  There is no particular public-policy reason why this case has to be decided in an expeditious manner.  Those are considerations which were specific to the Pay Equity Tribunal in that case.


In the final analysis, the Board has to look at the context of this case in the broader statutory context of the Ontario Energy Board case.


And the decisions of other tribunals in different fact situations, with different policy considerations, indeed, different legal contexts, I think have to be seen for what they are.  They're sui generis.  They should not be relied on to any great extent by this tribunal.


In conclusion, we say that the relevant tests for the Board is whether the moving parties have raised serious issues as to the correctness of the decision, NGEIR decision, law and policy. 


Against that background, I'm going to turn, then, to the grounds for review.  This, as I said, entrenches on the merits of the case but only to the extent necessary to try and satisfy the onus on me that we've met the test.


We begin with the observation, and Members of the Panel, at -- section 29 of the OEB Act allows the Board to determine whether there is competition sufficient to protect the public interest in a particular service.  If so, the Board is to refrain in whole or in part from regulating that service.


We submit that there is nothing in section 29 or in the OEB Act as a whole which requires the Board to embark on a section 29 inquiry.  Section 29 is simply one of the tools made available to the Board to carry out its statutory mandate.  And we say, as a necessary first step, the Board should inquire as to whether the status quo achieves the objectives of the Board in section 2 of the Act.


Now, section 2 of the Act is reproduced in our book of materials, and it appears at - where does it appear? - Tab 9 of our materials.


Now, these are the objectives which Board is required to have regard to in carrying out its mandate with respect to natural gas.  And I'd ask the Board to have particular reference to numbers 2 and 4.


Number 2 says:

"To protect the interests of consumers with respect to prices and the reliability and kW of gas service."


Number 4 says:

“To facilitate rational development and safe operation of gas storage."


So those are the overriding -- sorry, the specific objectives of the Board in carrying out its mandate.


Now, in order to carry out that mandate, we submit the Board doesn't necessarily have to embark on a section 29 inquiry.  It has to inquire first as to whether the status quo meets the statutory objectives.


Now, if the Board would turn to our factum in this case.  Paragraph 15 of our factum sets out - and I'm not going to take the time to repeat them here - but sets out what we say are the components of the status quo.


And I'm going summarize those components from our perspective, in saying that the status quo protected the interests of consumers with respect to the prices paid for  storage in a market which everybody concedes, for 70 percent of those consumers, is not competitive.  But it also allowed storage development to proceed largely without constraint, the Board's decision some years ago to allow new storage development to charge what's called a range rate, allowed storage developers to take the risk to invest in storage development, knowing that they could largely charge a market rate for it and, in the process, earn a market return on investment.


There were no constraints, in our respectful submission, on rational storage development.  I use "rational storage development" because that's the language used in section 2(4) of the Act.


Now, curiously enough, the NGF report -- I shouldn't say curiously enough.  The NGF report which preceded, I think fairly to say was really the first stage of the process, made a finding in effect that the status quo was adequate.  And I'd ask the Board to turn to paragraph 27 of our factum.  The Board made the following finding, and I quote: 

"This Board in the Natural Gas Forum report --" 

sorry, this is the NGEIR Panel quoting the Natural Gas Forum report. 

“This Board in the Natural Gas Forum report recognized that market conditions in energy markets have, in fact, changed.   When such changes occur, regulators, particularly those such as the Board and the CRTC with statutory forbearance, mandates and their governing statutes must re-examine the regulatory construct in light of the current market conditions."


In other words, they must re-examine, we say as a first step, whether the status quo is adequate.  So we say, with respect, the Board erred in not starting the NGEIR process by looking at whether or not it needed to embark on a section 29 inquiry at all.


To put the matter in simplistic terms, section 29 is there for a purpose but it's part of a larger statutory context.  One of the tools.  It's not there as an invitation to embark on an academic exercise of determining whether there is competition in some particular narrow segment of the market.


Now, what appears in part to have prompted the NGEIR inquiry were the assertions of the utilities over time that there were -- there was competition in the marketplace sufficient to protect the public interest.  But as the Board is aware from the record in this case, part-way through the NGEIR process, the utilities narrowed the focus.  This is a matter referred to in my friend Mr. Thompson's submissions, and presumably he'll refer to it in greater detail.


But what the utility said was that, in fact, there is no competition sufficient to protect the interests for approximately 70 percent of the market, the in-franchise customers of Enbridge and Union who take bundled services.


Now, that's a huge segment of the market.  Seventy percent of the market would not get competition sufficient to protect the public interest.


Now, in our respectful submission, that fundamental, that sea change in the approach of the utilities to the case should have prompted the Board to assess whether a section 29 analysis was appropriate in this case at all.  The effect of that change was to bifurcate the market, or require the Board to bifurcate the market.  And the Board did so, in our respectful submission, and erred in the process without asking whether this was a proper subject of a section 29 analysis.


The result of this bifurcation of the market, this determination that 70 percent of the market was not susceptible to competition sufficient to protect the public interest, was the what I refer to as the cluster of ameliorative measures that were designed to compensate for the utility’s decision to take 70 percent of the market out of consideration.


The very existence of those ameliorative measures, which I'll return to in a moment, however salutary they may be, is evidence that a section 29 analysis could not work in the circumstances where everyone agreed that the market taken as a whole was not competitive.


I think in this respect it's instructive to take a look at the strong language which the NGEIR panel itself used in describing this 70 percent of the market.  And I ask the Board to turn to paragraph 17 of our factum.


I quote two passages from the NGEIR decision, and I'm going to in the interests of time refer the only the second of the two.  At page 6:

"The Board has found that the current level of competition is not sufficient to refrain from regulating all storage prices nor do we see evidence that it would be appropriate to refrain from regulating all storage price...", and I underscore the words, "in the future.  The current structure, for example, the full integration of Union’s storage transportation and businesses and the full integration of Union as a provider of storage services and as a user of storage services is not conducive to full forbearance from storage rate setting.  In addition, there would be significant direct and indirect rate impacts associated with full forbearance and rate setting and there is little evidence of significant intended public interest benefits, little evidence of significant attendant public interest benefits.  The current situation is that these customers are not subject to current competition sufficient to protect the public interests..."


And then I've underscored, and ask the Board to underscore, the words:  

“...nor is there a reasonable prospect that they will be at some time in future.” 


Having made that finding in strong language, in our respectful submission, or having understood that at the outset of the process, we say the Board shouldn't have embarked on an inquiry as to what conditions were necessary to ensure that competition.  Actually, what the Board might have done and, we say, should have done, if it was going to use the section 29 powers, was to embark on an analysis of what circumstances would be necessary in order to ensure that there would be competition in that segment, instead of looking only at a narrow segment of the market. 

However, having found that 70 percent of the market was not subject to competition, the Board then exposed a segment of that market to the effects of competition.


Enbridge's in-franchise customers will, in increasing amounts, pay a market price for a portion of their storage. This would seem a fundamental contradiction.  Having found that they are not protected by competition, they are then subject to competition.


This would seem to be a result which section 29 does not permit.  Section 29's language is Manichaean.  It's black or white.  There either is competition sufficient to protect the public interest or there isn't.  And if there isn't, as the Board found, then the Board cannot expose, or ought not to expose, a portion of the market to competition.


It's clear that the Panel in NGEIR understood the effects of its decision, that they would be harmful in some measure to the in-franchise customers of Enbridge and Union.


To protect those customers, the Panel imposed a number of transitional or ameliorative measures to spread the adverse effects over time, but this begs two questions.


The first is whether the transitional or ameliorative measures are permitted by section 29.  Section 29 provides, as I've said, that there must be competition sufficient to protect the public interest.  If there isn't, that is the end of the matter.


To put the matter another way, transitional or ameliorative measures are not an alternative to the essential finding required by section 29; namely, that there is competition sufficient to protect the public interest.


However, there is an argument, I acknowledge, that these transitional or ameliorative measures would be permitted if the facts were that, at the end of the operation of those transitional measures, there would be competition sufficient to protect the public interest.  But there was no finding in this case to that effect.


Indeed, as I've said, the finding was to the contrary in the passage which I've just cited in which the Board said:

"Nor is there a reasonable prospect that they will be at some time in the future."


That, in our respectful submission, is an error.


My final submission on the merits of the substance of the argument is that the effect of the NGEIR decision is to confer a benefit on the shareholders of the utilities with no corresponding benefit to ratepayers.  There will be only adverse effects.  There is, in other words, an unfair allocation of benefits and adverse impacts.  


I'd ask the Board in this context to turn up paragraph 27 ‑‑ sorry, paragraph 30 of our factum.


Now, I'm quoting from a decision in the case of Union Gas Limited and the Ontario Energy Board.  The full text of the decision appears in our book of authorities at tab 4, but you don't need to turn it up.


This is a decision of the Divisional Court, and I cite it because in that decision the Divisional Court reiterated, if you wish, the core principle which informs the Board's deliberation under all of its statutory ‑‑ using all of its statutory tools.


Quoting from an American author, E.J.G. Priest, it says: 

"In the United States private enterprise operates a larger share of these vital industries than in almost any other country because of our balanced system of regulation of public authority.  This system is designed to protect consumers against exploitation where competition is inherently unavailable or inadequate, and to ensure that these industries will serve the public interest.  At the same time, it provides these companies necessary assurance of an opportunity to return to earn a reasonable return on their investment and to attract capital for expansion."


It's a principle that all of the members of the Board are familiar with.  It's the kind of text which has Biblical authority.  And it's, if you wish, a case which expresses ‑‑ a statement which expresses what's embodied now in section 2, this balance between the interests of the shareholders on the one hand and the ratepayers on the other.


And that balance has been ‑‑ not been honoured in the NGEIR decision.  And that, we say, with respect, is an error.


Now, the Panel also used the section 29 inquiry as an occasion to restructure the storage assets of the utility and to adjust rates.  I'm going to turn to my friend, Mr. Janigan, to make submissions on that issue.


I will return briefly, after he's finished, to talk about the relief we're asking for and our prayer for costs.  Thank you.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. JANIGAN:

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Madam Chair and Panel.


I would like to deal with the issues that are set out in paragraphs 21 and 22 of our factum, and these relate to the division that was effected by the Board with respect to the storage assets, such that a portion were classified as non‑utility as a result of their notional allocation because of the service extended to in-franchise needs and the basis for that particular determination which, of course, led consequentially to the sharing of the premium that exists between the price of market‑based storage and the underlying costs.


Now, first of all, in relation to the issue of storage in terms of the function of storage, the Board in the NGEIR decision recognized that storage was unitary and an integrated asset, and that the same assets were used in both -- for in-franchise and ex-franchise market.


In fact, the Board noted on page 74 of its decision that you can't structurally separate storage.  It is a unitary, integrated asset, serves both ex-franchise and in-franchise customers, and separating them out from a structural sense would not make sense.


The division that was effected was thus a regulatory or notional division between what was classified as the amount necessary to serve in-franchise customers and the amount necessary to serve ex-franchise.


Now, the basis for that determination, and particularly the nexus between that determination and the determination on the competition‑related issues, is a bit difficult to glean from the decision itself.


On page 47 of the decision of the Board, it's noted, in relation to the issue of the division of the premium that flows from this division of the rate base, on the second paragraph: 

"The Board agrees that the distribution of the premium is a significant consideration.  In many ways, it has been the underlying focus of the NGEIR proceeding.  However, the impact of removing the premium from rates is the result of removing a sharing of economic rents.  It is not the result of competition bringing about a price increase."


So, in effect, what we are looking to is potentially the standard kinds of determinations where a board looks to whether or not revenues from a particular enterprise should be included in rates or not.


As well, if we turn to page 101 of the Board's decision, it's noted that, at the top of the page:

"The basis for sharing these margins is the nature of the assets that underpin the transactions, not the prices at which the transactions occur."


So it's the nature of the assets themselves that the Board seems to be looking to that's driving the division of the rate base and the subsequent sharing of the premium.


Now, the Board also, then, in the context of the decision, set out some factors which it used or some criteria which it used in attempting to classify what this asset was, and why the division of the -- what was structurally and functionally a unitary asset should be divided.


And on page 80 of the Board's decision, it indicates that the payment of the capital costs that would have been paid by ratepayers from the premiums obtained from the ex-franchise customers is a substantial consideration in terms of whether or not these assets are, in fact, rate-base assets or utility assets or non-utility assets.


It's noted in the third paragraph here on page 80:

"First, Union's rate base excludes capital cost of storage that underpins long-term ex-franchise sales."


With respect, this is a cost allocation issue, not a rate-base issue; in fact, these capital costs are picked up through the premium.


Secondly on that same page, it indicates that the sheer size of the surplus capacity available and the premiums that it's generated are part and parcel of its analysis that in fact, this asset has to some extent become transformed into an asset that is a utility asset and a non-utility asset.


And finally, on page 105 of the Board's decision, it  indicates that, in the first paragraph, that, once again, unlike the circumstances that may have obtained in the past, in the final sentence:

"It is certainly not possible today to assert that ratepayers have paid for the space that underpins Union's long-term storage contracts."


Thus, in fact, the recent history of the premiums collected appears to transform the consideration of these assets from -- classification of these assets from utility to non-utility.


On the other hand, in the same paragraph, the Board appears to indicate that the determinations that are made with respect to competition have some effect or place this decision in some kind of context, when it indicates that until this proceeding -- and this is one of the factors that justifies a change in regulatory practice: 

“Until this proceeding, the Board had never reviewed the state of competition in storage, and had not considered whether to refrain, in whole or in part, from regulating storage prices."

    So in some way, the decision or the forbearance decision with respect to whether competition exists in the ex-franchise market had some impact on this determination.  What it is is a bit difficult to determine.


It's instructive in assessing or looking at the potential correctness of the principles applied by the Board to take a look at the history of the development of these assets.  And on tab 11 and tab 12 of our book of authorities, we have extracts from the Ontario Energy Board transcript in EBRO 486.02, and an extract from the reasons of decision in RP-1999-017.  I'd like to turn to tab 11, which is the transcript reference.


And effectively what Union -- the case that Union presents in 486.02 is that Union has acquired and developed the storage assets in utility, and that the ratepayers are responsible for substantiating that development.  And substantiation does not solely mean, or does not in large part mean, I should say, that, in fact, that the costs are paid by the ratepayers in their rates.  It means that the ratepayers are responsible for that investment.  And, in fact, if that investment, if it was prudently made, tanks, then the ratepayers must pick up the loss.  They stand behind the investment in storage assets.  It's made in rate base.  The utility is guaranteed a rate of return on those investments notwithstanding what the market may -- what may transpire on the market in relation to storage prices.


So Union confirms this, that, first of all, in the testimony of Mrs. Edwards in response to the counsel.  

“MS. LEA:  Why should ex -- in-franchise customers get the benefit from storage but consumers and in-franchise customers will not?”  

“Well, this space is being made available under this open season, this space that have been paid for and substantiated by our in-franchise market.”


And further down the page, the response of Ms. Elliott, Union’s witness:

"MS. ELLIOTT:  The space that is being available for this development is currently part of what is allocated in recovery from the in-franchise customers, so the underlying develop of the storage and the development cost to create the deliverability are an in-franchise cost of service, not ex-franchise cost of service.  So the benefits will go back to the in-franchise to offset the costs."


On the next page, the Union witness Mr. Black answers at the second paragraph:

"I believe that the in-franchise ultimately bear a greater risk of the space in costs.  They bore the costs of the initial undertaking of developing the space, and should that space not be utilized in the future, they would probably have those costs visited upon them.  This is the substantiation that's provided by the ratepayers.” 


And this is how those assets were presented and developed to the Board, that, in effect, Union has chosen to develop these assets in rate base, and has asked ratepayers now to substantiate them.


The ultimate success or failure of that, in my respectful submission, does not change that fact at all.


Now, I've also appended to the -- or included in the book of materials a number of cases that are illustrative of the treatment of assets that are developed in rate base.  And they provide a general illustration of the principle that utility assets developed in rate base are available for contribution of revenues associated with their use, and that the regulator may ignore the corporate structure, the structure of the transactions, and the flow of actual monetary amounts to preserve that accountability, particularly where the assets are integral to the operation.


Now, first case I'd like to draw your attention to is the Fleming case.  It's of some vintage and, in fact, it pre-dates the Hope Natural Gas case, which effectively recasts the whole rate-setting process and overturned Smith  and Ames.  But back in those days, which was immediately before the Hope case, it was a very intensive bean-counting exercise that tribunals went through in terms of looking at the assets, whether they were actually in the service of the ratepayers or whether or not it was something external and in fact rates had to justify the assets, even to the extent of fair value.


But even in this more restrictive era, in this circumstance, the Western Indiana Railroad, in common with six tenant railroads, used a station and facilities.  And Western Indiana passed on its share of the common expenses to ratepayers but withheld the lease payments from its other tenants in the context of its rate-making.


And notwithstanding the actual form of these transactions in that they were separate and apart from the actual expenses of Western Indiana on that particular aspect of that of suburban service, the Supreme Court of Illinois had no hesitation in indicating that the rentals from the lease should accrue to the benefit of the ratepayers.


If you look on page 10 of that decision --


MS. NOWINA:  What tab is that decision, Mr. Janigan?


MR. JANIGAN:  I'm sorry.  It is at tab 8:

"If the appellant desires and is willing to limit its own operation, a mere technical compliance with the statute, in order to enable it to lease its facilities to other railroads, it cannot set aside the rentals received for the payment of its interest requirements and dividends to accumulate a surplus until the expenses incurred in the limited operations which it maintains are paid.  Such expenses are a first charge against those rentals.  Neither can it pass on to the public any deficit in to its operations in the form of an increase in rates as long as it derives a substantial net income from the rental of its facilities used in the suburban service."


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Janigan, which particular?


MR. JANIGAN:  I'm reading from page 10 of the Fleming case at tab 8.


MS. SPOEL:  I just wondered what page you were reading from.   Thank you.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, this may be trite law to some extent, but it is an early example of the necessity to ensure that revenues from rate base assets used in the context of services to ratepayers are used to defray the revenue requirement.


Similarly, in Hinds v Mississippi, which appears at tab 7, the Hinds Water Company, a decision of the Mississippi Supreme Court, the Hinds Water Company used the money it obtained from the sale of part of its system to lend the money to its subsidiaries to provide water and sewage services for a fee.  And notwithstanding the way in which the interest money arose, the Supreme Court of Mississippi upheld the allocation of the interest on the money paid by those subsidiaries as a contribution to revenue requirement.


And if you note on page 5 of that decision, half way down the page, it cites the decision of the Commission that: 

"It is obvious it would be inequitable to penalize the present customers of the Hinds County Water Company by eliminating from utility income a return on funds gained by a sale of part of the water system having been paid for by present water customers.  It is obvious that if the Hinds County Water Company had expanded its operations without forming subsidiaries, then this income turned interest income would have be available from the sale of water.  To permit the utility to eliminate this income would be to recognize as meritorious a financial maneuver that would penalize the customers of Hinds County Water Company to the extent of this elimination."


And on the next page, it notes that:

"In examining the Counties of Hinds and Dixie for the purpose of rate‑fixing, the Commission properly lifted the corporate veil and looked at the situation with due regard to the ratepayers of both corporations."


Once again, this may be a trite illustration, but, in effect, what we have here is something that is structured outside of the utility, but is integral to the utility, has a relationship to the rate base that the customer has paid for, and, in the final analysis, the Commission, with the approval of the court, used that revenue to defray against the revenue requirement.


On tab 5 of our materials is a decision of the Federal Court of Appeal in relation to AGT Limited, now the Telus company.  It arises after, in effect, AGT was privatized, and the directory operations in the privatization were put in a separate company from the utility.  And when the matter came before the CRTC, the CRTC sought to, number one, get disclosure from the company as to the revenues associated with that directory operation, and, two, apply those revenues to the credit of the ratepayers.


It is instructive in terms of the approach that the Federal Court of Appeal approved in relation to the CRTC approach in this proceeding, particularly insofar as these were two separate and distinct corporate entities.  And, in fact, the directory operations had never been part of the utility and never been part of the rate base of the utility.


On page 3 of that decision, about a third of the way down the page, the argument of AGT notes that: 

"In this regard the company notes that it, licensed company and AGT directory, are distinct corporate entities that are incidentally owned by a common parent, and the Commission has difficulty in accepting this proposition given the circumstances above, as indicated in past decisions.   

   "In examining the question of whether or not certain corporate activities or undertakings are integral to the operation of the telephone company for regulatory purposes, the Commission is less concerned with the corporate forms of organizations that are selected for carrying on those activities than it is with what it considers to be their essential nature.  

   "On the basis of the evidence in the present case, the Commission finds that the activities of the licence company, AGT, AGT Limited, are largely interdependent.  Licence company and AGT directory rely on AGT's telephone activities, and AGT Limited relies on AGT activities both from an operational perspective and the perspective of its service obligations to subscribers.   

   "The Commission notes that in making such a determination", further down the page, "that the Commission would not be regulating AGT affiliates, dictating their activities or the amount they can charge and receive, changing the corporate structure organization or requiring AGT Limited to undertake activities that it does not presently carry on."


This is significant, because this is not a regulated company that they have chosen to ascribe revenues to.  They have looked to the function itself, whether or not it is integral to the operations and whether it's connected to the operations in such a way that they are interdependent.  And in that circumstance, the Federal Court of Appeal approved the CRTC measure ascribing revenue from this company, which was not regulated in any sense of the word, to the utility itself.


In the current context, it seems difficult not to believe that they're -- in the case of the storage asset, which is integral, unitary, and interdependent with the operation of the utility, that such a finding should also be made.


And, finally, with respect to the case of Connecticut Light and Power, which is found at tab 6.  Here the utility had developed a nuclear power plant rather unhappily named Millstone 3, and it had been subject to numerous and substantial cost overruns.  


Effectively, there were a number of different proceedings and actions that were initiated as a result of those overruns, and, finally, they settled with the Department of Public Utilities of Connecticut for the recognition of a rate base which encompassed 3.4 billion for the purpose of retail rates.


Now, what happened then is that the company went to the FERC to get approval of wholesale rates, and on page 6 you have a further description of what occurred at that time.  


And at the FERC, the Connecticut Light and Power got a rate base of 3.8 billion, 400 million larger than it received at the Department of Public Utilities.  And this rate base was for the purpose of setting wholesale rates.


Now, when it got back to the Commission, it said, When we account for wholesale rates or the revenue from wholesale rates, we should not have to account for that extra 400 million that we got at the FERC.  That is money that the shareholders have paid, not the ratepayers have paid.


And so as you can see midway down the page on page 6, that: 

"As part of its proposed schedule, Connecticut Light and Power requested that approximately 10 percent of the revenues derived from wholesale sales of Millstone 3 be allocated to its shareholders, although all revenues realized from wholesale sales are typically used to benefit the ratepayers by reducing the allowable rate base."


Now, the Commission rejected this treatment and the Supreme Court of Connecticut ultimately approved this treatment.  And it's to be noted on page 8 of its decision that, three-quarters of the way down the page: 

"There is no question that the wholesale capacity that Millstone 3 sells is generated by the entire physical plant, and not by any one portion of it, nor does the 400 million represent any particular portion of the physical plant.  Simply because Connecticut Light and Power may, from an accounting point of view, be able to attribute its wholesale sales revenue to a particular dollar portion of the overall cost of construction, and simply because that dollar portion was subsequently recognized by the FERC as includable in wholesale rate base, does not mean that those revenues are transformed in a non-utility as a matter of law, and that the Department of Public Utilities of Connecticut therefore was required to excluded them from the retail sales rate base.  The electricity power that produces the revenues is generated by the same physical plant that the ratepayers are required to support on the basis of the cost of the 3.4 billion."


Essentially, we have a unitary asset that was put in rate base at 3.4 billion.  The Commission and the court are indifferent to the circumstances of what occurred in terms of the generation of – or what occurred to drive the generation of wholesale rates at the FERC, and accordingly attributed all of the 400 million to the ratepayers' credit.


Now, in the case of the current situation, effectively, as we can understand from the determination by the Board, effectively the premiums paid have become so large that the picking up of the capital costs and the reducing of the revenue requirement has transformed in some fashion that asset from one which is accountable to ratepayers for revenue into one which is the province of the shareholder.


The Board decision in several locations stresses the fact that the ratepayers have benefitted from ex-franchise sales.  I think let's be clear about this.  The benefits, the nature of those benefits, arise from the premiums paid for ex-franchise users.  They do not come from the shareholder.  And, in fact, the shareholder has enjoyed a share of those benefits as well.  The regulatory bargain, as it were, is that ratepayers are responsible, and take the risk, for the assets in rate base.  There is no regulatory principle that I am aware of that suggests if the full costs of the assets are successfully recovered, or that, in fact, the revenues generated from the assets are successful, or that the operation is enormously successful in relation to the full use of those assets, that the assets take on a different character from that particular reason alone.  And in the result, they could be non-responsive to the underlying character of the assets.  Surely this is not the case with utility losses, in circumstances where the operations of the utility lose money, they've they are in rate base, they've been prudently paid for, those losses are ascribed to the ratepayers.


In our submission, it would be invidious to have the circumstances where ratepayers are separated from these assets when the operations become too successful.


And, in fact, if the Board has suggested that, in the context of its determination in characterizing or effecting their division of assets, we would respectfully submit that it is wrong.


Now, as I indicated earlier, there seems to be some measure or some nuance that it is affected by the fact that the classification of assets takes place in the context of a decision to forbear from regulation of rates and ex-franchise markets.


Some of these assets operate in markets that the Board has deemed to be competitive, and without getting into the nature of that particular decision, assuming on its face that, for the purpose of this argument, that that decision may be correct, does this transform the assets into non-utility, and transfer their revenue to the shareholder?


In other words, can the fact that the assets themselves operate in competitive markets, does that fact alone transform assets into non-utility assets?


And we would suggest that this can't be the case.


A simple example might be given.  Supposing the utility owned a fleet of vehicles which it used to provide the operation of the utility, and leased out those vehicles, from time to time, in order to get the full use of those vehicles and to obtain revenue from them in external markets.


Supposing the market for leasing of vehicles is competitive.


Does that mean that any asset, in this case, the surplus to the service of a utility, is now deemed to be a non-utility asset, at least from a notional standpoint, that is, which has occurred in this case, where there is no actual division, so that, in the event the utility accumulates any surplus for any particular asset that happens to be able to be sold in a competitive market, does that mean that that revenue which was from assets which were purchased in rate base, were paid for by ratepayers or substantiated by rate base, suddenly becomes the property of the shareholders?


I think probably the Panel can think of numerous examples where the utility may have such surplus assets and at its disposal that are not exclusively serving ratepayers.


In our submission, this is a Pandora's box that's opened, that would use the fact of the state in which competitive market –- that the state of competition of the market in which the asset is used, in order for classify the asset for regulatory purposes.  It, frankly, just can't fly.


Second aspect of the placement of this decision within a competitive framework, or a competitive framework of analysis, that it poses interesting difficulties from the standpoint of the concept of stranded assets.


In the customary competition decision, a utility moves to have ratepayers substantiate investments that were prudently made where recovery is impossible in a competitive situation, and as a result of the regulatory contract.  The utility has committed to make these investments.  The state of competition is such that they can be forborne from regulation, but, in fact, the regulatory contract continues and the stranded assets are, in most cases, made  whole as a pre-requisite to the opening of the competitive market.


In other words, if the utility has prudently made these investments, then the ratepayers are responsible to make good on those.


Does not the same proposition apply in this circumstance, if it is motivated by competitive principles?


We have in this circumstance effectively a stranded asset situation from a ratepayer standpoint.


Now, the answer, in most circumstances in competition, is that okay, that's fine.  You don't get the benefit of those assets, but you get the benefit of competition; you get the benefit of competitive rates.


Unfortunately, the owners of these assets -- no, the beneficiaries of these assets are customers to whom competition will not apply.  Competition will not reach them in terms of storage, and not now, and not in the future.


So the competitive remedy, as it were, for having access to competitive rates is not going to be applicable in this circumstance.


So, effectively, by applying a remedy that's associated with a classification of these assets as non-utility, you have stranded those assets and stranded the revenues associated with those assets from the ratepayer.


This is a unique situation, one in which I can't find any precedent that's occurred throughout North America, and goes to the threshold test of whether or not we have raised unarguable issue as to the correctness of this particular position. 


so in just concluding this section, we would submit that from what we understand, from the determination by the Board on this issue, the division of the rate base into utility and non‑utility with associated implications with respect to the division -- to the sharing of premium is not based on competition itself.  It is based upon the classification of the asset and the use of that asset.


We would suggest that, through regulatory practice and in terms of the precedent for the way in which the assets have been used in the past, this was an incorrect designation.


However, if the Board has taken on this particular division because these assets operate in a competitive market, we would suggest this is a very difficult road for the Board to follow in terms of the classification of assets, dependent upon which market they operate in, and raises, probably for the first time, the issue of stranded assets in the form of the revenues that were previously attributable to ratepayers and rate base arising from those assets themselves.


And Mr. Warren now will make some concluding remarks and remarks in terms of costs.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Warren.


FURTHER SUBMISSIONS BY MR. WARREN:

MR. WARREN:  On my calculation, Mr. Janigan went over time and I have exactly a minute and a half to conclude.


MS. NOWINA:  I was going remind you of that, but I thought you would probably know.


MR. WARREN:  I was going to ask the Chair to remind Janigan, and not me.


I want to deal just briefly with two points.  We are asking that the Board review the merits of the NGEIR decision with respect to the following questions.  


First is an examination of the status quo, a necessary pre‑condition to the exercise of jurisdiction under section 29 in circumstances, we say, where the objectives of section 2 are already being met.


Secondly, whether a section 29 inquiry is appropriate in circumstances where 70 percent of the market from the get‑go is not subject to competition.  


Thirdly, whether a section 29 inquiry ‑‑ sorry, whether a section 29 inquiry is properly applied ‑‑ whether the analysis of the Board was properly applied in circumstances where 70 percent of the market is not subject to competition.


Fourthly, whether the what I call ameliorative or transitional measurers are a substitute for the essential finding that there was competition sufficient to protect the public interest.


Fifth, whether the transitional or ameliorative measures are appropriate without a finding that there will be competition at the end of the operation of those measures sufficient to protect the public interest.


Sixth, how should section 29 be interpreted and applied where the effect of the decision is to expose a portion of the market to competition and one that is not protected.


And, finally, with respect to section 29, whether the Board erred in using section 29 as a mechanism to divide the storage assets and whether it did so correctly.


And, finally, we would ask that the decision be reviewed with respect to whether or not the Board correctly carried out its objectives in balancing the interests of utilities and their ratepayers.


My final submissions are with respect to the issue of costs.  The Board in its decision last year in the 2006 rate case of Enbridge Gas Distribution - that is, EB‑2006‑0001 - addressed the ‑‑ or set out the principles which it felt should govern the consideration for requests by a utility to recover from ratepayers the costs of an appeal from a Board decision in circumstance where the nature of the appeal ‑‑ sorry, where the outcome of the appeal would adversely affect the interest of ratepayers and benefit the utility's shareholders.


I apologize, I did not bring with me the text of it, but it appears in section 14.3.4 on page 111 of the decision of the Board in EB‑2006‑0001, and I'll undertake before this proceeding is done to get a copy of the text.


But the Board expressed this principle, and I quote:

"Where a utility acting in good faith regards a Board decision to be unsound, it should be open to it to bring a judicial review application and to have a prospect of the recovery of the associated costs."


In our respectful submission, the same principle should apply to ratepayers.


This application is brought by consumer interests in good faith, raising important questions about the soundness of a decision in a precedent‑setting decision in the case of section 29 of the Act.


The Board ‑ and this is no secret; this is, if you wish, the elephant in the room ‑ do not have the same resources available to them as the utilities and some of the other interests.  It's apparent that the Board's ratepayers or consumers can't look to Board Staff to protect the public interest in this case.  


In those circumstances, acting in good faith, the ratepayers should be entitled to their costs of this proceeding to date regardless of the outcome, which is another principle expressed by the Board in that case.  So we would ask that we be awarded 100 percent of reasonably incurred costs of the proceeding to date.  


Thank you for our submissions.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren and Mr. Janigan.  We will take those comments into consideration.  We don't have any questions from the Panel at this point.  We will take a 20-minute break now, and when we resume, you'll be hearing from Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you. 


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 10:34 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:00 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


Before we begin again, I have been looking at this schedule.  


Mr. DeVellis, do you think how long you think you will take for your submissions?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Approximately ten minutes.


MS. NOWINA:  Approximately ten minutes.  Well, with that in mind, Mr. DeVellis, I think we'll have you go before Board Staff at the end of today.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  We'll hear from Mr. Thompson now, then we'll have a lunch break, then we'll hear from Mr. Moran and Mr. Ryder, take a break in mid-afternoon, and hear from Mr. DeVellis and Board Staff after the afternoon break.


Mr. Thompson.


SUBMISSIONS BY Mr. Thompson:

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I circulated last week a brief of authorities on behalf of IGUA.  I hope the Board Panel has it.


MS. NOWINA:  I believe we do.


MR. THOMPSON:  And I sent ten copies to Board Staff.  I don't have any additional copies, unfortunately, with me today.  It was also sent out by electronic communication.


And I did place on the dais during the break another package of material.  It's entitled "Motion materials of IGUA."  It's fairly imposing and I assure you I'm not going to refer to that in any great detail, but it does contain a number of the significant documents that were footnoted in our factum.  I don't know if we should be marking these now, should we, Mr. Schuch?


MR. SCHUCH:  Madam Chair, why don't we assign exhibit numbers to these documents?  The first document will be Exhibit J1.3, and that will be the authorities brief.


EXHIBIT NO. J1.3:  IGUA BRIEF OF AUTHORITIES


MR. SCHUCH:  And the second document, the motion materials of IGUA, will be J1.4.


EXHIBIT NO. J1.4:  IGUA MOTION MATERIALS 


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Schuch.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.


I do have additional copies of the motion materials here, if anybody is so inclined.


MS. NOWINA:  If anyone needs to do any weight-lifting, Mr. Thompson has this document book for you.  


So, Mr. Thompson, you have until at the latest 12:30.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Well, Mr. Moran just took two of my minutes there.


Thank you very much for that warning.  I'll do my best to avoid overlap with the submissions that have already been made by Mr. Warren and Mr. Janigan.  However, some overlap may be unavoidable.


In the Procedural Order leading to this particular proceeding today, we were asked to confine our submissions to our factums and to address the two questions which you mentioned this morning, Madam Chair.


In answer to the first question, my submission on behalf of IGUA is this, that to succeed on the threshold issue, the moving parties must identify arguable errors in the decision which, if ultimately found to be errors at the hearing on the merits, and corrected, will affect the result of the decision.


And when I use the phrase "arguable errors," in my submission, the onus is on the moving parties to demonstrate that there is some reasonable prospect of success on the errors that are alleged.


And so it's in that context that I start with the question:  Are there arguable errors in the decision which, if corrected, will change the result?


And my submissions to you on the arguable errors in the decision will be with respect to those errors identified in the IGUA factum.  And they're listed in paragraph 84 of the factum.


And I'd like to just underscore a point that Mr. Warren made in his submissions, and that is this.  When you're considering whether or not these alleged errors should be the subject matter of full argument, I submit that you should recognize that this NGEIR case is an important case of first instance.  And the Board, in my submission, should want to make sure that it has correctly decided matters pertaining to partial storage regulation forbearance and storage allocation.  Decisions on these matters are going to have an enduring effect on ratepayers, and we submit it is an adverse effect; and they are going to have an enduring offsetting benefit, which we characterize as a windfall benefit, for Union and EGD and other storage asset owners.


My plan, in these submissions, is to identify what my client submits are the serious errors in the decision.  And to do that, in my submission, involves something more than just running down the list and saying:  That's an error, that's an error, that's an error.


Some further explanation is required to demonstrate that an alleged error qualifies as an arguable error, and one which will ultimately affect the result of the decision if it's corrected.


And let me start, then, with the errors that my client submits bring into question the correctness of the decision.  And they fall into three categories.  


The first category of subject matter pertaining to errors are those that pertain to the topic of storage forbearance.


The second category of errors pertain to the topic of storage allocation, to large-volume contract customers.


And the third topic of error pertains to the validity of the decision and the disqualification of the decision panel as an adjudicator.


Let me start, then, with the first category of errors, those pertaining to storage regulation forbearance.


In my submission, step 1, when considering this issue of storage forbearance, is a proper interpretation of the Board's forbearance power.  And Mr. Warren has made submissions to you on that point to the effect that the Board misinterpreted and misapplied section 29 of its Act when it concluded that the wholesale storage services market transacting at Dawn was subject to sufficient competition to protect the public interest.  That market, as he's already noted, is about 20 to 25 percent of this total storage services market served by Enbridge and Union Gas.  It's but a small segment of it.  There's a point made by Mr. Warren in his factum and it's made by my client in its factum, with respect to onus.  The Board in its decision didn't ascribe the onus to anyone.  We submit that's an error, that the NGEIR case can only be reasonably characterized as a rates proceeding; and if it is characterized in that manner, then, under the legislation, the onus rests with the utilities.


Mr. Warren has made the point that competition by itself was not sufficient to protect the public interest and, as a result, the Board in its decision introduced a number of transition measures to protect the public interest.


We endorse his point that the Board has no power under  section 29 to restructure the storage business of Union and Enbridge Gas Distribution.  The restructuring power of the storage business, in my respectful submission, comes under section 36 of the legislation.  


And before you can head down the restructuring road, there must be a consideration and a finding that the status quo under an exercise of 36 jurisdiction is deficient and needs to be replaced with something else that's better.  


There was not that in this decision, and that, in my respectful submission, is an error and a serious error, particularly when it was recognized in the NGF report, which was issued before this process began, that the status quo was working well, and the question was whether any change was required.  And you'll find the quote from the NGF report in paragraph 41 of my factum.  


It's my client's submission that had the Board hearing panel considered the ability of the status quo fairly, or at all, to address its concerns about efficiency and stimulation of development in the storage market, it would have recognized that the status quo was fully equipped to respond to those concerns.  


But there's not one word in the decision about the status quo and a comparative analysis of the status quo to respond to the concerns the Board had compared to the regime that it developed in the decision.  


And I'll address this further when we get to the merits of this, but the deficiencies of the restructuring solution that the Board has come up with compared to the status quo I've summarized in paragraph 82 of my factum.  


Another section 29 misinterpretation and misapplication, in my respectful submission, another error of substance, was the Board's failure to address in its NGEIR decision the impacts of all of this on the shareholder.  There's a lot of discussion about impacts on consumers and mitigation of those impacts, but not one word about the impact on the shareholder.  


And the utility -- the obligation of the Board, in my respectful submission, is to balance the interests of ratepayers and shareholders.  


And where you were moving from one regime, section 36 regime, that has a certain balance in its shareholder versus ratepayer interests, reflected by the sharing of premium to another, then you can only, in my submission, do that rejiggering under the auspices of the section 36 power.  You can only enhance returns of shareholders through the imposition of higher rates on utility customers under section 36, not under section 29.  And that's a point we make in paragraph 84(f) of our factum.  


The other aspect of this restructuring that I submit is arguably an error ‑ this is the restructuring that the Board developed in its NGEIR decision ‑ is that it's a contravention of the pure utility policy that has guided this Board for many, many years, and I address the pure utility policy and its evolution back with the passage of the Electricity Act and that series of bills that were passed back in the late '90s.  And insofar as the gas utility is concerned, that pure utility policy is reflected in the undertakings.  


But the concept underpinning it is that there shouldn't be in the utility what could be characterized as non‑utility activity.  So you get involved in allocating revenues and assets as between jurisdictional and non‑jurisdictional business entities.  


The whole idea was that the utility business should be a standalone business, and up until NGEIR, storage was always regarded as a utility business.  


I don't know what suddenly happened between the date before the NGEIR decision and the date after it was rendered to change the nature of storage.  I submit it still is a utility business.  


But the point, in my submission, is that it is arguably an error that the decision contravening this pure utility policy is erroneous, and, if corrected, would lead to a different result.  


So, in short, my factum supports and I support the points that Mr. Warren has already made about the misinterpretation and misapplication of section 29.  


Turning to a major point in my factum - and it has not been addressed by Mr. Warren - and this relates to the finding by the Board, its finding of fact, that for in-franchise customers ‑‑ except for in-franchise customers, i.e., except for about 80 percent of the market for storage services, storage market transacting at Dawn is workably competitive.  


And it is on that finding, it's on the basis of that finding, that the whole NGEIR decision about forbearance stands.  My respectful submission is that finding is in error, and it's a manifest error for the reasons that I have tried to summarize in paragraph 84(e) of my factum.  And I want to take what time I have to make sure that this Panel understands why we say that finding is erroneous.  


In paragraph 84(e) of my factum, there are three points that we raise with respect to our assertion that this finding of workably competitive storage services market at Dawn is erroneous.  


The first is:  We submit the Board erred in law in misapprehending and misapplying the analytical tests used for determining market power.  And I'll come back to that in a little more detail in a moment.  


The second error, we submit, is that the evidence pertaining to the operation of the secondary market on which the Board relied did not quantitatively establish the extent to which storage services, excluding commodity, were available at Dawn, nor the prices at which such services were available at Dawn, nor that the services were regarded by consumers as substitutes for the delivery services offered by Union.  


And the third point we make is with respect to the evidence of BP and GMI on which the Board relied in its decision.  We submit that that evidence does not support in any way the findings that are necessary to support a conclusion that a market is workably competitive.


And so I want to make sure that I've provided you with enough information on that point so that you appreciate our position on it.  And this really, in terms of my factum, is what starts at page 8 and goes over to page 12.  To understand that, we have to really start with:  What did the Board do in connection with this assessment of storage assessment of storage competition?


Well, to find that out, you really have to look at chapter 3 of the decision.  And that starts at page 24.  I assume the Board has a copy of the decision?  


MS. NOWINA:  We do.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  And just quickly giving an overview.  The Board starts with referring to the legal test.  Then it talks about onus, and I've already mentioned that.  Then it gets to the analytical framework and the assessment of market power.  It talks about the FERC test, talks about the CRTC test, talks about the Merger Enforcement Guidelines test.  That takes us over to page 29.  


The Board finds that it can use and should use these tests to determine whether there is market power, and this related question of whether the market's workably competitive.  The Board then goes on applying the tests.  And it starts with identification of the product market.  And that's at 31 over to 33, where it makes its findings.  And the finding in essence is, for the purposes of analysis, the finding you'll find at 33 was, bottom:

"For these reasons, while the product market is broader than just physical storage, for the purpose of the quantitative analysis, we include physical storage only."


And so in its decision the Board is saying what we are analyzing for market power is physical storage.  And what does that mean?  That's storage without the commodity.  That's space, that's injection, that's withdrawal, and it's transportation to the related transaction point.  And that was the position of most of the ratepayer groups.  That was the product that should be analyzed.  The Board says there's a lot of stuff out there that might substitute, but we're going to confine our quantitative analysis to that product.  


And then it jumps from that to identification of the geographic market.  And I say that's an error.  You don't get to an identification of the geographic market until you have identified the substitutes that are available at the transaction point, the price at which those substitutes are available, and that there's sufficient quantity of the substitutes available at that transaction point, at an appropriate price level, that will constrain the pricing behaviour of Union Gas or any other storage operator at that transaction point.  And so that's what I'm trying to focus on in my factum.  


So if I could just take you back there, to the factum at page 8.  In paragraph 60, I went through the facts, some of the facts established at the hearing relevant to this issue.  I don't think any of these are in dispute, and I didn't see anybody in any of my friends opposite questioning these facts, but 60(a) is the point that we're dealing with, services, with this storage product.  It does not include the commodity.  I made that point already.  That's (a) and (b).  


 (c) deals with the volume.  And these numbers move around a little bit.  I think in the reasons, maybe, there's about 198 Bcf that was dedicated -- sorry, 192 Bcf that was earmarked for EGD distribution customers and Union customers.  The number that I recall from the hearing was 250 Bcf in total; the decision talks about 240.  


But the point is the bulk of this is for distribution customers of Enbridge Gas and Union.  It is not part of the Dawn hub as a commodity trading hub.  What is there to support the activities of the Dawn hub as a commodity trading hub is about the 60 Bcf.  The rest of it is an adjunct to the distribution systems of Union Gas Limited and Enbridge Gas.


In paragraphs (e) and (f), I talk about the prevailing price (e) and (f) because, in our submission, you have to do your market power tests against a price.  What you find, and there has to be a finding, what is the prevailing price of the service that you're evaluating?  And for the service transacting at Dawn, the prevailing price was about a dollar per gJ.  We had also addressed it in our evidence as to the prevailing price at the burner tip, but that was done on the anticipation that the utilities were taking the position -- would take the same position that they took in the NGF process, i.e., that storages, there was sufficient competition in storage to protect the public interest at the burner tip.  That all changed when they filed their evidence.  We were down to looking at the storage services transacting at Dawn.  But the prevailing price, on the evidence, was a dollar.  And this price, the evidence indicates, from a marketer's perspective, fluctuates.  It reflects the difference between the winter and summer differential of the gas commodity.


But that's not what distribution customers focus on.  They are looking at a service excluding the commodity, and the prevailing price for that service was a dollar at the time of the hearing.  And so you then move from that factual fabric to the tests.


Just in terms of the tests, and this is one reason why I wanted to bring my materials here, which would be more for the merits of this than they will be today, but if you go to the FERC guidelines.  This is just to show that I'm not making this up, and the 1996 FERC guidelines are at tab 12 of my motion materials.  And then there's the later version of them at tab 14.  And if you would just go quickly to page 10 of the FERC guideline, the FERC test.  And at the top there you'll see the phrase "good alternatives."  And so this was the focus of this market power analysis.


The term "good alternatives" has been defined as an alternative that is available soon enough, has a price that is low enough, and a quality high enough, to permit customers to substitute the alternative for the applicant's service. 


MS. NOWINA:  Sorry, Mr. Thompson, I can't find this.  Is it page 10, Mr. Thompson?


MS. SPOEL:  Page 10, at tab 12 or tab 13?


MR. THOMPSON:  Tab 12.  There should be an excerpt from the FERC statement of policy and it goes page 1 -- I'm sorry, page 10.  Did I say 12?  


MS. SPOEL:  No, you said page 10.


MS. NOWINA:  You said page 10.


MR. THOMPSON:  Page 10.  Hopefully that would be the third page in, and there should be at the top there a heading "Market Definition".


MS. SPOEL:  Yes.  Oh I see it now, yes.  Thank you.  I was looking for a heading.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  And that requirement has not changed.  And just quickly, if you would go to tab 14, this is the most recent FERC policy which is mentioned in the decision at -- it's page 17, paragraph 27.  


And just pausing for a moment, in this particular decision the FERC has sort of broadened storage alternatives to include some other items, but the definition of a good alternative remains:

"For a non‑storage product to be a good alternative, it must be available soon enough, have a price low enough and have a quality high enough to permit customers to substitute the alternative for the applicant's services." 


And it goes on and describes how it will evaluate that particular situation in the application of its test.


In terms of the price constraint, the discussion of the FERC pricing threshold you'll find at page 11 under tab 12, where the FERC adopts a pricing threshold of ‑‑ this is in the first full paragraph at the top of the page ‑‑ of 10 percent:

"The Commission believes that if a company can sustain an increase in its rates in the order of 10 percent or more without losing significant market share, the company is in a position to exercise market power to the detriment of the public interest."


In terms of the MEG guidelines, if you would just flip back to tab 11, and if you go in to page 9, you'll see there in paragraphs 3.6 and 3.7 that the MEG pricing threshold is 5 percent of the prevailing price.


And so, in my submission -- and, again, I didn't think there was any dispute about it.  In my submission, in order to apply these analytical tests to determine market power, I need to follow the steps that I've listed there in paragraph 63 of my factum.


First of all, what's the transaction point?  And here we're talking about Dawn.


What's the relevant product or service?  It was storage, underground storage, i.e., storage space, injection and withdrawal, and transportation to get it to Dawn.


What is the prevailing price for the relevant product or service at the transaction point?  That, on the evidence, was about a dollar per gJ.


What are each of the alternatives to the relevant product or service?  What's the price for each of the alternatives?  If the price at the transaction point exceeds the prevailing price by more than 10 percent, then we submit, under the FERC test, that alternative is not a good substitute.  And if it exceeds the prevailing price by 5 percent under MEG, it's not a good substitute.


And this to me is common sense.  If you're trying to test for competition of a product, you would say, What's the prevailing price of that product?  And then you would want to see a disbursement of other suppliers in a band around that particular prevailing price.


Assuming you've got a mix, if you will, of good substitutes, then really you have to go beyond that and look at the quantities.  One particular substitute in a very limited quantity wouldn't be enough, but a determination has to be made of, What are the quantities that are needed to constrain pricing power at that transaction point, and then are those quantities available?


And once you get to that step, then you can say, What is the geographical market from which those substitutes are available?  So the geographic market determination depends on an application of this principle:  What are the good substitutes?  And to do that, you have to apply the price threshold test, you have to look at quantities, and you have to determine, Are those quantities available?


And so the price threshold test, as I say in paragraph 64 of my factum, is not a standalone, out-there-in-never-never-land consideration.  It's an integral and critical component of the analytical framework, and it must be applied by the analysts before it can be determined that good substitutes are available at the transaction point.


And so what did the Board do in this case?  It goes from the analytical framework to the product, to identification of the geographic market.  There is no intervening analysis of:  What are the substitutes?  What's the price of them?  How much are they available?  Is what available sufficient to constrain Union's pricing?


And the whole topic about pricing is a separate, standalone topic which is addressed at page 39 of the reasons.


And, basically, what the Board said here was, Well, the cost‑based price isn't the price that we're to ‑‑ and there was this -- as I say, this tension between the 30 cents and the 40 cents and the dollar which emerged because of the way this case unfolded initially.


The focus, in dealing with Dawn, is the dollar.  But what the Board says here is essentially this.  There's a differential.  If you look at page 40, the Board says:

"The Board finds the current cost‑based regulated price..."


Now they're talking about the 30 and the 40 cents.

"...is not a reasonable proxy for the competitive price."


And then it goes on:

"Given the high cost of new storage and the high value of new storage, the Board does not agree that the market price being above historical cost‑based rates is evidence of market power."


And then it notes at the next paragraph the differential between current cost‑based rates and the market value of storage.


But there's no finding as to what the prevailing price is, and so without that, you cannot possibly apply these analytical tests and there is no finding in the decision as to what quantities of substitutes are available.  


So we don't have the price.  We don't have the quantities.  And those two elements are, in my submission, absolutely essential to a correct application of the test.


So as I say at page 70 ‑‑ at paragraph 71 of my factum, market power tests are not applied to hypothetical prices, as the Board appears to conclude.  And even if market power tests are to be applied to a hypothetical price based on the costs of new storage and their impact, if any, on prevailing prices, there's no evidence led as to what the costs of new storage were and what its impact would be on the dollar. When we asked Market Hub or anybody else:  What are your incremental costs for storage?  That's a big secret.  They wouldn't tell us.


And so there was no evidence of this essential ingredient of the test.


And so then we come to this evidence of BP.  If you read the decision, if you just take that decision and read it, you would say to yourself, I'm sure, Boy, this evidence from BP must have really tilted the scales on this issue of what's going on at Dawn.  And GMI must really have tilted the scales in favour of this finding of a workably competitive market.


Well, the first concern about BP is that they didn't lead any evidence in the case.  They had to be cajoled to show up, and I'll come to that in a moment when I get to my third topic.


But I think it's informative to look at what they actually said when they got there, because, just to put it in context, if you take a look at Mr. Brett's factum -- this is the factum on behalf of BP, where he quotes in paragraph 5, part of his cross-examination of Ms. McConihe who was the expert for the Staff hearing team, I think it is.  


Does the Panel have that?


MS. NOWINA:  What page was it?


MR. THOMPSON:  At page 2, at paragraph 5.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so this is Mr. Brett, counsel for BP, cross-examining the witness for Board hearing staff.  And so he said:

"Do I conclude correctly that if sufficient data about the secondary market would be obtainable without defining precisely what that is, but if sufficient data were obtainable, it could substantially alter your opinion?"


And she said:  "Yes."


And then he goes on and asks another question about this.


But if you look at that question and answer, you in effect, can anticipate, Well, there's going to be something coming from BP that will help us answer these questions.


Mr. Kaiser invited BP to show up, as I indicate in my factum.  And then they came.  And so I have in my materials brief some excerpts from their testimony.  And you'll find that at tab 13.  And this is just part of it but it illustrates, I think, my point that they didn't have much to add.


At the outset of the cross-examination, if you go into the second page, I think it's 55 --


MS. NOWINA:  Where is it, Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  Tab 18 of the materials brief.


MS. NOWINA:  Tab 18?


MR. THOMPSON:  I'm sorry.


MS. NOWINA:  What page?


MR. THOMPSON:  It's the page 50 -- well, it starts at page 54, which is my cross-examination of the BP witness panel, who were Cheryl Worthy and Mr. Acker.  And there was a sort of preliminary:  What do you know about market power?   And then you get an informative statement on page 55: 

"Mr. Thompson, we aren't experts in this area, and I think to make it very clear on the record, we actually are not going to be taking any position on whether or not the OEB should or should not forbear from regulating services and whether there is or is not market power.  That is not going to be part of our testimony in this proceeding."


And then a little further on I was asking Mr. Acker about my clients viewing the Dawn hub as a delivered gas commodity trading hub.  You'll find that at page 57.  And he confirmed he didn't sell any storage excluding commodity to my clients at Dawn.


But then, over at pages 58, 59 and 60, there was some questions here dealing with -- that tied back to this cross-examination that Mr. Brett had made of Ms. McConihe.  And that had been prefaced by Ms. McConihe contacting marketers and trying to get a handle on what was going on at Dawn.


And just so you'll be aware of that, if you go to the -- well, I thought it was in here but -- I apologize here.  Yes.  If you go to, I think it's the last tab of the book.  32.  And the last two pages.  You'll see there that this was the letter that Ms. McConihe sent out to marketers, and then what you have at the last page, J.8.3, was a redacted version of BP's response.


And so that then prompted some questions from me back at tab 18, page 58.  And you'll see that starting down towards the bottom of the page where I referenced J8.3.  And then I said:

"Okay, thanks.  Now, I don't know if the J has attached to it the email that Ms. McConihe circulated to, I think she said, six marketers, of which you were one.  Does it?  Do you have that in front of you as well?"

"Yes, we have it."

"Okay.  She was trying to get a handle on quantities, and this kind of thing, and asked you folks for assistance."  

And then there was this discussion, as I understand it, and I'm interested in her record and I go on and read it. And then that discussion carried on, but the point I wanted to emphasize is, you get over to 63, there's sort of a summary of this where I say:

"Now, thank you very much.  Now, in terms of the activity at Dawn, which you were describing to Mr. Warren and others, whether it's services bundled with commodity, service not involving commodity, am I right you're not in a position to help us with the percentages?"


We're trying to get, there, how much is actually being  transacted of storage service excluding the commodity.

"Sorry.  Can't help you."

"And you're not in a position to help us with the quantities of transactions that are taking place there?"

"It's not that I'm not prepared, I'm just not knowledgeable in that area."


I say:

"All right, we don't have any good evidence of the price at which these transactions are taking place, the various types of transactions described.  We don't have anything."


And Ms. Worthy jumped in:

"No, Mr. Thompson.  We haven't proffered that kind of evidence.  It's not our intention to do so.  What we are here to do is really put on the record, at the request of the Panel, some of the clarity with respect to what it is marketers do 

in respect of alternatives for storage.  And it isn't our intention to address the issue of whether or not they are true and good alternatives for the purposes of a market-based or a market power test with respect to forbearance."


The evidence was of no value whatsoever to support that conclusion, yet, the Board relies rather heavily on the evidence of BP to support its finding that there is a competitive market in storage at Dawn and that is because of “the secondary market.”


It was all nothing.  GMI's evidence, and I won't take you through that, went on at some length about alternatives.  Sure, you can get an alternative at Dawn.  You can buy TransCanada Pipeline all the way from the western basin to Dawn.  That's an alternative to storage.  And when push came to shove, that's what GMI said was what they regarded as their alternative, their preferred alternative.


And they were very fussed about the claw‑back proposition that Union had ‑‑ sorry, that was being argued in the case, because, in their words, they were dependent on Union.


Now, if there is a thriving competitive market at Dawn, can anybody say, Well, I need to have my rights to Union capacity reserved for me?  I mean, it's incompatible with the existence of a competitive market.  If it's there, they shouldn't care whether Union wants to sell it to somebody else or take it back for its franchise customers.  


On their theory, we've got substitutes, but they wouldn't back off of that proposition.  "We were dependent."


And so I say it's very arguable that there was no evidence.  The Board misapplied the test, the analytical test, and there was no evidence to support the findings on which they based the conclusion that the market was competitive, being activity in the secondary market.


So that's an error in fact and I submit it is deserving of review.


So when you add that error, which is fundamental to the finding of a workably competitive market at Dawn, to the other errors that Mr. Warren has already alluded to, in my submission, there are a number of serious errors with respect to the Board's conclusion to partially forbear in the storage services market being transacted at Dawn, and particularly because this is a case of first instance, these errors should be reviewed.


I agree with Mr. Warren that it doesn't make a whole lot of sense to dichotomize these between errors of fact, mixed errors of fact and law, errors of law.  The Board has in the prior decision, as he pointed out, focussed on errors.  And, in my submission, given the nature of this tribunal, we shouldn't be pushed to court for some and have the errors of fact here.


If you're satisfied there are arguable errors, whatever their character, I submit you should hear the review and decide whether the errors are ones that are truly errors and need correction, so that if the matter goes to court, the court would then have the benefit of the Board's views on issues of fact, mixed fact and law, and law.


If, however, you subscribe to counsel for Board Staff's view that you're now somehow constrained in just considering errors of fact and that errors of law have to go somewhere else, I suggest that you consider - and I make this point in my factum - stating a case to the court on those errors of law, because they are particularly important, and I submit the Board would be assisted by having some guidance on them.


My own view is that I believe they are primarily errors of fact and mixed errors of fact and law, and that on that basis you should review them.


Just before I leave the forbearance, partial forbearance topic, there's a point I want to emphasize.  I think it's in my factum in paragraph 84(i), and it's also a point that Mr. Warren raised in his factum.  And this is what appears to be an inconsistency in the decision.


The Board in its decision found that distribution customers of Union and EGD need protection.  There's insufficient competition to protect them.  And so the customers for this high deliverability service, which the Board found should be sold under the auspices of section 29, the customers for that service are distribution customers.


And so, under its reasoning, forbearance is not available for the pricing of those services.  Distribution customers, the generators, need high deliverability service and so ‑‑ and the generators were saying, Well, we want a cost base -- incremental cost‑based service.  Whatever -- what it means is however that service is priced, it has to be priced under a section 36 power.  And so available to the Board is the range rate power to price that new service, but not available to the Board is the section 29 power.


And so that's why we say in (i), on page 15 of my factum:  

"The Board found that there was insufficient competition to protect the distribution customers of Union and EGD served downstream from Dawn.  Accordingly, all existing and new storage services provided to such customers must be provided under the auspices of regulated rates."


When they go and say, We're not going regulate those rates, that, in my submission, is an error.


Let me turn to a second category of errors that I described at the outset, and this is errors with respect to the storage allocation issue.


And from my client's perspective, the Board erred here when it effectively decided to override the provisions of renewable contracts, renewable T1 contracts, that had a storage allocation on a customer‑specific basis built into them.


And why do I say that was an error?  The starting point here is:  What is the root of Union's obligation to provide storage services to what the Board defined as distribution customers?  My submission is that that obligation stems from the statutory provisions dealing with the obligation to serve, and I've recited those at page 5 of my factum in paragraphs 36 through to 39.


And so, if you begin from that starting point, that the customers have an obligation ‑‑ sorry, that Union has an obligation to meet the reasonable needs of their distribution customers - that's not just distribution pipe, it's all the adjunct of the storage pipe ‑ then the test of what's reasonable has to, in my respectful submission, take into account the provisions of contracts, particularly where the provisions of the ‑‑ the storage provisions of these T1 contracts are authorized by the rate structure the Board has approved.


The T1 rates are contract rates, and so the parties are encouraged to resolve their differences by contracts.  And these contract rates have been approved by the Board for years.  And as the Board noted back in Union's 0017 case, the actual provisions of the contracts dealing with storage  had been grandfathered.


But, the point is, there were valid, binding, renewable contracts between Union and its T1 customers, and neither Union nor the customers were asking that those contracts be overridden.  And so I submit -- and just the final point on this is that the Board, in its decision, in talking about market mechanisms at page 50, contracts are market mechanisms, at page 50 of the decision -- this was in the context of forbearance but it's informative -- in the last full paragraph, the Board says:

"The Board's preferred approach is to use market mechanisms where possible."


And so what you had in this case, in terms of the T1 customers, was the contracts, prior approval, contract rates approved, renewable contracts, neither Union nor the T1 customers saying change, and the Board says:  We're going phase those out.


I submit that is an arguable error and should be reviewed on its merits.  The Board should not, of its own motion, in effect, be tampering with the sanctity of a contract.


And if you come back to what's the root of the storage entitlement, being the obligation to serve, you can look at those contracts as being the best evidence of what Union and the contract -- what Union and the contracting party thought was appropriate to discharge that obligation.


But what's happened is, we're now involved in -- when I say "we" that's the T1 customers.  We're now involved in this process of trying to find a new basis for allocating storage that's not generic but it responds to need in a reasonable way.  And the upshot of it all is going to be, there will be less storage.  I can guarantee it.  Less storage allocated to those customers than there was before.  


And what does that do?  Windfall benefit for Union's shareholder.  That was an error for the Board to intervene in those contracts.  The issue was really between Kitchener and Union.  This was one contracting party bringing before the Board an issue for resolution by the Board.  It was inappropriate to go further.


Let me deal with my last topic and I think I'm going to meet my deadline.  It will be the first time ever.


MS. NOWINA:  I'm going to hold you to it, Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, well, I understand that, Madam Chair.


And this is dealing with the errors pertaining to the disqualification of the Board as adjudicators.  This is always a sensitive subject, but it's one that has to be, in my submission, raised when the facts in the case are sufficient to support the argument.


Now, the starting point of this discussion is the Board's adjudicative mandate.  And I've described that starting at page 3 of my factum.  And I know you're familiar with all of these sections, so I'm just going mention them quickly.


You have your rate-making power under section 36.  You are you have the jurisdiction under section 19 to hear and determine.  I emphasize those words, to "hear and determine" all questions of law and fact.


Those words are used to confer an adjudicative power, not a public inquiry power.  So this is a section conferring adjudicative power.


Sixteen gives the Board the right of its own motion to determine any matter that may come before it on an application.  So the Board does have this right to initiate a proceeding, but it's a proceeding to deal with any matters that comes before it on an application.  And when matters come before it on an application, the Board's jurisdiction is to "hear and determine all questions of law and fact."


Dropping down to paragraph 20:

"Proceedings before the Board concerning rates and pricing are high-stakes contests between utilities and their ratepayers."

And that note needs no embellishment.


And then I submit, in paragraph 22:

"Neither sections 19, 29, or 36 of the Act upon which the Board rely upon to initiate the NGEIR proceedings of its own motion confer any public inquiry jurisdiction on the Board."


And so how does that play out in the real world, where the Board initiates something of its own motion?  I submit that it should play out in this fashion.  In this case, where the Board wanted to get these topics on the agenda and specified the filing of evidence on certain dates and so on, I say once a dispute became clear as between the utilities and the ratepayers on this issue of forbearance, as well as on the other issues that the Board had listed for consideration, once the dispute pump was primed, then, in my submission, the Board has to confine itself to the exercise of adjudicative functions.  It's got to stay out of the arena.


And in order to put this difficult area of submission into context, I think it might be helpful to quickly take you to a few of the authorities on which I've relied.  And so at tab 6(d), the point I'm going to make is this:  This business of adjudicative functions for a court is one thing, for an administrative tribunal it's less stringent, but there are constraints.  And I'm going to suggest that the Board Panel, in this case, crossed the line, whatever the test.  


The first case I wanted to draw your attention to is the Baker and Hutchinson case.  And this involves a judge stepping out of line.  The passages that I want draw to your attention are those at pages 7 and 8 of the report. This is a decision of the Ontario Court of Appeal, 1976, and it starts towards the bottom of the page:

“The proper limits of judicial intervention during a trial have been frequently expressed."

Then there's a quote from a case, Boran and Wegner.  And then there's another one from another case, where the Court said as follows:

"When a judge intervenes in the examination or cross‑examination of witnesses to such an extent that he projects himself into the arena, he of necessity adopts a position which is inimitable to the interests of one or other of the litigants.  His action, whether conscious or unconscious, no matter how well-intentioned or motivated, creates an atmosphere which violates the principle that justice not only be done but appear to be done.  Intervention amounting to interference in the conduct of trial destroys the image of judicial impartiality and deprives the court of jurisdiction.  It invalidates the decision.  The right to intervene is one of degree, and there cannot be a precise line of demarcation, but if it can be fairly said that it amounted to usurpation of the function of counsel, it is not permissible."


And then there follows the quote of Lord Denning in the Jones and National Coal Board, and this is a case that every law student has read and I don't intend to read it all, but a couple of aspects of it, I think, are important.  And one of them is the second sentence in the quote:

"In the system of trial which we have evolved in this country, the judge sits to hear and determine the issues raised by the parties..."


That's the language in section 19 of your Act, "to hear and determine".

"...not to conduct an investigation or examination on behalf of society at large."


And then a little further on, there's a quote from a decision of Lord Green, where he talks about:

"If a judge goes too far he so to speak descends into the arena and is liable to have his vision clouded by the dust of conflict."


And then a little further down, in discussing the principles - and this is from a case of Yuill and Yuill - there's a sentence that reads as follows:

"So firmly is all this established in our law that a judge is not allowed in a civil dispute to call a witness whom he thinks might throw some light on the facts.  He must rest content with the witnesses called by the parties."


And so that's illustrative of the judge situation, but, as I mentioned, for administrative tribunals this has to be a flexible -- a flexible standard, and we can see that in the Newfoundland Telephone case, which is at tab G, 6G.


This is a utility case where Clyde Wells kind of lost his head during the process and that it worked its way up to the Supreme Court of Canada as to whether he'd crossed the line.


And the judgment of the court, the passage of it that I wanted to draw to your attention, it's in the head note, but I'll take it from the decision.  It's at page 9 of 14, and it's paragraph 27.  And the Court had this to say:

"It can be seen that there is a great diversity of administrative boards.  Those that are primarily adjudicative in their functions will be expected to comply with the standard applicable to courts." 


And so I submit in this kind of a case your functions are primarily adjudicative.

"That is to say, the conduct of the members of the Board should be such that there can be no reasonable apprehension of bias with regard to their decision.  At the other end of the scale are boards with popularly elected members, such as those dealing with planning and development whose members are municipal councillors.  With those boards the standard will be much more lenient.  In order to disqualify the members, a challenging party must establish that there has been a prejudgment of the matter to such an extent that any representations to the contrary would be futile."


And so you have this sort of judicial standard as one thing, and then even with the planning committee, if you can demonstrate that your representations on the point where it would have been futile, then even they are disqualified as acting as adjudicators.


And so what happened in this case?  Just before I leave it, there's one other point I wanted to make in terms of the principles, and that is illustrated by the case of, if I can find it here, Gardner, which is the tab I.  And this involved the Toronto Police Services Board.  


But the point that I wanted to make is expressed at page 6 of the decision, and again in paragraph 27.  He's talking about the merging of the various functions of investigation, decision to hold inquiry and adjudication by participation in all phases raises this disqualification exposure, if I can use that language.


And so where you do have that merging of these functions, you do have, in my respectful submission, the exposure to disqualification risk increasing significantly.


And there's a difference between an inquiry and an adjudication, and on that point there's a case that I'll just draw to your attention quickly.  That's the Beno case found at tab H, 6H, of my authorities brief, page 6 of 10.


This was a public inquiry with respect to -- I think it was Somalia, if I'm not mistaken.  The passage I wanted to draw your attention to is at paragraph 23, the second sentence: 

"A public inquiry is not equivalent to a civil or criminal trial."


And then, dropping down:

"In a trial, the judge sits as an adjudicator and it is the responsibility of the parties alone to present the evidence.  In an inquiry, the commissioners are endowed with wide‑ranging investigative powers to fulfill their investigative mandate."


And you'll note that the rules of evidence and procedure are considerably less strict for an inquiry than for a court.  Judges determine rights as between parties.  The Commission can only inquire and report.


So that public inquiry jurisdiction is normally created by the use of words "inquire" and "report."  And there is a section in the NEB Act that does use those words, and I think it's in my authorities brief, if I'm not mistaken.  And it's the power -- yeah.  It's section 35 of your Act.  I've got the legislation at tab 1 of my brief:

"The Minister may require the Board to examine, report and advise..."


And so I submit that the inquiry jurisdiction you have under your legislation can be triggered by the minister, but when you're under section 19 of your Act, the hearing  and determination jurisdiction, that's adjudicative jurisdiction.


And so, in this case, where did the Board cross the line, in my respectful submission, so that disqualification of the Board Panel that heard the case becomes an arguable error?


I submit it became apparent that they crossed the line when the decision issues, which characterizes the exercise in which the Board was engaged as if it were a broad inquiry.  And that statement is in the Board's reasons.  It's cited in my factum but I just don't have the paragraph noted.  I can provide it to you after the luncheon break if that's permitted.


But there were signals of the Board crossing the line which I've addressed in my factum, before that happened.  And I've addressed them in the factual summary starting at pages 51 -- sorry, paragraph 51 and following.


I've referenced, in paragraph 51, a transcript excerpt which was is first witness panel that testified, where the Chair asked a series of questions which were suggesting that what we were involved in was merely a transition to forbearance of a competitive pricing regime.  And those excerpts are in the materials brief at tab 27.


And then, towards the end of the hearing, at paragraph 52, I address this, where the Chair of the Board advises counsel for BP that it wished to hear evidence from its client.  And allows BP's witness to testify in confidence if necessary.  And the quote is there as to how that surfaced.  And that is also in the materials that I've provided to you.


There was a discussion about the appropriateness of this action, and I've described that in paragraph 53.


Subsequently we have the Board support team -- this is the Board Panel's lawyer -- negotiating an agreement with counsel for BP, whereby BP's witnesses would attend and testify; and that BP was provided with a list of questions which the Board wished it to answer.  And you'll find those at the last page of the -- the last tab of the brief.


And if you read them, you'll see they are all directed to this secondary market notion.  Well, not all of them, but most of them are directed to this notion that the secondary market is going to be the evidentiary basis for a finding that there is sufficient competition at Dawn to protect the public interest.


We objected to these actions.  I’ve summarized the objections.  And then the Board noted the objection and carried on.  And so, in the context of all of that, and then a decision, which does not address in one word the issue which had been identified before the whole process began of whether the status quo needed to be changed.


All of that, in my respectful submission, indicates  strongly that the status quo never had a chance in this case; that arguing the status quo and retention of the status quo was, in the language of the decision, futile.


And so I submit that there is an issue here with respect to -- an arguable issue with respect to the invalidity of this decision, because the Board, in effect, the Board Panel that heard this case, in effect disqualified itself.


And subject to any questions, those are my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.


[Board Panel confers]


MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead.


MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Thompson, if I could go back to the decision Newfoundland Telephone Company.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.


MS. SPOEL:  You started at paragraph 27 and referred to a subject of the Board -- that's tab G, 6G, of your book of authorities.


And it seems to me that the Supreme Court of Canada in that decision is making a distinction between different types of boards as to whether or not they are exercising adjudicative functions only or whether they have a policy role.


I take it from your argument in this case that your view is, or your position is, or your client's position is that in this particular proceeding this Board's role was solely adjudicative?


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I don't know if I'd go quite that far, Ms. Spoel.  It was primarily adjudicative.  I recognize that these issues that this Board has to consider do have policy overtones, but they arise in the context of contests between ratepayers and the utility.


And so they have to be considered, in my submission, in that context.  And so the Board has to be very careful, has to be very careful, when you've got the contest, that it doesn't get itself into a situation where it appears to be in the driver's seat and conducting an inquiry-type of process as opposed to an adjudicative process; because -- and I know the Board perceives that it has this policy mandate, and a lot of things half happened in the last several years are in furtherance of that policy-driven mandate.  


But in my submission, you have to stand back and look at that carefully to see whether that's actually in the statute under which you operate; and, further, when you get into a contested case, you have to put to the brakes on. That's my submission.


And it's arguable that if you don't, you then get into  the -– into disqualification risk territory.


I hope that's helpful.


MS. SPOEL:  If there is an issue that's not -- I'm not thinking about this case in particular, but in general.  


If there is an issue that the Board considers has some public-interest overtone that has not been raised -- that none of the parties to the contest before the Board have actually chosen to call any evidence on, are you saying that the Board cannot inquire or cannot turn its mind, in effect, to an item that -- or an issue that it considers to be in the broader public interest, than the private interests of the various parties who are appearing at the hearing and calling witnesses and filing evidence?


MR. THOMPSON:  It's a matter of degree.  And you can envisage a case where the Board, of its own motion, initiates a process for the reasons that you've described, and maybe it only gets one side of an issue -- of that issue being presented to it.  So if there is another side to it, the Board has to, in effect, with its own resources, consider that.


But where you've got, as you had in this case, all sides from Sunday being presented, and some choosing not to present a side and being dragged in to present something that turned out to be of no probative value, where the Board exercises its jurisdiction in a way that reveals it was more concerned about a policy solution than resolving the dispute, then I say it's crossed the line.


But it's not black and white; I take your point.


MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Vlahos?


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.  Mr. Thompson, that was going to be my question, as well.


Just to follow up on this.  Is it also your position, because it is also under section 36, this proceeding, that it gives more weight to your argument, or it didn't matter?  It could have been just a section 19 and 29 and you would still argue the same?


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I think the answer to that is yes, because 36 jurisdiction does involve contests, as does section 29 jurisdiction.  But certainly the fact that this proceeding precipitated a dispute between ratepayers, utilities and their shareholders is a reason why I submit the Board should have primarily confined itself to its adjudicative mandate.


I hope that's responsive.


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes, it is, sir.  Thank you.


Just a couple of other areas, specifically the relief that you are seeking from this Panel, if I can take you to your factum, at paragraph 6.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Well, from this Panel, Mr. Vlahos, the relief that I'm seeking is really in paragraph 85.  What I was trying to signal there in paragraph 6 was the position that my client will be taking when we get to the merits.


But what I'm saying in 85 is that we submit the Board should find that there are legitimate grounds for questioning the correctness of the decision and schedule a hearing for the motion a review on its merits, with the review to be heard by a panel which does not consist of any members of the Panel that heard and decided the initial application.  


I've suggested that it either be a review at large or a review on specific questions, and then I've suggested in the alternative on this point of questions of law/questions of fact, I invite you to consider questions of law where you think you might be helped by the court to state a case for it.


But that's the submission on what you should do today.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  And in terms of staying the decision, which I believe you mention in paragraph 6, "set the decision aside", is it your expectation that it would be as a result of today's proceeding?


MR. THOMPSON:  No, no, not at all.


MR. VLAHOS:  It is once we go to the merits of it; right?  Okay.


MR. THOMPSON:  I'm saying if I get what I'm asking for -- it would be helpful to know what I'm asking for, and so this is sort of the order on appeal, I guess, is the...


And I guess, finally, I adopt Mr. Warren's submissions on the cost point.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  We'll break now until 1:30.


‑‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 12:34 p.m. 


--- On resuming at 1:30 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Are there any preliminary matters before we resume?


No other preliminary matters?  Mr. Moran.


SUBMISSIONS BY Mr. Moran:

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Just for your convenience, let me identify the documents that I will be referring to.  The first document is the compendium of Association of Power Producers of Ontario.  I've put a copy in front of you, a few minutes ago.


And if Mr. Schuch could mark that as an exhibit.


MR. SCHUCH:  Madam Chair, we will assign Exhibit No. J1.5 to the compendium of APPrO.


EXHIBIT NO. J1.5:   APPrO COMPENDIUM OF DOCUMENTS


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Schuch.


MR. MORAN:  Now, Madam Chair, at the very back of that compendium there is an insert of five pages, which should also be marked.  These are excerpts from the February 2, 2007 filing that was made by Union Gas in response to the directive from the Board in its NGEIR decision.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We'll mark that.


MR. SCHUCH:  Madam Chair, that exhibit will be marked J1.6.


EXHIBIT NO. J1.6: excerpts from the February 2, 2007 


Union Gas filing in response to the BOARD'S DIRECTIVE 


IN ITS NGEIR DECISION


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. MORAN:  I will also be referring to the Board's decision in the NGEIR proceeding, and I will also be referring to the Board Staff factum and book of authorities and the Union Gas book of authorities.


Now, Madam Chair --


MR. SCHUCH:  Madam Chair, we haven't assigned the Board Staff - was it the book of authorities - that's correct -- an exhibit number yet.  Perhaps we should do that now.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Schuch.  We'll do that.


MR. SCHUCH:  That will be J1.6.


MR. MORAN:  7.


MR. SCHUCH:  Or 7.  Thank you.


EXHIBIT NO. J1.7:  BOARD STAFF BRIEF OF AUTHORITIES


MS. NOWINA:  Do we have it?


MR. MORAN:  It's a green cover.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  J1.6, Mr. Schuch?


MR. SCHUCH:  J1.7.  Thank you.  And just to be clear, that's the brief of authorities of Board Staff.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.


MR. MORAN:  Now, Madam Chair, in its motion APPrO was seeking a review of the Board's decision.  And it's on a narrow question which, from the perspective of the gas generators, is a question that was not actually answered in the Board's decision.


Essentially, the gas-fired generators are seeking a ruling on the obligation of Union Gas and Enbridge to provide the service that was clearly contemplated by the settlement agreements.


As part of my approach in my submissions, the first area that I'm going to dwell upon is the nature of the question that was raised in the motion.  I am aware that we're not here to argue the merits of it, but in order to properly make submissions with respect to the application of any threshold, in my submission, there has to be an understanding of the nature of the question and why it's a question.


So I intend to go through a number of submissions with respect to the nature of the question that APPrO was raising, and why it's raising it, and then in that context, make some submissions on the threshold issue that we're here to speak to.


The starting point, Madam Chair, is that the Board made a very clear finding in its decision that generators need to be able to manage their intra-day gas-supply needs.  This proposition was not challenged by anybody before the hearing; in fact, it was a matter of uncontradicted evidence at the hearing.


The evolution of the issue through the proceeding starts with the prefiled evidence that APPrO filed, and I'd ask you to turn up in the compendium, Exhibit J1.5.  If you could open up tab 2, please.


Tab 2 is an excerpt from the prefiled evidence of APPrO.  And what you will see there is a summary of what it was the gas-fired generators were seeking as a result of the NGEIR proceeding.  And I'd like to point your attention specifically to item number 3: 

"Utility storage services with higher deliverability at cost-based rates but with incremental deliverability offered based on the utility's incremental costs." 


Item number 4:  

"Additional nomination windows and a shorter period between the time a nomination is due and the time the change goes into effect."


And item number 7:  

"Firm all-day transportation and storage services as an option available to all customers."


These three proposals fit together and constitute what's needed for gas-fired generators to engage in the intra-day balancing of their gas supply, and that's how it was presented from the very beginning, as you can see, in APPrO's prefiled evidence.


I'd like you now to turn to tab 3 of the compendium.  And what you see there is a bit more detail on proposal number 3 that I just referred to.  And it's titled "High-deliverability storage service."  And there are  three components, as you can see, at the top of the page.


Number 1:

"Continue to make a base level of storage available to in-franchise customers at rolled-in cost-based rates.  The base level of storage that is made available to power generators should recognize that generators’ need for storage is different than that of traditional space-heating customers."


Now, ultimately that was a matter of general agreement amongst the parties before the Board that the needs of generators were different from other customers.


Item number 2:

"Give customers the option to increase storage deliverability by paying a rate that reflects the incremental cost of developing or acquiring storage capacity with higher deliverability.  Costs associated with high-deliverability storage would be tracked separately from the costs of storage with standard deliverability.  The cost-based rate for purchasing additional storage deliverability would therefore change over time as additional high-deliverability storage capacity is developed or acquired by the utility."


And finally, item number 3:

"In-franchise customers” - and again, I want to emphasize in-franchise customers – “should continue to have priority when additional storage capacity and deliverability are made available by utilities."


Madam Chair, that takes me, then, to tab 4 in the compendium.  And there you will see an excerpt from APPrO's prefiled evidence with a bit more detail with respect to proposal number 7, the firm all-day transportation and storage services.

"Firm customers should have the ability to reserve transportation capacity or  deliverability as an option under all in-franchise and ex-franchise firm transportation and storage services.  Firm all-day services may be priced at a premium to the standard service, but only if a premium or surcharge is required to compensate utility firm customers for interruptible service credits that they would otherwise receive."


So, Madam Chair, the next question was:  How would this work?  And we went to the Technical Conference.  The gas-fired generators put together a presentation.  Part of that presentation had to do with what the generators were proposing for in-franchise gas-fired generators.  And if you could turn up tab number 5 in the compendium, you will see an excerpt from that presentation, starting with slide 9, with the title:  “In-franchise storage proposal."


And the two key components that you see on slide number 9 are set out in items number 1 and 2 on that slide.

"Utilities should continue to make a base level of storage space available at rolled-in rates and recognize that generator needs are different from industrial customers and that the aggregate excess methodology is not appropriate for all generators."

“2:  Generators need access to high-deliverability storage services.  Generators recognize that the cost for higher deliverability is greater than base-load storage deliverability and that rates for HDS should be set on an incremental cost basis."


If you turn to the next slide, there's a continuation of how this proposal would work from APPrO's perspective.  And, again, item number 4:

"Base storage entitlement for generators should be based on its operational needs to help ensure the reliability of the power system."


So the focus was:  What do the gas‑fired generators need from an operational perspective?  And item number 5 explains what the operational need is, the fact that a gas‑fired generator can be asked to run or turn off on short notice by the IESO.  And so there's an intra‑day need to manage the gas supply in that context, which then takes us to slide 11, which sets out the initial proposal from the generators.  


Under the APPrO proposal, a generator would be entitled to contract for the following storage space and 1.2 percent deliverability per 100 megawatts of plant capacity.  And then you'll see that there's a discussion of what the need was for a combined cycle operator and a single cycle operator and the fact that the pricing would be based on current rolled‑in cost‑based methodology.


And then, finally, if you turn to slide 12, you'll see the derivation of the proposal.  And then the very last slide shows an example of how this would work.


And the proposal, in a nutshell, was this much space at 1.2 percent deliverability at cost‑based rates; and then you add deliverability to that space at incremental cost, the concept being that if I have space from a utility that I have gas in, I can only get it out so fast.  It can only be delivered to me so quickly.  But if I want it to be delivered more quickly or if I want to be able to put it back in more quickly during the course of a day, deliverability could be added to that space.


So that's what we went into the Technical Conference with, and so clearly the stage was set on this particular issue in terms of what was on the record.  This is what the generators were looking for.  They were looking for an intra‑day balancing service.


There were a number of other things that they were also looking for, and the prefiled evidence sets out what that is.


So in the settlement conference, we spent a considerable amount of time negotiating a number of items, and one of the items that was negotiated extensively was the storage allocation methodology based on the starting point that I've just taken you through, which is this much space at 1.2, and then the addition of deliverability to that space.


In the course of the discussions, it became clear that the concern was the amount of space that this particular allocation methodology would allocate to a gas‑fired generator, and so all the parties involved sharpened their pencils and we sat down and worked something out.


There was a clear focus that continued, which was the need to meet the in-franchise customer need of gas‑fired generators and a clear understanding that that need was different.  And, in fact, that was confirmed by the Board in its decision.


So what did we get in the Union settlement agreement?  The original proposal on a per‑100-megawatt basis would have assigned about 126,000 gJs of 1.2 percent storage space to a generator to give you four days of coverage.


And what happened was that, in the course of negotiating, that space allocation was reduced, and it was reduced on the basis that the need could be met through the addition of deliverability to that space.


So that's what we ended up with, was an allocation methodology that was agreed upon in the Union settlement agreement whereby a smaller amount than what was originally proposed of space would be assigned, and then the generator would have the ability to contract for additional deliverability on that space.


And to give you a sense of the change that happened, if you turn to the very last page behind tab 6 of the compendium, for a combined cycle, 100 megawatts of combined cycle operation, the original proposal, as I indicated, was about 126,000 gJs of space to be allocated.  


If you look at the table that's at the very end of tab 6 and go down column B until you get to 16.8, the original estimate was based on 16 hours of operation for a combined cycle per day.


And if you look at what's here for combined cycle at 16.8 hours a day, if you move over to column D, you'll see that the allocation would be 75,936.  So a significant reduction for 16 hours of operation from the original 126,480 gJs in the original APPrO proposal.  


You'll also note from how this is set up that there are absolute limits.  It's not open ended.  There is an upper limit to this.  It is not that a gas-fired generator under this proposal would be free to snap up an open‑ended supply of cost‑based storage and higher deliverability.  There's an upper limit, and that's what that table clearly shows.


So the maximum is what you see at the very top row of that diagram ‑‑ of that table.


The other change that I should note.  The original proposal was intended to give a gas‑fired generator four days of coverage on the theory that things are ramping down towards the beginning of the weekend and start to ramp up after the weekend, and there might be a long weekend involved, and so four days gave an appropriate amount of coverage.


And in this table, when you go across all the way over to column H, on the line that has 16.8 hours of usage, you'll see the deliverability days are now 5.7.


So that reduces ‑‑ this compromise reduces the ability of the gas‑fired generator to manage the gas supply that was originally going to be managed within four days.  It would now be managed over 5.7 days, and in order to get up to four days, you would have to contract for more deliverability.


Now, in the same tab 6 of my compendium, I'd like you to turn to page 14, and you'll see that at page 14 there's a heading, "1.2 firm high deliverability service from storage with customer options for 1.2 percent, 5 percent, and 10 percent deliverability."


That was the issue as it was defined by the Board, and then under that heading you'll see a description of the settlement that was reached on this issue.  And as you read through it, the one thing that will strike you is that there's a space allocation and, connected to that space allocation, the ability to add deliverability to increase the ability to deliver gas in and out of that space.


And if you look at page 15, about half way down you'll see a paragraph that states:

"An example of how these provisions may apply in specific circumstances is attached as appendix B."


That was the table we were just looking at.  And then the next paragraph, which is important:

"In the event of a conflict between the language of this section and the calculations shown on the attached examples, it is the parties' intention that the calculations shown in the examples shall govern the interpretation of this section."


And when you go to table B, which we just did a few minutes ago, you'll see that there's a combination -- there's two components at work in that table.  There's the space allocation and the deliverability for getting gas in and out.


Now, one of the things that, I guess, puzzles the gas‑fired generators in the context of the decision is the notion that somehow being allocated space by Union Gas, I can somehow get deliverability on that space somewhere else. 


I'm not sure how that happened.  I'm not sure where Union Gas comes from on that issue.  Because once I have my gas in the space -- and I'm talking about deliverability, I'm talking about moving that gas in and out of that space, and clearly there can only be one person who can provide me with the deliverability to move that gas in and out more quickly, and that is the owner of the space that I'm contracting for, which, in this case, is Union Gas.


So I get my space allocated to me and I have the opportunity to add deliverability to that space.  It has to come from Union.  I can't go to Michigan and say, Michigan, Bluewater, give me some deliverability that I can add to my storage allocation over here in ‑‑ that Union owns.  It simply makes no sense; it's nonsensical.


But that's the dilemma that we find ourselves in, at this point, because that appears to be where the utilities are on this issue.


This was a negotiation for in-franchise customers, gas-fired customers, based on their operational need.  And it was agreed to by the parties.


Now, Enbridge doesn't have the same kind of storage facilities that Union has, and so they don't meet all of their customers' needs through their own assets the way Union does.  And so we had to take a slightly different approach in the negotiations with Enbridge.  But it was agreed that the same principle would apply, that ultimately what needed to be done was to come up with a storage allocation that met the same principles based on operational needs and had the same kind of fenceposts around it that the Union Gas proposal had, and that in principle would be the same, recognizing the difference between the two utilities.


And you'll see that reflected in the excerpt from the Enbridge settlement agreement, which is at tab 7 of the compendium.


And if you go to tab 7 and specifically page 24 of the excerpt, and take a look at paragraphs (g), (h), and (i), at the  bottom of that page, you'll see a reflection of the principles that I've taken you through, which were an underpinning for the methodology that Union Gas agreed to.


Now, just while I'm on the point with respect to the Enbridge agreement, the Enbridge factum notes that the APPrO factum fails to note that Enbridge has made a firm commitment to provide high-deliverability storage to generators.  And I'm not here to suggest that otherwise, that there isn't a firm commitment.  It simply isn't dealt with yet in the Board's decision, and it's not reflected in any of the tariffs that were put forward by Enbridge or by Union Gas.


So the upshot, Madam Chair, is that at the end of the settlement conference, APPrO had agreed to less space in the allocation methodology, increased deliverability for that space at the generator's option, and it was at the generator's option because not all generators have the same operational needs.  But, regardless of what their operational needs, there was an upper maximum to how much deliverability you could get under that allocation methodology.


And finally, that there would be access to that space so that it could actually be used for intra-day balancing purposes.


And those are the three things that, you know, we're  were walking forward, right from the very beginning, right through the settlement process, and right into the hearing.


Now, in the context of what was agreed on, the one thing that wasn't agreed on was the issue of the costs to be charged for that additional deliverability.  The generators took the position that since there's an allocation of space and you're going to add deliverability so that you can use that space to put gas in and out more quickly for intra-day balancing purposes, and that there's only one person that you can get that from, the utility, it's a utility service.  And so it should be at cost.  We proposed incremental costs, because there was clear recognition that the incremental cost for putting in deliverability to meet a generator's need should be borne by the generators and not by customers as a whole ask on some rolled-in basis.


But there was no agreement on the cost.  Union and Enbridge had a larger issue on their minds that the context of the proceeding, and that was the forbearance issue, the general policy question of forbearance in relation to storage.  And so, clearly, from a strategic point of view, they weren't in the position to say to the generators, Yeah, we'll agree that you can get some cost-based storage services from us, but nobody else can.  


We understood that.  So we agreed to disagree on the price, and on the firm basis, from our perspective, at least, that once it was in front of the Board, and once the Board would be able to see what was proposed and that this was an allocation methodology for an in-franchise customer that had those two components, deliverability and space allocation, along with the firm all-day for intra-day balancing purposes, that it would become obvious what the outcome would have to be, which is, it would have been to be done on some sort of cost basis.


So that's where we were when we got to the hearing.


So what we say today, on this motion, is that the in-franchise service that was clearly contemplated when you look at what's in the settlement agreements is simply not reflected anywhere in the Board's decision.  I think Union and Enbridge have attempted to characterize the question that we raise as an attempt to reverse the Board's decision, but in fact we say that there isn't a Board decision yet on this issue.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Moran, has there been an order since that decision that will govern Union's rates?


MR. MORAN:  In separate proceedings there were tariffs approved by the Board, that's right, for Union and for Enbridge.  We had originally thought that we would raise it in the context of those orders, but there was a time pressure with respect to getting those out, and in any event, as we looked at it, we weren't quite sure where the right place was to go with this issue.


MR. VLAHOS:  I wasn't trying to be critical, just to inform me to whether rates or tariffs had been approved by the Board following the NGEIR decision.


MR. MORAN:  There have been.


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes?  And that tariff schedule is silent on that issue, you say?


MR. MORAN:  That's right.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.


MR. MORAN:  That takes me, then, to tab 10 in my compendium, which is some excerpts from the NGEIR decision.


And starting with page 33 as it's shown there in the compendium at tab 10, just before the paragraph that's entitled:  "Board findings," there's a paragraph where the Board is setting out what APPrO's position was.


And it says:

“The Association of Power Producers of Ontario, APPrO, argued that the product it is most interested in, high-deliverability storage, is not currently available in Ontario.  APPrO argued that competition cannot exist for a product that is not yet introduced and pointed out that, when it is introduced, it will be available only from Ontario utilities, as ex-Ontario suppliers will be constrained by the nomination windows specified by the North American Energy Standards Board, or NAESB."


That's how APPrO's position was characterized in the Board's decision.  And it was a component of the argument that was put forward by APPrO, but it wasn't put forward on the basis that the product -- that the generators are most interested in is high-deliverability storage.  It was put forward in the context of the proposal that I just brought you through, which is, for in-franchise customers, there's an allocation methodology that has a smaller amount of space and the ability to add deliverability in order to meet intra-day balancing requirements.  It was in that context.


And we went on to argue that, in that context, because it can only come from the utility, I have space, I have gas in that space, or I want to put gas in that space, the ability to deliver it in and out can only be done by Union Gas and anyone else.


So it was in that context.


If you read what's here, it's much more broadly stated.  It looks like the generators are looking for cost-based storage in general, and it wasn't in general, it was specifically in relation to the in-franchise proposal that we were looking for it.


There was also an argument by the generators put forward that, if generators are getting services that rely on Union assets but are being provided by Enbridge, that that should be done on a cost basis as well.  But that was as far as the generators went in the context of the argument.


Then you can see that the Board made some findings.  And if you turn over the page to page 34 of the decision, you will see that the Board indicates:

"With respect to APPrO's position, the Board is not convinced that high-deliverability storage service is a different product.  High-deliverability storage may be a new service, but it is a particular way of using physical storage which still depends upon the physical parameters of working capacity and deliverability.  The Board provides a more detailed consideration of the pricing of high-deliverability storage service later in this decision."


In my submission, Madam Chair, what you see in this paragraph is the de-linking of the deliverability from the storage space that's being allocated under the allocation methodology that was agreed upon.  And so the Board is generally looking at the issue of deliverability. And there's nothing particularly incorrect about what's there, but it's not actually addressing the specific issue that the generators needed a response on, in terms of the request that it was making to the Board for a service that could be used for intra‑day balancing services, based on the methodology in the settlement proposals.


So there's no discussion of intra‑day.  You don't see that word being mentioned anywhere in the Board's findings on this section, and nothing about how the settlement proposal allocation methodology would work in that context.


If you turn, then, to page 35 of the NGEIR decision, which is also behind tab 10, starting ‑‑ I'm sorry, page 34, section 3.5, the identification of the geographic market.


When you go through the discussion of the evidence that the Board sets out on page 34 and carrying on on page 35 and finally finishing on page 36, again what you will not see in any of that discussion of the evidence is any reference to the uncontradicted evidence that came from the various experts that were called by the utilities, or the evidence that came forward from BP, that an intra‑day service is only available in Ontario.  There's no discussion of that.  In fact, it's quite noticeable by its absence when you go through the description of the evidence in describing the geographic market.


And I think the reason that that is not there is because, in the Board's findings just before that section, the Board had already decided that there was no ‑‑ that deliverability wasn't a different kind of product, but because there was no consideration of the intra‑day component of the proposal that was put forward by APPrO and what was in the settlement agreement, what happened was kind of a logical progression.


And there is certainly no reference to the clear evidence that's represented by what was in the Union settlement proposal either, and I'd like to take you back to tab 6, at page 11 at that tab, which is the Union settlement agreement.


And at tab 6, page 11, the very first bullet point at the top of the page, it says that:

"Union agrees that it will evaluate the possibility of extending the additional nomination windows and reservation of capacity found in F24‑T...", which is a cost‑based service available within Ontario, "...to the following transportation services..."


And then you'll see it's all the C1 pathways across the Dawn hub.  


What that means is there's no ability to get an intra‑day service on the other side of the Dawn hub, because the nomination windows aren't there to support and that Union is going to look at the possibility of doing that.


And, more importantly, when you look at page 12 behind the same tab, at the second bullet point, you will see that:

"Union, Enbridge, and APPrO agree to convene an Industry Task Force and will invite all service providers interconnecting with Union and other parties that have expressed an interest.  The purpose of the Industry Task Force is to investigate and develop, where feasible, appropriate arrangements for services that would enable Union to accept nomination changes each hour throughout the day on a firm reserve capacity basis, with changes become effective two hours later."


And then there was a deadline for the first two meetings.


So that just underlines what the experts said at the hearing, what Union itself said in a settlement agreement, that the intra‑day balancing service really can only be found in Ontario.


And that's separate from the fundamental proposition, Madam Chair, that if I have -- if I'm an in-franchise customer and I have an allocation methodology that's tailored to meet my needs as a gas‑fired generator, and I have this space and I want to move gas in and out of it more quickly, that's only going to be available in Ontario, anyway, even if the task force is successful, ultimately.


So the Board then ultimately went on to, you know, find that the geographic market for storage was, you know, Michigan and Ontario and a couple of other places.  But, as I say, absolutely no discussion - no finding, more importantly - with respect to what kind of marketplace existed -- geographic marketplace existed, specifically for intra‑day balancing based on the methodology that was agreed upon in the settlement agreements.


I'd like to take you now to page 56 of the decision.  I don't have this in my compendium, so you will have to go to the actual decision.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Moran, you said 45 minutes and we haven't gotten to the threshold questions yet, so just a reminder.


MR. MORAN:  Yes.  It's coming up real soon, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. MORAN:  This is a key part of the context for the APPrO motion.  On page 56 and over on to page 57, you will see the Board's findings with respect to utility storage, and this was part of the issue about how you ‑‑ what do you do with respect to the in-franchise customers.


And the Board's findings set out clearly:

"In terms of a section 29 analysis, the goal would be to continue to regulate and set cost‑based rates for those customers who do not have competitive storage alternatives and to refrain from regulating or allow market‑based prices for those who do have competitive alternatives.  

   "The Board concludes that it should continue to regulate and set cost‑based rates for existing storage services provided to in-franchise customers up to their allocated amounts.  This approach was supported by all the intervenors except by MHP Canada, as noted above.

   "The parties recognized that bundled customers in particular do not acquire storage services separately from distribution services, do not control their use of storage and do not have effective access to alternatives in either the primary or secondary markets.

   "Competition has not extended to the retail end of the market, and therefore it is not sufficient to protect the public interest.  However, the Board finds that customers taking unbundled or semi-unbundled service..."


And this is the important part, Madam Chair:

"...should have equivalent access to regulated cost‑based storage for their reasonable needs."


So there's a finding by the Board that if you followed it all the way through and came to what was in the settlement agreement on the storage allocation, it would lead you to assume, because it's not in the decision, that the Board would end up saying, based on the particular storage methodology to meet the reasonable needs of the gas‑fired generators as set out in the settlement agreement, which the Board accepted, this is a cost‑based service; so the space that's allocated, plus the ability to contract for a certain amount of deliverability on that space.


But outside of that allocation, all bets are off, and nobody is here to suggest otherwise.  But for the reasonable operational needs of the generators, based on the Board's own findings, that's a decision that hasn't been made one way or the other, with respect to the allocation methodology for gas‑fired generators.


I have two more points that I want to make to establish the context, then, for my submissions on the threshold, Madam Chair, and the first is that it's pretty clear that the main driver for the forbearance proceeding was how to deal with this ex-franchise market, the market that had been in place for many years, the market that had produced a premium that has been shared with ratepayers for many years.


And the support for that proposition you'll find on page 47 of the Board's decision, the second paragraph.  Mr. Janigan, I think, brought your attention to this earlier:

"The Board agrees that the distribution of the premium is a significant consideration.  In many ways, it has been the underlying focus of the NGEIR proceeding."


So, on the ex-franchise side, I have to say, the generators aren’t here to say that the ex-franchise market should be dealt with in any particular way.  The generators did not take an issue on that issue in the hearing an certainly are not taking a position here.  The issue is the methodology for the in-franchise customer.


It may be that, just like it was a driver with respect to the ex-franchise market, that there was a similar kind of driver on the in-franchise side as well.  And if you go to the decision at page 17, under the heading of “Allocation of storage to in-franchise, unbundled and semi-bundled customers."  In the second paragraph, you will see the Board indicating that:

"Union refers to its T1 and T3 services as semi-bundled services.  The commercial and industrial customers taking T1 service and Kitchener which takes service under the T3 rate have entered into renewable one-year contracts for storage space at cost-based rates.  Three T1 customers are gas-fired generators that have multi-year storage contracts."

And here's the sentence I want to emphasize:

“If these T1 and T3 customers require storage space greater than their contracted amounts, they are required to purchase the extra space at market-based rates."


So similarly to what was happening in the ex-franchise market, it may be that the Board thought the same kind of thing was happening in the in-franchise market, that customers, in-franchise customers, were accessing extra space at market-based rates.


This is where I want to take you, then, to the single document that was identified as Exhibit J1.6, the excerpts from Union's February 2, 2007 filing that the Board required as part of the NGEIR decision.


And if you turn to page 23 of 26 in that excerpt, under the heading of: "Storage deliverability," you will see that Union is setting the record straight on this point.

"In the past, Union has sold additional deliverability to T1/T3 customers above the standard 1.2 level indicated above at cost-based rates."


And then, equally importantly, Union goes on to say:

"All T1/T3 cost-based storage space and the associated deliverability," this additional cost-based deliverability, "has been treated and managed as part of its customers' end-use plant/franchise requirements and as part of the no-notice T1/T3 service."


So, in the decision, the Board mistakenly assumed that this was happening at some market-based price, and clearly it wasn't, and Union had described it quite clearly in their  February 2nd filing.


And the other thing that I will point you to as part of this filing is the remaining three pages, page 5 through 7 of 26.  And you'll see there that Union has -- you'll recognize the table you see on page 6 because it is the same table that I took you to out of the settlement agreement.


Union is now proposing this allocation methodology on a broader basis.  And the important thing to identify in these pages is what you see on page 6 of this filing, which came after the Board decision was released.


At line 10:

"Customers who elect to contract for firm storage deliverability that is less than the maximum amount can contract for cost-based storage space up to ten times the firm storage deliverability contracted for, up to maximum of 24 times the customer's peak hourly consumption multiplied by four days." 


So the same concept being put forward.


And then what we see S in the next paragraph, starting on line 17:

"Storage deliverability above 1.2 percent is available at market prices...", and here's where we get that logical disconnect again, "...from either Union or an alternative storage service provider."


So again we're back to that fundamental issue which really hasn't been decided by the Board but is squarely an issue now that we see it in the February 2nd filing.  How do you allocate space and say you have the option of increasing the deliverability in relation to that space, and get that from another service provider?  You can't.  It's just a simple matter of logic, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Moran, you've reached the time limit you said you were going to take.


MR. MORAN:  I recall saying 45 to an hour, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Ah.  I only wrote down the 45.  I'll give you the extra 15.


MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  This brings me to the threshold question, now, in the context of what I've described to you, Madam Chair.


In the Board's rules, clearly the Board has the ability to review and reconsider its decisions.  In the Rules there's a listing of grounds which clearly on its face is not an exhaustive list.  It uses the phrase "may include the following", and so there's always the possibility of additional grounds.


We also know that this is a very broad power.  And the reason we know that is because we have the leading case from the Ontario Court of Appeal on it, the Russell case, where the court clearly said that this is an important power and that the Board should not be fettering that power through its own directives; in this case, the rules.


I'd like to take you to that decision.  It's been reproduced a number of times, and maybe we can use the Board Staff book of authorities, for the purpose of just looking at the decision.


If you look at tab 4, this is in Exhibit J1.7.  It's Russell and the City of Toronto.


This involved a case that was in front of the Ontario Municipal Board.  In the Ontario Municipal Board's own legislation, there's a review power which is worded in a very similar fashion to the review power that's contained in the Statutory Powers and Procedures Act.  That review power used to be handed out on a statute-by-statute basis in legislation.  The OMB legislation is one such example of the review power.


And ultimately, as part of the overhaul of the SPPA, it was determined, partly because a number of tribunals lobbied for it, it was determined that the review power should be made generally available to any tribunal who wished to use it.  And the way you ended up exercising the ability to use that review power would be to enact procedural rules so that, on the basis of having procedural rules, you then had that power.


But it's the same power.  It was simply extended to other tribunals.


Some tribunals didn't want it.  They haven't enacted rules and they don't have it.  But that's sort of the background to this review power.


Now, if you turn up page 13 of that decision, at the very bottom you can see the relevant statutory provisions and then the extract from the Ontario Municipal Board Act. 

"The Board may re-hear any application before deciding it or may review, rescind, change, alter, or vary any decision, approval or order made by it."


And if you compare that wording to the wording that's in the SPPA, you will find that it's very similar wording to what's in the SPPA.


If you turn, then, to page 15 in the decision, at the very top, under Issue I.  The court states:

“In my opinion, the divisional court failed to appreciate the distinction between the statutory authority of the review panel to re-hear/review its own decisions under section 43 of the Act and the self‑imposed directive of the Board on the exercise of that power."


Turning then to page 16.  The court then starts to explore the nature of this power, and I would ask you to look at all of paragraph 14, 15, and 16 over onto the other page, on that page, but, in particular, I want to emphasize the quote from Mr. Justice Reeves' text, "Administrative Law and Practice", where he says:

"The power to reconsider decisions is peculiar to tribunals.  It is not found in the law courts.  Its existence is the consequence of a general lack of provisions for appeal particularly on questions of fact..."


And you'll know, Madam Chair, that there is no appeal on a question of fact from Ontario Energy Board decisions.

"...from tribunals, and then of the regulatory nature of most tribunals.  In both respects, the tribunals differ from the courts.  The power to reconsider thus appears to be an appropriate means, both for the correction of errors in the absence of an appeal and to permit adjustments to be made as changes in the regulated activity occur.  The importance of such a power has been recognized by the courts."


And, as I say, I would like you to have regard to paragraphs 14 through 16, which goes into more detail.


On page 17, at the very top of the page, there's another cite from a Court of Appeal decision:

"We do not agree with counsel for the appellants that the broad power of reconsideration which results in a final decision requires that new facts be established.  (See re Merrin and the Municipality of Metropolitan Toronto.)  The power is important and may be the only way to correct errors where now right of appeal is provided or to allow for adjustments even if circumstances remain unchanged.  That is the meaning to be given to the maintenance of the integrity of the administrative process."


And then on the bottom of that page:

"One of the functions of the Board, acknowledged countless times by the courts, is to make and apply policies." 


And that's a very important proposition, Madam Chair, because that's the very reason why the courts give deference to Board decisions.  When you're acting within your jurisdiction on matters of policy and within your area of expertise, the courts will defer to you.  So this all ties up into, at the end of the day, you're the tribunal that's responsible for the administration of the regulatory program that's established under the statute, and you have control over the administration of that regulatory program and the courts will give you deference.


And they say you have this very broad power to review your own decisions and make the adjustments that are necessary, so that the administrative purpose is met by your decisions.


There can't be any legitimate argument put forward to you, Madam Chair, that says that you can fetter the statutory power that you have by writing procedural rules that would do that.  That's not what procedural rules are about.


The Board Staff factum looked at some changes that had occurred in the procedural rules and attempts to propose to you the idea that somehow there's a statutory interpretation argument that should be applied to the interpretation of the Board's rules of procedure.


In my submission, that's not possible, because the rules of procedure are not statutes.  They're not regulations.  They are things that you're allowed to do and are authorized to do by the statute.  The statute says you've got a broad power to review, and all that you have to do is create the procedure for doing that if you want to have that power.  But you can't neuter the power through your rules, and that's what the Russell case stands for.


Now, you've been shown a lot of other cases that pre‑date that case.  There hasn't been anything since then.  It's the Ontario Court of Appeal, highest court in the province, and it's the leading case on this and it's binding on how you approach this.


The other thing that I would say to you, Madam Chair, is to point out that the rules were revised from what they looked like in 1997, and this was a public process that the Board engaged in.  I know a little bit about it, because I happened to be Board Counsel at the time, and I know that Ms. Spoel was involved in that process, as well.  And the rules were revised to reflect changes in applicable law.


There had been many changes in the legislation since 1997, and the rules needed to be revised to reflect that.  And, also, there was this Russell case, which basically said that the Board shouldn't be fettering its review power.


And you'll see that although this hasn't been pointed out to you in the Board Staff factum, that there was a significant change to reflect that proposition.  And if I could take you to the Board Staff authorities, J1.7, at tab 16 you'll see the old rule as it existed in 1997.


And if you turn to page 46.  Under rule 64 you will see that the rule used to read that "the Board shall determine, with or without a hearing" the threshold question, and now you see it written as "the Board may determine" a threshold question.


And, in my submission, that change is entirely consistent with the impact of the Russell decision from the Court of Appeal, and fully consistent with the kinds of things that the Board needs to be worried about.


The Board does have to be concerned that the review power is not abused by parties; absolutely no doubt about that.  It's an important power that you have, and it's not to be used just on a whim.  It's got to be about something real.  There has to be a real issue that's been raised, and the Board has to be in a position to deal with it on the basis of it being a real issue.


So I would say that what the threshold comes down to is:  Is there a genuine issue?  Is it a material issue?  It doesn't really matter how you want to characterize it.  Is it an error of law?  Is it an error of jurisdiction?  Is it an error of fact?  


The question is:  Is it an important issue that the Board ought to take a look at?  And that's exactly the way the Board has exercised its discretion, both before the rule change and after the rule change.


The Board has always focussed, in my submission, and when you look at the decisions that the Board's made on review motions, has always focussed on the nature of the issue that's being raised.


And I can take you through a couple of examples that will demonstrate that point.  And at the end of the day, it doesn't really matter, you know, how you want to characterize it.  What really matters is the nature of the question that's being raised and whether it's a question that requires additional attention from the Board.


In the context of the question that APPrO is raising, the question clearly falls within that category.  The gas‑fired generators need a determination on the issue of how this methodology is supposed to work and on what basis.  


Can the generator get the allocation of space, and then contract for the deliverability on that space, or is it some disconnected deliverability somewhere else which makes no logical sense?  That's what we need clarified by the Board.


I have about five minutes more, Madam Chair.  I do want to take you to a couple of examples of Board decisions.


If you turn up tab 3 in the Union book of authorities at J1.2.


MS. NOWINA:  In the Union book of authorities, Mr. Moran?


MR. MORAN:  That's correct.


This is a decision by the Board with respect to a motion that was brought by Enbridge Gas regarding a Board decision which disallowed about $11 million regarding some contracts that it had entered into with Alliance Pipeline, and they were seeking a review and variance of that decision.


And I would turn you to page 4.  There's no discussion of thresholds here in this decision.  What the Board did, and you'll see it at page 4 in the second‑last paragraph, 

"Having considered the motion", and here's the important part, "...and the supporting material filed by EGDI...", so everything they would to say on the merits as they filed it, "...the Board finds that EGDI has not established that there are changes in fact, changed circumstance, new facts or evidence that was not reasonably available at the time of the hearing which would raise a question as to the correctness of the Board's decision."


So the Board looked at it and there was nothing else that the Board thought justified looking at the decision and changing it.  And so what the Board did is they said,  We're not going to waste the intervenors' time.  We don't have to hear from the intervenors on this.  They haven't put forward a prima facie case on their issue, and we're going dismiss their motion.


Plus, the Board just focussed in on the issues as they were presented by Enbridge in their supporting materials and said, We’re not seeing anything here that would cause us to change this decision.  Motion dismissed.


If you go to tab 5 of the same case book - and I think this decision is also in Board Staff case book - here we have a motion for review being filed by Union Gas looking for an order cancelling or suspending the implementation of an earnings-sharing mechanism for 2005.  And again, it's instrumental to see what the Board actually did in that decision.


And again, if you would turn to page 4 of the decision, what Union has highlighted under “Standard of review" is, I guess, an argument that was made by IGUA.  But what's more important is what the Board actually said it was going to do, which is in the next paragraph under that heading:  

"In this case, the Board has allowed the applicant to proceed and make detailed submissions with regard to the rationale for the ESM and the various conditions related to it, notwithstanding the fact that the applicant had full opportunity to address those matters in the earlier proceedings.  In the specific circumstances of this decision, the Board recognized that confirmation or clarification might be helpful."


That's consistent with what the court in the Russell decision said about this power.  And it's consistent with the nature of the question that the gas-fired generators have raised in its motion before you today.


I have two more motion decisions that I want to draw your attention to, and these are found in the Board staff authorities, starting at tab 8.


And at tab 8 is a June 29, 2000 decision, under the old rule, with respect to a motion for a review brought forward by IGUA, CAC, and VECC.  And again, this is a demonstration that the context is key to what you should be doing on these motions.  And I'd ask you to look at page 16 of that decision.


Now, Union has highlighted paragraph 4.13 of the decision, which says that:

"The Board agrees with the company that ordering a review or a rehearing is a extraordinary remedy and should not be undertaken lightly.  On the basis of the submissions, the Board is not convinced that the extensive review requested by the moving parties is necessary.  This is especially true where there may be other remedies available.” 


But the Board didn't stop there.  The Board kept going.  They said in the next paragraph:

"In that regard, the Board orders the company to establish a deferral account effective January 1, 2000, to record the impact of the outsourcing plan on all items..." et cetera.  


And then, paragraph 4.15:

"In the interests of regulatory efficiency, the Board is not prepared at this time to issue a Procedural Order directing a hearing of this matter alone.  The Board expects that this issue should be addressed in the next proceeding dealing with the company's distribution rates."


So, the motion came forward.  The Board didn't say You haven't met any threshold.  The Board said This is an important issue, and, company, set up a deferral account, and in the next rates case we're going to deal with this issue.


Again, the Board is in charge of its process, and down the road is able to deal with the issue, if that's what it chooses to do.


Different kind of proceeding from the NGEIR proceeding, obviously; but that's the context for this decision.


Finally, at tab 6 of the Board Staff authorities, another motion to review.  This one's more recent, October 6, 2005.  Therefore under the Board's new rules.  And this was a motion brought by NRG.  And it's clear that at page 7 of that decision, that the Board has indicated that this isn't a hearing de novo.  You're not starting from scratch.  And then the Board goes on to say:

"In considering a motion to vary, the Board considers whether new evidence has been presented by the applicant or whether the original panel made an error in law or principle so as to justify the reversal of the original decision."


I don't see that as being an exhaustive list of factors but it would obviously be the ones that were raised in the context of that motion.


But here's the important part:

"After reviewing the evident and the submissions of NRG, the Board has found no compelling evidence that would cause it to vary."


The Board went on and looked at the merits of the motion and just dealt with it, and made its decision, and ultimately dismissed the motion.


Context is everything, Madam Chair.  And in the context of this motion, that the generators have brought forward, I've brought you through the context that is relevant to APPrO's motion.  The generators, from the very beginning, participated responsibly in this process.  They made proposals that were intended to meet the operational needs and were recognized as meeting the operational needs of gas-fired generators now that more and more of them are coming to the province.


They've raised a serious question on this motion.  They haven't done it lightly.  The settlement agreement represented a number of compromises.  This one was an important element of the settlement agreement, where there was an allocation methodology specifically designed to meet the need of the gas-fired generators.


The generators aren't taking issue with ex-franchise forbearance.  They never did.


And the other part of the context is, this is the first time, you know, the Board has examined the forbearance power that it has and exercised it.  This was a novel proceeding.  It was a big proceeding.  There was big issues on the table.  This was a big, important decision that the Board made, from a policy perspective.  And what we say is that there's still some details that need to be filled in.  And one of the details is the question that we've raised on behalf of the gas-fired generators on this motion.


The generators need clarification or a ruling on a key component of the settlement agreement, as it was accepted by the Board.  This is exactly the kind of situation that the review power is suited to.


If you consider the question to be a genuine question, a material question, and you -- circumstances in which it arose with the big, big issue, and our little issue over here, proceeding to the merits on this will be of great assistance to the in-franchise generator customers who negotiated responsibly and in a responsive fashion to the other parties' needs, Union's concern about how much space would be allocated and how that could be fixed up through less space, and more deliverability and so on.


So, subject to any questions, those would be my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thanks, Mr. Moran.


[Board Panel confers]


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Moran, just a question.  In light of the Russell case, and you may have to remind me in terms of the date of that decision, versus the Board's renewal of its rules, which came first?


MR. MORAN:  The Russell case came first and the renewal of the rules came later.


MR. VLAHOS:  So presumably the rules did reflect the Russell case?


MR. MORAN:  The Russell case came before the amendments to the rules.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  So the amendments did reflect the decision of that court.


MR. MORAN:  That's right.  And the change that I pointed you to was the change from the "the Board shall make a determination on the threshold question” to “the Board may determine the threshold question"


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  I also took it from your argument that perhaps we were too granular or too inarticulate as to what may constitute grounds for a motion?


MR. MORAN:  My submission is that the grounds that were set out are not an exhaustive list.  It says that "such grounds may include" and then it lists.  But it doesn't say that those are the only grounds.


And in the case of APPrO's motion, we're saying that there hasn't actually been a ruling yet on this issue, in a manner that the parties can understand what the Board's determination was.


MR. VLAHOS:  But when our rules state new evidence being one of the grounds, that we expect the applicant to turn its attention to, are we going against the Russell decision that new evidence is not -- is not necessary? I shouldn't say against, but is it something that we don't need to...


MR. MORAN:  In fact, no, Mr. Vlahos.  If you have a list that says these are the kinds of things that we ‑‑ these are some of the things that we will look at when we're considering a threshold question, it doesn't mean that you're going against the Russell decision.  You're saying here's a list of things ‑ there may be others ‑ that you can bring to our attention and we'll consider those we will, but you're not excluding others.


And that's what the Russell decision said, is that you can't limit it.


So if you said in the rules that the only grounds for review are these three, and that's it, nothing else, then you would be going against -- in my submission, against the Russell decision, but because it says "may include the following", the absence of new evidence is not fatal.  That's one of the things that you can point to.


I mean, I've shown you a recent filing that came in after the NGEIR decision where Union corrects the record with respect to the additional deliverability that's provided to in-franchise, semi- and unbundled customers.


The Board had a different view of it, obviously, in the finding that it made, but that wasn't reflected in the evidence before the Board, and this is new evidence subsequent to the decision that says that perhaps that wasn't correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  So the rules are not in violation of the Russell decision, or any other decision, to your knowledge, that has come since the Russell decision?  They're still good rules?


MR. MORAN:  To my understanding ‑‑ you're probably asking the wrong person, given my role at the time the new rules were being drafted, but I'd have to say they're great rules, Mr. Vlahos.  And I'm sure Ms. Spoel will say the same thing.


MS. SPOEL:  I have no comment.


MR. VLAHOS:  You're not aware of any court decisions that would necessitate a review of those new rules?  

That's ‑‑


MR. MORAN:  That's right, yes.  The Russell decision was a comprehensive review of the review power, and it was the most recent pronouncement by the Ontario Court of Appeal in Ontario.


And, you know, your attention has been drawn to a number of decisions from other jurisdictions where there is no review power and there's other principles that apply.  This notion of functus officio - if the Board's made a decision, its role is over - that's the common law, and I think somebody made that submission earlier.


But the rule is that the statute always overrides the common law, and the statute, the SPPA, clearly has given the Board a review power.  And so clearly the Board is not automatically functus officio in Ontario, at least, because it has that review power, very clearly.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right, thank you, sir.  


MS. SPOEL:  I just wanted to clarify for the record, and Mr. Moran has raised the fact that I had a role in revising the rules.  That is true.  However, I have absolutely no recollection of why this particular amendment was made, and I have not gone back to look at any of the files to see what's on the ‑‑ in our records about why the change was made, so I have a completely open mind on the point and no preconceived notions at all.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. MORAN:  Yes, I didn't intend, Madam Chair, to cause any difficulty for Ms. Spoel.  I mean, it was a public process with public comments, and there is a record, so...


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Moran.  


Mr. Ryder, can I go back to your estimate?  You said one hour.  Is that ‑‑


MR. RYDER:  I said one hour to one hour and 15 minutes.  I think I can keep to the one hour.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Ryder.  Why don't you proceed?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. RYDER:

MR. RYDER:  Yes.  I filed a factum, and in tab 1 of the factum I've included the Russell decision in the Court of Appeal.  And in tab 2 of the factum, I've included the case in the Supreme Court of Canada of Carey v Hunt, which I may refer to.


I've also filed a book of materials which has those two cases in it, and it also has, in tab 3, an excerpt from Union's evidence in EBRO 405‑2, which was made an exhibit in the NGEIR decision.  That's at tab 3 of my book of materials.


My motion seeks to review only those parts of the NGEIR decision that relate to the approval given to the aggregate excess method which Union proposed and which Enbridge has now, just now, adopted to determine the level of cost‑based storage to be allocated for seasonal load‑balancing to in-franchise customers, including the gas utility of Kitchener.


And the second part of the NGEIR decision is -- the one that we're seeking a review on is the one related to the cap that it placed on cost‑based storage to be retained as available for Union's in-franchise customers.  And the Board placed the cap at 100 pJs.


Now, as a general sort of overarching position, I'm submitting that the grounds set out in my factum meet the Board's threshold at two levels.  The first is the jurisdictional level, in the sense that the Board has the requisite statutory power to review on each of the grounds that we've asserted, and the second is the discretionary level, in that I submit that the grounds that we are intending are of sufficient importance to warrant a reconsideration. 


And I say that for three reasons:  First, because, as everybody will acknowledge, the NGEIR decision raises issues of tremendous importance for Ontario and, if left undisturbed, will severely impact Ontario consumers, including my client; and, secondly, because, as others have argued, the NGEIR raises novel issues.  And this is not an ordinary rate-case matter where issues have been dealt with before and will be dealt with later.  These issues have only been dealt with once, and it's appropriate, therefore, considering their importance, that the Board get it right and that they be subjected to a second examination.


And, thirdly, because the individual grounds that we have asserted, my client has asserted, meet the threshold test, and these are received a variety of descriptions.  


For example, it's been said that the errors must be capable of affecting the outcome of the decision.  We say that's true for our grounds.


Secondly, it's been said that the errors must give reason to believe that the decision is incorrect, which is probably just saying the same thing in different terms, and we say that the grounds I'm asserting meet that test.


Now, dealing with the jurisdictional points, the only points I want to add that haven't been addressed extensively are two.  First is the point which Mr. Moran touched on, that where the legislature has given a wide power of review, as it's done here in the Statutory Powers Procedure Act, then the Board by its own rules or by its own jurisprudence cannot cut down that jurisdiction, and, in effect, amend the application of the Statutory Powers Procedure Act to it.  And that's the lesson of the Russell case.  


And notwithstanding Mr. Moran's examination of that case, there's more gold to be mined there, if I could just turn to it.


It began as ‑‑ when the City of Toronto passed a bylaw that prohibited existing owners of ravine lots from building.  So the owners appealed to the OMB, and the first panel dismissed the appeal after three weeks of hearing and twelve expert witnesses.


So the first panel's hearing at the OMB was an extensive one, not unlike the NGEIR case.


The owners then applied for a review, and the review panel had a one‑day hearing and granted the review.  And the basis of the review panel's decision was that the first panel had ignored a longstanding policy of the board, the OMB, which applied when the city passed bylaws of this nature.


So the facts are not unlike the NGEIR facts, in that this is ‑‑ because in NGEIR, we say the Board ignored the effect that its approval of aggregate excess storage allocation method would have on rates.


So then the city appealed to the Divisional Court, and the reason that -- the Court of Appeal's decision that you have in front of you, when it describes the Divisional Court decision, the reason that the Divisional Court decision is important is because it echoes the very positions that our opponents are asserting to you today in their factums, and those positions of the Divisional Court was overturned on appeal.


The main reason the Divisional Court said that the review panel can't set aside the review panel's decision was that it said the review panel can't substitute its opinion for that of the original pan.


So, again, the Divisional Court is echoing the argument of our opponents here, who say that you can't review merely to re-argue the merits.


And in addition, the Divisional Court also relied on the fact that the OMB had issued self-imposed restrictions on its review power which were invalid.


So when we get to the Court of Appeal, it sets aside the Divisional Court's decision, restores the order of the review panel, and it makes the point that Mr. Moran has argued, that where the Act gives you a power of review, you can't limit that power by reference to your rules or by your self-imposed jurisprudence.


The second point on your jurisdiction is the reliance that our opponents make -- they rely on the jurisprudence of the Ontario Labour Relations Board.  And I say that has no application to this Board for a couple of reasons.


The main reason is that the Labour Board panels are tripartite in nature.  They have a neutral chair, an employer representative, and a union representative.  And these are cases between unions and employers.  So you have on the panel built-in advocates for both sides.


So if errors of law or policy are being suggested when the panel deliberates, then there are built-in advocates to screen those out.


The second difference between the Labour Board and this Board, and the most important differences that the Labour Board has a built-in review process.  They have what they call a full board meeting.  And it's a process that takes place after the first draft and before the final decision.


So -- and it can review anything except the facts.  And the reason it can't review the facts is because of the law that he or she who hears must decide.  But it can review questions of policy and questions of law.


So here, at the Ontario Energy Board, you don't have a tripartite panel with advocates for the parties to ensure that the facts are considered correctly, and you don't have the full board meeting process to correct for errors of law and policy before the decision is issued.


So here, you are in the same position as the OMB, and that means, I submit, that the Court of Appeal decision in Russell is directly applicable to you.


So let me turn, then, to the Board's discretion.  And here I will devote my argument to explaining the errors in the decision respecting storage allocation and attempt to establish them as arguable issues for review purposes.  That is, that if corrected, they could affect the outcome of the case.


The first error is the failure of the Board to take into account the fact that the level of storage space allocated in any year on or before November 1 for in-franchise customers, for load-balancing purposes, will affect the rates.


And in the result, the Board erred by selecting a method which unnecessarily adds to customers' rates.  And in that respect, it selected a method which is contrary to the requirements of sections 2 and 36 of the Act.


And the reason storage allocation affects rates can be summarized as follows.  First of all, storage injected on or before November 1 in each year is a major source of the gas supply needed to serve customers during the wintertime.  But it is just one of a number of components of the various sources of supply, which also include, for example, the annual transportation contracts, which furnish an even supply over the course of a 12-month year, and winter spot-gas purchases.


It's acknowledged by Union that the cost of winter spot purchases exceeds the cost of gas purchased and stored before November 1.


Now, we say that the Act requires the Board to ensure that utilities, under its regulation, avoid unnecessary costs.  Section 2(2) requires the Board to protect the interests of consumers with respect to prices for gas service, and section 36(2) establishes the standard for gas rates and that they must be just and reasonable.


And the Board has decided in its jurisprudence that rates which include unnecessary costs do not meet the standard of just and reasonable rates.  And there is a decision out to that effect recently issued for Enbridge's rates in EB-2005-001, which I didn't put into my factum, and then I just refer you to my paragraphs 10.9.6, and 14.3.4, which makes that proposition.


Oh, 10.9.26.  I'm corrected.


Now, therefore, if you allow Union to include in its rates, or, indeed Enbridge, costs which are unnecessary, then section 2 is broken because you haven't protected the interests of Ontario consumers, and section 36 is broken because the rates aren't just and reasonable.  So the result of these two provisions mean that the appropriate level of storage as of November 1 depends on a least-cost mix of the various supply options, assuming always normal weather.  And the least-cost mix of supply options will vary each year depending on the forecasted prices of the various supply options.


Now, because the least-cost mix varies, the optimal or least-costing storage allocation cannot be a fixed amount, it will vary each year, depending on the forecast of the pricing of the various options that are out there.


For example, the evidence in the NGEIR case shows that Enbridge determined the least-cost mix for each upcoming winter through a computer program called Sendout.  And Enbridge's approach is described in detail in volume 6 between pages 67 and 70.  So, when the Board says in its decision in NGEIR that Enbridge uses a method similar to aggregate excess, I don't know where the Board got that conclusion, but it ignores the evidence in volume 6, pages 66 to 70.


Union, on the other hand, while it also uses Sendout, but not for storage, it uses Sendout to -- it fixes storage by aggregate excess, and then it finds out the optimal or least-costing mix of all its other supply options by this computer program called Sendout.


So the point is for Union that its approach makes no attempt whatever to achieve a least-cost result when allocating storage.  Union is indifferent to the cost consequences of its storage allocation. 


Now, that has cost implications, as you might expect. 


The cost involved or created by fixing storage allocation by aggregate excess, instead of allowing it to be solved by Sendout, over the next five years of Union's existing gas supply plan exceeded $9 million.  And the evidence there is at Exhibit J12.2, at pages 44, 47 and 50.  It's also in volume 12 between pages 83 and 84.


And those facts which I've asserted in my factum haven't been disputed by Union, so I assume that I don't need to address them in detail, but if a dispute arises with respect to the accuracy of those facts, then I've got two points to make.


One is that because we're dealing with this now at sort of a jurisdictional threshold level, I say that the law is that you should assume that the facts asserted by the applicant are correct for your determination at this threshold level.


And that's the position of the Supreme Court of Canada in the Hunt v Carey case, which was a decision respecting a motion to strike a statement of claim for want of jurisdiction. 


And I submit that the observations in that case are applicable here, because we are dealing with this matter at a threshold level.


And if that position isn't acceptable and there's a dispute at the end of the day as to the facts, then I would reserve my right of reply.


But in any event, the main point is that aggregate excess makes no attempt and is not geared to achieving a least‑cost result.  It may in some years, but that would be fortuitous.  It's not geared to do that.


Now, when the Board failed to recognize the effect of storage on rates, its decision is set out at page ‑‑ on this point is set out at page 96.  And it also didn't see the relationship between storage allocation and any specific gas-supply plan.


So in the last paragraph of page 96, the Board addresses our argument, but I do believe it missed the point of our argument.  It says, the second line -- third line down:

"Kitchener argued that Union makes no attempt to produce a least‑cost gas supply plan which optimizes the level of cost‑based storage for in-franchise customers."


Well, by "optimizing", I mean least costing.  I don't mean maximizing the amount.  I'm saying least costing.


And then it goes on:

"The argument seems to be that if Kitchener's least‑cost supply plan advice were followed, Union would allocate more cost‑based space to its bundled in-franchise customers, which would then cause Union to realize that all in-franchise customers should also get more cost‑based storage."


Well, that's not really my point.  My point is that it wouldn't necessarily increase the amount of storage allocation, but it generally would.

"In the Board's view, the method of allocating cost‑based storage should not be linked to any specific gas supply plan."


Well, I submit that that section of the Board's decision is a manifest error.  Storage allocation, as of November 1, is one of the components of the gas-supply plan.  The gas-supply plan is pregnant with storage allocated as of November 1, so it's got to be linked to the gas-supply plan.


So it is patently unreasonable, I submit, to suggest that there is no link between the two.


In any event, the result of the Board's decision is that it has approved a method without regard to the fact that it creates unnecessary costs and, over the five years of the current plan, has $9 million in unnecessary costs.


So I submit that this is an error that should be reviewed.  Surely any decision which allows a utility to add unnecessarily to its costs runs against the fundamental statutory duty of the Board to protect customers and it runs against its own jurisprudence.  And, therefore, it gives reason to believe that the decision is incorrect.


Now, let me turn to the second error with respect to storage allocation, and that is that it doesn't call ‑‑ it doesn't cover all of the load‑balancing requirements of Ontario consumers.  In particular, it doesn't cover the reserve for March 31 of each year which is planned for load‑balancing purposes.


Now, this is described -- this reserve is described in tab 3 of my book of materials.


MR. SCHUCH:  Madam Chair, perhaps now would be a good time to assign an exhibit number to this book.  I have cases and materials relied on by the City of Kitchener.  Is this the book that we'd be looking at?


MR. RYDER:  Yes.  Yes, it is.


MR. SCHUCH:  Thank you.  That would be Exhibit J1.8.


EXHIBIT NO. J1.8:  BOOK OF AUTHORITIES AND MATERIALS 


OF CITY OF KITCHENER. 

MR. RYDER:  Now, this is an excerpt.


MS. NOWINA:  Will you give me a moment, Mr. Ryder?  I'm trying to find your book of materials.  When did you file it, Mr. Ryder?


MR. RYDER:  I filed it about Thursday -- Wednesday or Thursday.  I filed ten copies.


A lot of my filings seem to be mislaid by the Board between the 26th --


MS. NOWINA:  Well, we don't seem to have it.  I don't, so I'll get a copy of it from the Board Staff, if I can.  I must have left it in my office, Mr. Ryder.  Thank you.


You can go ahead.


MR. RYDER:  Could I ask you the turn, please, to page 4 of tab 3?  And this is, as I say, an excerpt from Union's prefiled evidence in EBRO 405-02, and it addresses the storage inventories, the two control points that Union plans to achieve on a planning basis, one on March 1 of each year and one on March 31.


And the evidence in NGEIR in volume 12 shows that this planning process continues today in the same way.


The March 31 control point deals with ‑‑ is addressed at the bottom of page 4, where the evidence states:

"A second and equally important target is a working inventory level that must be on hand on March 31, the year‑end minimum inventory.  Inventory will continue to be drawn down until April 15.  Union assumes that on April 15 summer gas starts to fill the pools for the next year.  Therefore, the year‑end minimum inventory is the inventory that is necessary, along with forecasted supplies, to meet demand that may occur during the first two weeks of April."


Now, in volume 12 of the NGEIR at pages 41, 43, 48 and 49, that requirement as it currently exists was given in evidence.


Now, the NGEIR decision states that the purpose of any storage-allocation method is to meet the reasonable load‑balancing needs, assuming a normal winter.


It says that at pages 85 and 96, and perhaps elsewhere.


And we have no objection to that formulation of the test or guiding principle to base your storage allocation on, providing you recognize that, in any given year, the appropriate level may vary.


Okay.  So that's the test.  But it has to be remembered that the Board has approved for Union a storage reserve on March 31, and the storage reserve on March 31 has a number of purposes, but one of them is for load-balancing.  And this is an annual, ongoing, it's a planned requirement.  It's not dependent on colder-than-normal conditions.


Now, the problem with aggregate excess is that it is exhausted on March 31.  So aggregate excess can't contribute to the March 31 reserve for load-balancing.  Therefore, aggregate excess by definition doesn't cover the reasonable load-balancing requirements of Ontario consumers, assuming normal weather.


So, based on the Board's own test for storage allocation, aggregate excess is insufficient.  So, in the result, the Board has failed to respond to its own test, and it has failed to provide the protection Ontario customers are entitled to for their normal load-balancing requirements.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Ryder, you seem to be arguing the merits of the case.  And although I know it's a grey area, can you draw a line between your discussion of the merits and the threshold question for me?


MR. RYDER:  Well, yes, I'm stressing the merits because I want to show that the issue is a real one.  So I have to delve into the merits a bit.  And secondly, I don't believe the Board understood the point last time, and I don't want to make that mistake twice.  But I am done with the merits on this point.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.


MR. RYDER:  So we say that the Board should review this error for a number of reasons.  The decision seems to assume that there is no load-balancing requirement after March 31, which is contrary to a whole host of Union proposals and Board approvals of those proposals respecting a reserve for March 31.


And secondly, as I say, having established a test for the storage allocation, it is certainly unreasonable to leave out one of the elements of that test, that is, one of the elements of reasonable load-balancing requirements.


And also, there are probably cost consequences to this error which are which are in addition to the unnecessary costs of over $9 million that I referred to in my first error, because in a year, when there's no storage reserve to meet the -- there's no gas in storage by aggregate excess to meet this reserve, then they've got to furnish the deficiency by winter purchasing, which is expensive.


So that completes my submissions with respect to the errors on storage allocation that relate to all in-franchise customers.


And contrary to what Mr. Thompson says, it is not a Kitchener-only issue, it's an issue that affects all in-franchise customers, and it's an issue that arises directly from sub-issue 4 of issue 2 in the NGEIR proceedings.  So it's an issue of general concern. 


Now, let me turn to the errors that will result when the aggregate excess decision in NGEIR is applied specifically to Kitchener.


Now, the NGEIR decision ruled that aggregate excess meets the reasonable load-balancing requirements of Kitchener.  There is no evidence to that effect.  And the evidence that is directed to the point goes all the other way, that aggregate excess is insufficient.


So, to address this issue, let me first begin with the proposition that Kitchener is not an end-use customer.  It is a public utility, and as such it has a firm obligation to serve and provide customers with a quality and reliability of service that matches provincial standards.  Kitchener doesn't set provincial standards, the Board does.  The Municipal Act specifically requires Kitchener to meet responsible standards.  And the Board's rule-making powers under section 44 give it the regulatory responsibility of establishing standards for Kitchener.


Now, the Board doesn't regulate Kitchener's rates, but it does regulate or is responsible for the quality and reliability of its service and so it has a responsibility to Kitchener in that respect.  And it also has a responsibility to Kitchener as a customer of Union.


So I say that Kitchener is entitled to the Board's protection to ensure that it receives a storage allocation that allows it to meet its reasonable load-balancing requirements.


Now, the Board hasn't told Kitchener what those are.  But it has set standards for Union, and Kitchener is in the middle of Union's territory.  So I say that if Kitchener can -- a reasonable -- sorry.  Evidence of the reasonable load-balancing requirements of Kitchener can be found by examining the requirements that the Board has set for Union.


And the Board has set two storage inventory requirements for Union.  The first that is on March 1, it have enough gas in storage in inventory to meet design day demand; and the second is on March 31, that it has a reserve.


And the current reserve in Union's planning calls for 5.6 Bcf, and a portion of that is for load-balancing.



Now, Kitchener has never received an aggregate excess allocation with Union.  We've always, up until now, we are under a contractual, negotiated allocation, which is some 10.6 percent higher than Union.


So the question is:  What is an appropriate level of allocation for Kitchener's load-balancing needs?


And there is evidence as to whether its contractual level of allocation was adequate.  And that was evidence that in the past five years there was only one occasion when its contractual allowance was insufficient to meet its load-balancing requirements.


But that evidence relates to the sufficiency of the contractual level, not aggregate excess.  On the question of whether aggregate excess meets the reasonable load-balancing requirements of Kitchener, the evidence was that it would not, because respecting the control point of March 1, Mr. Quinn's evidence was that an aggregate excess allocation would have put Kitchener at risk in five out of the past six years, because there wouldn't have been enough gas in storage on that date to allow Kitchener to exercise its full deliverability from storage.


Now, for the control point on March 31, the evidence is that aggregate excess would not have provided any storage reserve, because at that date aggregate excess is planned, designed, to be exhausted.


So given those two points, the evidence in NGEIR established aggregate excess as inadequate for Kitchener's load‑balancing requirements, assuming that Kitchener is to receive and discharge the same standards of reliability and quality of service that the Board has set for Union's customers.  


And, as I say, the Municipal Act requires the City to meet provincial standards, and the Board is the body responsible for establishing them.


Now, the Board didn't refer to any of the evidence with respect to the impact of aggregate ‑‑ the impact aggregate excess could have on Kitchener.


Instead, at page 95, the Board observed that Kitchener's storage was only insufficient in one out of the past five years, but that goes to its contractual allocation, not its aggregate excess allocation.


So that's why I say that respecting the basic question for Kitchener as to whether aggregate excess is sufficient, there is no evidence, and, indeed, the evidence is to the contrary.


So we say that a decision reached in the absence of evidence is an error of law.  It's also an injustice.  And, thirdly, I submit that had the Board considered the evidence respecting the insufficiency of aggregate excess, it is distinctly possible that it would have said that aggregate excess is not approved for Kitchener.  


And, finally, as a public utility, Kitchener, I submit, has a public-interest claim to being able to meet its load‑balancing obligations at reasonable cost.


Now, by that, I mean by using storage and not by being forced to employ the unnecessary costs of the alternatives to storage.  There's always alternatives to storage, but they are expensive.  And I submit that as a consumer in Ontario, Kitchener is protected by the provisions of section 2, which protect it from being forced to resort to the more expensive alternatives to storage.


Now, that's all I have to say with respect to the aggregate excess approach.  Next I wish to turn to the question of the Board's cap.


I say that, as you know, the Board placed a cap at 100 pJs of the amount of cost‑based storage available for Union's in-franchise customers, and that compares with the existing use that in-franchise customers were making of cost‑based storage of 92 pJs.


So the Board made an allowance for growth, but observed that the cap would not be reached by in-franchise use for between five to 17 years, depending on the rate of growth.


Now, I submit that this decision should be considered because it, too, is contrary to the Board's mandate in the Act, its statutory mandate to protect the Ontario public interest.


The basis of the Board's decision is set out at page 82, and it's that:

"The cap is necessary to avoid a possible recall by Union from the ex-franchise market."


And the argument in the Board's decision is that this would adversely affect the ex-franchise market, so it would be inconsistent with the Board's finding that the ex-franchise market is competitive.


I have two observations with respect to this point.  The first is if -- the fact of a recall by Union of some of its storage from the ex-franchise market, if that were to adversely affect the ex-franchise market, then that market can't be competitive, because if one seller in a competitive market withdraws a portion of its offerings and the market is a competitive one, then it shouldn't matter.


But the more important observation is that the Board's mandate is not to protect competitive markets outside of Ontario; rather, its mandate is to protect the Ontario consumer.  And while the cap at 100 pJs allows for some growth so it won't immediately affect the Ontario consumer, the cap will be reached between 2012 and 2024.  That's between five and 17 years from now.


Now, that's not far off, and if the public interest requires a margin for growth today in 2007, then the public interest will surely require it in five to 17 years from now when the cap is reached.  


And when it is reached, it is my submission that the Board will have wished it had reviewed the decision in 2007, because, when the cap is reached, this decision will be responsible for adding significantly to the costs of energy in Ontario, to the detriment of the Ontario consumer.


And that, I submit, is a result which is contrary to the Act, which requires you to protect the Ontario consumer.


Now, I've got two other points.  The first is a fact of which I submit supports a reconsideration respecting all of the grounds that I've advanced, and that is that there are rights of appeal to the Divisional Court and to a petition to Cabinet.


And I agree with Mr. Thompson on this point, that because of the importance of these issues, when either the Divisional Court or the cabinet considers these issues, it will want to have the opinion of the Board on the points that they have to decide.  Indeed, I submit that a failure of the Board to address these points, given the significance to the province of these points, will reflect badly on the Board.


Now, Enbridge has argued at paragraph 38 of its factum that the possibility of such appeals are irrelevant, because the time to appeal has expired.


Well, two points.  I think there is the right to obtain an extension of those times, but, secondly, it's noted that times run from the date of the Board's order.  And while there has been a rate order in Union's recent rate case, and I think also in Enbridge, which implements the NGEIR decision with respect to Union's rates, there is no order approving aggregate excess, there is no order approving the freeze or the cap, and there is no order, unless I'm mistaken, overriding the T1 contracts.


And aggregate excess itself, under the Board's decision, is not applicable or is not to be applicable to Kitchener until April 1, 2008.  So the order respecting 2007 rates for Union wouldn't touch that.


So I think it can be said that there is no order affecting the aggregate excess cap issues.


And secondly on this point, I have minutes of settlement in my office in a case between Kitchener, the Board and Union, in a case before the Divisional Court, where a protocol agreement was -- where the Board agreed to implement a protocol to be followed between the draft order and the final order, where the draft order is circulated and parties have an opportunity to respond to it before the final order is reached.


Now, I can't say whether that settlement agreement applies to all future rate cases or all future decisions, but I know that since then the protocol has been followed.  And there has been no such protocol followed with respect to the implementation of NGEIR.


So I submit that, even if there is an order that attempts to implement the NGEIR decision on the points that we want reviewed, then I submit that the Board should consider withdrawing that order so that -- because it wouldn't want to be seen to be unnecessarily obstructing the right of appeal to the Divisional Court or to the Cabinet.


And the final point I wish to make is that there are advantages of a separate panel should a review be ordered.


First of all, because of the significance and the novelty of these issues, it's appropriate that a different set of eyes or a second look be allowed, and a review by the same panel will not be seen as a proper review.


Secondly, it's been suggested that he who hears must decide, and therefore you're going to have to rehear all the evidence.  Well, that's nonsense.  The example of the Russell case shows that they had a one-day hearing for the review process but that followed a three-week original  hearing, with 12 expert panels.


So it's not necessary to rehear all the evidence.


The phrase "he who hears must decide" comes from an examination of the Labour Board's practice of a full board meeting, which is not a review process at all.  It's a process that takes place before the final decision is issued, and it merely stipulates that that practice cannot touch the facts, only the original panel can address the facts.  The full board participants can only deal with questions of policy and law.  But that is before the review takes place.  That's before the decision is issued.  So it's not a requirement that relates to a review after the decision has been made.  


I hope that observation makes sense, but that completes my submissions.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Ryder.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Ryder, just one question.  I do have Mr. Thompson's factum or IGUA's factum, to which Mr. Thompson spoke today.  And if you have that, sir, in front of you, I would ask you to turn to paragraph 84.


MR. RYDER:  Yes.  Thank you.


MR. VLAHOS:  You see the very last paragraph of that section?  It's under (E), (E)(j).  I wasn't clear whether you endorsed that statement by Mr. Thompson or not that pertains to T1 customers, which would imply Kitchener.


MR. RYDER:  No, we support that position.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.


MR. RYDER:  And we supported it in the main hearing --


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.


MR. RYDER:  -- that grandfathering should be permitted.  Should be continued.  As sort of an alternative.  But it doesn't correct the main defects of the aggregate excess allocation, which will have an ongoing impact on rates.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  I understand that, sir.


And finally, I wasn't sure what I should take from the very last discussion about:  There is no order, technically there's no order, in your view, approving either the aggregate excess, the cap or overriding the T1 contracts.  So I wasn't sure what the point was for me to take away -- sorry, there's still time for the courts, in terms of appeals to the courts?  Is that the point?


MR. RYDER:  The OEB Act gives the right of appeal to the Divisional Court 30 days after the Board's order.  And the right of appeal to the Cabinet, to petition to the Cabinet, 29 days, I think, after the Board's order.


So the time begins to run on the Board's order.  And is there may be -- I can stand corrected -- there may be a right of -- to obtain relief from that time limit.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  So therefore the parties still have an opportunity.  Following that train of thought of yours, the parties still have an opportunity to appeal to the courts?


MR. RYDER:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Without this threshold issue, they could have done that any time as long as -- an order would have to be eventually issued to implement those findings; correct?


MR. RYDER:  I --


MR. VLAHOS:  Based on your understanding of it?


MR. RYDER:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.


MR. RYDER:  I don't think it would be appropriate to go to the court or to the Cabinet first, before coming here.  But it was open to them.


MR. VLAHOS:  But your position is it was still open to them.


MR. RYDER:  It's still open to them.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you very much.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Ryder.  We will take a break for 20 minutes and resume at 4 o'clock to hear Mr. DeVellis first.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 3:40 p.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 4:05 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Mr. DeVellis.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DeVELLIS:

MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I'm going to try and stick to my ten-minute estimate.  I'm going to confine my remarks to the motions of CCC, VECC and IGUA and also to the threshold question that was the first question asked by the Board.  


Mr. Warren, Mr. Janigan and Mr. Thompson have made ample submissions on the application of that test, and we don't wish to revisit what they've said, except to say that we support those submissions.


Now, we've chosen to the address the threshold issue by looking at the plain reading of the Board's rules, as well as to issues of regulatory efficiency and fairness.  As others have argued, we also believe that a review based on an alleged error of fact is a broad form of review, and we should distinguish that form of review from the others listed in Rule 44.01 that are relating to new evidence or change in circumstances.


Where a review is based on new evidences, it is legitimate for the Board to ask at the outset whether that evidence could have been adduced at the hearing and whether it would have made a difference to the outcome if it had been adduced at that time.  And, indeed, there is language to that effect in Rule 44.01(a)(4), which states:

"The grounds may include facts that were not previously placed in evidence in the proceeding and could not have been discovered by reasonable diligence at the time."


So, in our respectful submission, there is a distinction made within the rules between a review based on an error of fact as opposed to other forms of review which are as a result of new circumstances or new evidence.  And where the review is based on alleged error of fact, the application should be heard on the merits in most cases.


And I think a distinction needs to be made here between the standard of review and a threshold question.  Some of the decisions, the previous Board decision that have been put before you by Enbridge and Union refer to the standard of review and not a threshold question.  


For example, the RP‑2003‑0063 decision, which is at tab 5 of the Union book of materials at page 4, you'll see that the portion of the decision highlighted by Union is under a heading which is called "Standard of Review."


And nowhere in that decision is there a reference to Rule 45.01, which is the rule which sets out the threshold test that the Board may apply.


And the same is the case in the decision at tab 3 of the Union materials, which is the Board's decision with reasons on the motion in RP‑2001‑0032.  And the distinction between standard of review and a threshold question is important for our purposes, because standard of review implies that the Board has reviewed the decision on the merits, and is deciding ‑‑ in deciding what standard of review should be applied, is deciding essentially what level of deference should be given to the original Board Panel.


And so where, for example, a decision is based on ‑‑ rather, a review is based on alleged error of fact, in order to avoid sort of a floodgate argument, you could have a situation where you have a standard of review which gives a certain degree of deference to a decision of the original Board Panel because they were the ones who heard the evidence, but the threshold question would still be ‑‑ rather, the threshold test would still be a low one, so that the decision -- or, rather, the application could be heard on the merits and the applicants could set out in detail why they believe that the Board's decision was in error.


And we should also distinguish between a threshold test under this Board's rules and that in other forums.  I have set out in our factum an example from the Rules of Civil Procedure, and that's at paragraph 6 of our factum.  You don't have to turn it up, but we refer to the Rule 62.02(4) of the Rules of Civil Procedure, which deals with the test for granting leave to appeal from an interlocutory order of a judge, and a leave to appeal application, in my view, is similar to a threshold question that we're dealing with.  The question is whether the applicant should be allowed to argue its appeal on the merits.


And the test there is that leave to appeal shall not be granted unless ‑‑ and there's two and -- there's a conflicting decision by another judge or court in Ontario or elsewhere, or, subparagraph (b):

"There appears to the judge hearing the motion good reason to doubt the correctness of the order in question and the proposed appeal involves matters of such importance that, in his or her opinion, leave to appeal should be granted."


And others have made reference to the labour-relations context, which is a tribunal which deals with a much higher volume of cases and also deals with a number of ‑‑ a high proportion of unrepresented parties.


And so both of these are instances, are examples, of situations where, for policy reasons, the rules seek to limit reviews to certain narrowly prescribed circumstances.


That is not the case with the Board's rules, which provide a wide range of grounds for review, including error of fact, which, as I said, we believe is a broad form of review, and also the threshold question, Rule 45, is not mandatory.  I believe Mr. Moran pointed you to that, and it's also mentioned in our factum, that the Board could skip that phase of the inquiry altogether and proceed directly to hear the appeal on the merits or the review on the merits.


And so that, I would submit, is an indication that the threshold test for this Board is much lower than we see in other forums, and I would submit that there are very good reasons for this.  


The Board's decisions are relatively few in number, but have enormous public policy implications.  And, in particular, in NGEIR, I would say that's especially true for the NGEIR decision, and so, as others have said, it's especially important that the Board's decision be correct.


The other argument or point that I would like to make is that there are very important public-policy reasons to have a lower threshold on questions of correctness of the Board's decision.


I've mentioned one already, and that is that decisions of the Board are of such importance that it's crucial to ensure that they are correct.


And, secondly, applicants for review, to some extent, have to decide whether to seek review here or before the Divisional Court.  And I understand that there's no appeal of questions of fact to the Divisional Court, but I think it's evident that appeals of this type are of mixed fact and law, and often the question is not entirely clear whether it's an appeal based on law or on fact.


And so to some extent, I would argue that if a higher threshold were employed, we would see more appeals proceeding directly to Divisional Court.  And I would submit it's more expeditious and fair to have the review before this Board, who are experts in energy regulation.


Finally, on the issue of costs, the School Energy Coalition has acted responsibility in its proceeding by limiting its participation to avoid duplication of efforts of others, and we respectfully request that we be awarded 100 percent of our reasonably incurred costs.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.  Mr. Thomson.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. THOMSON:

MR. THOMSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Am I on?


I intend to address the three arguments.  First, I will address the scope of the Board's power of review or reconsideration.  And in doing so, I hope to delineate what I've called the applicable threshold test that the Board should apply in motions of this nature.  


Second, I intend to address the issue of whether the moving parties have satisfied the applicable threshold test.  I intend to address that issue very briefly, and then skip to the third issue, which is to address a number of the allegations that one of the moving parties, namely IGUA, has made concerning the conduct of the Board and of Board Staff in the hearing process.


In my submission, the allegations made by IGUA are without merit and they are unfounded.  So with that framework, may I turn, please, to the first submission, which is the scope of the Board's power of review. In my submission, it's critically important when you consider motions for review and reconsideration of this nature, to bear in mind what these motions are, but it's as important to bear in mind what they are not.  


It's also important, in my submission, to pay very careful attention to the statutory role and mandate of the OEB, and to differentiate the OEB from other types of adjudicators that have been referred to or considered in a number of the decisions that one of more of the moving parties have relied upon in support of their motions today.


It is crystal clear, in my submission, that motions for review and reconsideration are not appealed.  They're not appealed.  And I heard one counsel refer to this motion for review repeatedly as an appeal this morning, but they're simply not appeals.  Nor are there, in my submission, fora in which one panel of the Board either can or should simply re-hear a matter that another Board has already determined.  I say that there's no hint from the Ontario Energy Board Act itself or from the SPPA, the legislature of this province, either contemplated or intended, that one panel of the OEB would sit in appeal from a decision of another panel of the OEB.  That, in my submission, would place this panel in an untenable position.  


I say there's no hint in the prevailing case law or in the governing legislation that the government of Ontario somehow intended to create some sort of parallel Divisional Court at the level of the OEB that would confer upon the OEB such extraordinary jurisdiction.  It's simply not the way the law was intended to function, and in my submission, not the way that this Board has functioned throughout its history.


The OEB, of course, is not a superior court of record.  It has no inherent jurisdiction.  It cannot operate as if it has.


For that reason alone, a number of the cases relied upon by IGUA, in particular, in support of its claims concerning the manner in which the hearing of this matter was conducted are easily and readily distinguishable.


It is clear, based on the common law, that the OEB would have no power to review or reconsider its own decisions absent clear grounds of statutory authority to permit it to do so, for the very simple reason that because, as an inferior administrative tribunal, the OEB would be functus officio, to use a phrase that someone used this morning; that simply, once comprehensive decision had been finalized and rendered, this Board would be powerless to reconsider that decision, to amend it, to vary it, or to disagree with it, quite frankly, other than in another proceeding raising similar issues with different parties.  
And if you need an authority on that, you need look no further than Brown’s “A Text on Judiciary Review,” which is at our tab 1 at page 12 of 109.


There are sound reasons of principle and policy underlying that longstanding and well-recognized rule, not the least of which have been relied upon repeatedly by IGUA and CAC in other proceeding before this Board.  Therefore, the public interest and the finality of proceedings in regulatory efficiency and in certainty, each of those principles was recognized by the Supreme Court of Canada in its decision in Chandler and the Alberta Association of Architects.  That is in the Union brief of authorities at tab 4 at page 596.


So what is the source of this Board's power?  The starting point, in my submission, is section 21.2 of the SPPA, which is worth turning up briefly, and is our main brief of authorities, at tab 15.


So if you turn to tab 15 and look in particular at the second page, section 21.2 of the SPPA, you'll find wording that is critically important when you have regard to the submissions made by Mr. Moran and others concerning the Russell decision because, in my submission, they have quite seriously misread Russell.  Section 21.2 of the SPPA provides that:

"A tribunal may” - not must – “A tribunal may, if it considers it advisable and if its rules made under section 25.1 deal with the matter, review part of all of the decision of its own order, and may confirm, vary, suspend or cancel the decision or order."


21.2 deals with timing.  And then if you turn the page, you'll find 25.1, it is the rule-making power of the tribunal providing that:

"The tribunal may make rules governing the practice and procedure before it."


So then, going back to 21.2 for a moment.  It is clear, in my submission, on the face of the legislation that tribunals need not enact rules to provide for a power of review or reconsideration.  It is also clear based on the wording of 21.2 that when a tribunal does enact rules, the tribunal is given the discretion to craft those rules to suit its own purposes.  The tribunal is empowered as a matter of law to enact rules that confer upon itself the wide power of review or a narrow power of review.  It can tailor the rules to suit its own circumstances. And I'll come back to Russell in a moment, but Russell, in my submission, says nothing whatsoever to the contrary.


The scope of the Board's power of review is governed by its rules, not by section 21.2 of the SPPA.  21.2 of the SPPA is permissive in nature.


So put very simply, if a tribunal were to elect not to enact rules pursuant to 21.2 and section 25 of the SPPA, it would have no power of review, given the common law that I've referred to.  If it does enact rules, there's nothing, in my submission, in the wording of the SPPA, nothing in the Russell case, and nothing in the law as a whole that would require the tribunal to make an all-or-nothing choice either to have a plenary power of review or no power of review.  Again, it's a tailoring process that the tribunal is entitled to go through.


So if you accept the proposition, as in my submission, you should, that the SPPA does confer upon this tribunal and others a rule-making function that permits you to delineate and define the scope of any power of review or reconsideration that you choose to exercise, you then have to go back to the rules of the tribunal itself.  


And when you go back to the rules of the tribunal, you have to take a very careful look at what the rules say today; but also, in my submission, take a look at what the rules formerly said.  Because legislative evolution, as Driedger says in his text, at our brief of authorities, is a critically important component in understanding the lay of the land that you are currently faced with.


So with that regard, if you then go back into the brief of authorities one more tab, to tab 16, you'll find the old rules as they existed up until 2002.  The operative rule is rule 63.01, which at one time read that:

"Every notice of motion made under rule 62.01 was required to set out the grounds upon which the motion was made sufficient to justify a re-hearing or review or raise a question as to the correctness of the order or decision, which grounds may include..."


And number 1 was:

“Error of law or jurisdiction, including a breach of natural justice."


The next four remain in the current rules.  And then the last on the top of the next page, vi: 

“An important matter of principle that has been raised by the order of decision.” 

Those two aspects of the rule were deleted when the rules were amended in 2002.


So in 2002, two of the six grounds of review are deleted from the rules, number six and number one.  Most importantly, number one for the purposes of this motion, but also, when I listened to the submissions made earlier today, number six becomes relevant as well.


Number one is particularly relevant to the submissions made by IGUA, which raised squarely issues of jurisdiction, including alleged breaches of natural justice.


Now, why is this important?  And let me deal with one more point before I leave this aspect of the rule.  If you go down to 64.01, in this aspect of the old rules, you  you'll find the provision that my friend Mr. Moran referred to earlier today, which used to provide that: 

“The Board shall", i.e., must, "determine with or without a hearing in respect of a motion brought under Rule 62 the threshold question of whether the motion should be re-heard.”  


That has now been transformed to the word “may.”  So it's permissive in Rule 45.01.  The new rules are in the next tab, tab 17, where you'll find the analogous provisions.


So what do the existing rules now say?  Rule 42.01: 

“...permits any person to bring a motion requesting the Board to review all or part of a final order or decision and to vary, suspend or cancel the order or decision.”


Rule 43.01 is, in my submission, purely permissive in nature.  It uses the word "may" not the word "shall", and does so repeatedly.  Rule 43.01 provides that:

"the Board may at any time indicate its intention to review all or part of any order or decision and may confirm, vary, suspend or cancel the order or decision by serving an order on all parties to the proceeding."  


Again, discretionary in nature.  Then in terms of the grounds for review, in my submission, they are, in fact, set out in Rule 44.01, and you will see the deletion of two of the six grounds for review formerly provided for in the rules, again, up until 2002.


Then, finally, rule 45.01 again is permissive in nature, providing that:

"In respect of motions brought under rule 42.01, the Board may determine, with or without a hearing, a threshold question of whether the matters should be reviewed before conducting any review on the merits."


Now, the reason this is all, in my submission, critically important is that, unlike the Ontario Municipal Board, unlike the OMB in the Russell case, there is no direct power in the Ontario Energy Board Act itself to review or vary decisions of the tribunal, of this Board.  That's the distinguishing feature.  


So in Russell, what you were dealing with was a provision built into the statute of the OMB that directly and expressly conferred upon the OMB a virtually unfettered power to review its prior decisions.  And the law goes back for generations, saying that once a statutory power has been conferred upon a body like the OMB, the OMB cannot fetter that power by enacting rules that conflict with its constating statute, which is exactly what the OMB effectively did in that case by adopting rules of procedure that said, notwithstanding our statute, our constating statute, which says we have a broad, unfettered right to review and reconsider our own decisions, we will only do so in cases of manifest error.


That's what, in my submission, drove at least a part of the result in the Russell case before the Ontario Court of Appeal, and that was a restrictive view placed by the OMB on its own constating statute that arguably conflicted with that statute and was, therefore, obviously of some concern to the Ontario Court of Appeal.


What also drove the result in the Russell case was restrictive rights of appeal, because these two matters work hand in hand and they are, to some extent, symmetrical.  So in the OMB case, there was no right of appeal whatsoever.  Parties seeking to appeal a decision of the OMB had to seek leave to appeal, i.e., no right of appeal.  They had to seek a leave to appeal from the Divisional Court.  If leave was denied, there would be no appeal.  Even then, you could only seek leave to appeal on questions of law alone.


So those two features really drove the decision.  What the Ontario Court of Appeal objected to was the Ontario Divisional Court having set aside a decision of a review panel of the OMB in circumstances where, as the Court of Appeal held, the review panel was clearly applying the policies of the OMB to a specialized matter before it - namely, ravine control bylaws - in circumstances where the review panel was clearly given the right pursuant to the statute itself, section 43 of the OMB Act, to make the decision that it did. 


There was simply no basis for the Divisional Court to interfere with that review panel, and, therefore, the Court of Appeal held that the review panel itself made a quote/unquote manifest error in interfering ‑‑ the Divisional Court, rather, made a manifest error in interfering with the review panel in those circumstances.


So what's important about the Russell case?  The Russell case did not concern section 21 of the SPPA.  The Russell case did not concern the right or ability of tribunals of this nature to enact rules of procedure to breathe life into the review power provided for in section 21 of the SPPA.  


The Russell case did not concern the right or ability of tribunals of this nature to enact rules of procedure that tailor the power of review to the particular needs and circumstances of this tribunal.  There is not one word in the Russell case to that effect.  


So for counsel to make the submission that the Russell case somehow has direct application to the circumstances of this case, it has a direct impact on the power of review that this Board can or should exercise, you can effectively disregard the wording of your rules because of the Russell case, I say that I respectfully disagree.  


The case stands for no such proposition.  What you are governed by, in my submission, is two things.  First of all, you are governed by your own rule of procedure.  You cannot disregard the rules that this Board adopted in 2002, so the wording does matter.


And you have to pay careful attention to the legislative evolution of those rules.  You have to look at where they've come from.  You have to ask yourself the question:  Why is it that in 2002 -- in 2002 this Board changed its rules to delete two of the four grounds of review, and, indeed, to delete the two grounds of review that are most particularly relevant when you listen to the submissions made by the moving parties in this case today; i.e., rules of natural justice, errors of law, errors of jurisdiction and matters of principle that are of importance to the Board.  All those rules are now gone.


So there can't be any serious question, in my submission, that the power of review that the Board enjoys today is more restrictive than the power of review that the Board had up until 2002.  You might ask the question, Well, why, why then, would those rules have been enacted?  Why would the Board have adopted new rules in 2002 that deleted two of the six grounds?  Because, in my submission, you cannot find that explanation in Russell, for reasons I've just mentioned.


The more logical explanation is very simply that the rules were amended in circumstances where the legislation surrounding the activities of the Board was also substantially amended, and that is in 2002, in conjunction with the proclamation in force of the Energy Competition Act, in circumstances where the role and mandate of the Board changed dramatically, as did the scope of its operations and its jurisdiction, particularly in the electricity sector.


There are, as I understand it, several gas utilities, but there are more than 80 in the electricity sector.  One of the documents I looked at on the OEB's website two days ago indicated that the Board received more than 350 applications last year, and my understanding, again, is that the vast majority of those resulted either in oral or in written hearings.  


In circumstance where the Board only has nine commissioners, one can imagine how the Board would be able to handle the burden it might be exposed to if motions for review or reconsideration became the rule before the Board rather than the exception.


So I simply pose the hypothesis.  It may be one of the most cogent explanations as to why these rules were omitted in the way that they were.


That takes me back to the past decisions of the Board in respect of this issue of rights of reconsideration and review.  And, in my submission, those cases demonstrate that even before the new rules were adopted in 2002, that this Board took a restrictive view concerning the circumstances in which motions for reconsideration should be permitted.


And the changes to the rules reflected in 2002, to the best of my knowledge, have not been adverted to in any previous decision of the Board, at least of which I am aware.  In other words, the argument I'm making today has not been the subject of a previous decision of the Board, although one of the counsel this morning said that you should assume that, and the Board was fully aware of these changes.  In my submission, it's not an assumption that you can lightly make, because the argument concerning the change to the rules - why the change was made, the impact of the change, the circumstances surrounding the change - again, does not appear to have been adverted to in any previous decision.  And it clearly has not been dealt with by way of any decision made by the Board.


For that reason, the more recent decisions of the Board that postdate these changes should be read carefully and accordingly.  


I also say that in reviewing these previous decisions of the OEB, it is, in fact, useful to have regard to positions taken by one or more of the moving parties in today's proceedings concerning the proper scope of the Board's power of review, because the Board is entitled to insist that parties to proceedings before it take consistent positions from case to case and should treat arguments accordingly that don't follow that very simple mandate.


So what are the previous decisions?  I can do this quite quickly, because they're all in our brief of authorities.  I propose just to flip through them to give you the relevant passages, if I may, some of which have been alluded to previously by counsel.


The starting point is at tab 7 of the brief of authorities, a decision made in June of 1999 -- arising from the June 1999 application, rather.  This, of course, is under the old rules, rule 63.01.  The relevant portion of the report is at page 3.


The second full paragraph from the top of the page.  It's been sidebarred.  It says:

"The Board's attention was drawn to a number of cases in which the courts have considered powers of administrative tribunals to reconsider matters that have been the subject of their decisions.  Having reviewed the cases and heard submissions by the parties, the Board is of the view that the Board should not re-hear matters simply because one of the parties to the original application was dissatisfied with the result, or otherwise no matter might ever be finally determined."


So this reference to the submissions by the matters, what were the submissions?  If I can just ask you to make a note and give you a cross-reference.  You'll find the submissions made by the parties, in fact, the transcript of the submissions made by the parties, in the Enbridge brief of documents at tab 3, where you'll find a full transcript of the submissions made on that motion for re-hearing.  I'm not going to take the time to review with the Panel that transcript.  But let me ask you to draw, if you would, four observations from that transcript because in my submission, if you read it, you'll have to reach at least these four conclusions.


This, of course, is at a point in time before the rules were amended to delete grounds for review, including errors of law or jurisdiction, breaches of natural justice, and important matters of principle.


So what was the position taken in that case by IGUA and by CAC?  First, that the impact of a decision, that is, the consequences of a decision, is not a valid ground for review.  


Second, that there must be something new to justify a re-hearing that has not previously been considered by the Board and could not have been discovered through the exercise of reasonable diligence.  That's at pages 27 and 65 of the transcript.


Third, that a party cannot seek a review or reconsideration simply to advance again either claims or arguments that have been already been made and rejected.  That's at pages 65, 66, and 77.


And that, finally, the Board must adopt a restrictive view of its power of review because if it does not, it will undermine important considerations of finality and predictability that the parties and the public have a right to depend upon.  If decisions of the Board could be reviewed easily or on a trivial basis, the result would be - to use the phrase of one counsel in that case - administrative and policy chaos.  And that's at page 89.


At tab 8 you'll find next decision.  Again, in sequence of events.  This is June 29 of 2000.  Another application for re-hearing.  In circumstances where there are allegations of non-disclosure made against Enbridge regarding its failure to disclose the existence of an outsourcing plan pursuant to which 1,100 employees were to be transferred from Consumers Gas.  The relevant portion of the report is at page 14, paragraph 4.4, where the Board says that:

“The Board is not convinced that the company adequately disclosed its outsourcing plan to the Board and is critical of the company for failure to do so."


Paragraph 4.5.  The Board says:

"The company has an affirmative obligation to provide the Board with the best possible evidence.  It is not incumbent on the intervenors to ensure, through cross-examination of the company's witnesses, that the record is adequate and complete."


And then paragraph 4.6, where the Board says:

“However, the mere existence of new facts, change in circumstances or inadequately disclosed information is not, alone, sufficient to warrant a re-opening of the proceeding.  The matter must be relevant and material.  Minor or inconsequent changes to the proposed business plans of the utility are not sufficient to justify a review."


And then to page 16, in paragraph 4.13, the passage my friend read to you this morning where the Board says:

"The Board agrees with the company that ordering a review or a re-hearing is an extraordinary remedy and should not be undertaken lightly.  On the basis of the submissions, the Board is not convinced that the extensive review requested by the party is necessary.  This is especially true where there may be other remedies available."


And then the Board goes on to order a deferral account, and so on.


Then to tab 13, you'll find next decision, again, in time.  Again, I’m in the old rules, dealing with an application for re-hearing.  At page 11 of the decision, paragraph 3.26, the Board says that:

"CAC argued that regulatory agencies should only vary decisions in the clearest of circumstances.  IGUA questioned whether the Board should consider varying single components of a decision without reviewing the whole decision, and that where an applicant brings a motion to vary only one part of a lengthy and complex decision, the threshold should be high.”  


IGUA commented that what Union was attempting in this motion was to relitigate the case based on the same facts and highlighted a number of court cases where that was not permitted.


And then at page 15, under the heading "Board findings," the Board says:

"The Board agrees with the parties that the Board has wide discretion with regard to whether or not to review a matter that is the subject of a Board decision.  The Board is mindful of the concern that for the efficiency of the regulatory process, the proper and discretion to review should be exercised with caution.  However, the Board is of the view that Union's motion has met the threshold test on the grounds that an important issue has been raised.  

   "The Board believes that a review of the issues raised and the motion is appropriate, not entirely because of the strength of Union's arguments, but also because the matter raises issued associated with the implementation of a new regulatory regime involving the development of a PBR mechanism for the establishment of appropriate based data for setting rates under the PBR mechanism."


And then finally, under page 18, the Board goes on -- I won't read this to you, but if you read paragraph 3.53 all the way to 3.57, you'll find the details of the Board's decision concerning the PBR issue.


So those are the three decisions that we collected dealing with applications for review under the old rules.  If you then turn to tab 12, you'll find the first decision that takes place, at least in time, under the new rules, and one of this panel was a member of that panel.  Again, an application for review.  


If I can ask you again to make a cross-reference in terms of where the submissions are in the record in this proceeding that were made in that case, the submissions made by Mr. Thompson of IGUA are at tab 5 of Enbridge's documents book, and the submissions made by Mr. Warren are at tab 6 of Enbridge's documents brief.  And suffice to say that they take the position that the power of review should be restrictively applied for the reasons that are set out in the Enbridge factum.


The case itself, the relevant portion's at page 4.  It involves a very brief description of the Board's consideration of this issue.


At the bottom of page 4, second-last paragraph, where the Board says:

“Having considered the motion and the supporting material filed by EGDI, the Board find that EGDI has not established that there are errors in fact, changed circumstances, or new evidence that was not reasonable available at the time of the hearing which would raise a question as to the correctness of the Board's decision."


So what the Board effectively does is apply the very grounds of review that are provided for in Rule 44 of the Board's rules.  It does not purport to go beyond that or say that there was some other basis upon which a review could be conducted.


And then with respect to the new evidence test.  If you go to page 5 of the Board's decision, you'll see a sidebar portion right in the middle of the page where the Board says:

"Having reviewed the material filed by EGDI, the Board is of the view that there is nothing new in the two affidavits that could not have been put in the record during the course of the hearing, and therefore EGDI has not met the test under Rule 44.01."


Again, the Board is simply applying the rules as the Board found them.


Tab 11 of this brief of authorities is the next decision in time.  Again, an application for re-hearing.  The relevant portion of the report is paragraph 17 on page -- the top of page 3 where the Board said:

"The Board agrees with the submissions made by the CAC that regulatory agencies should not review and vary their decisions except in unusual circumstances.  However, the RP-2003-0048 proceeding has consisted of little but unusual circumstances.  The application has been driven by practicalities as well as regulatory principles.  The Board reiterates that its findings in this proceeding including this variant should not be regarded as a precedent for future applications."


So this decision is something that can’t really give you much guidance because of its unusual circumstances.  


If you then go back to tab 9, you'll find the next decision in time, one that was referred to, I believe, early this morning.  The relevant portion of this report is at page 4 under the heading "Standard of Review", where the Board said:

"The counsel for the Industrial Gas Users' Association stated that the Board should only vary or cancel an order of a previous panel in unusual circumstances."  


In the Enbridge decision of October 10, 2003, the Board stated: 

"The Board agrees with the submissions made by the CAC that regulatory agencies should not review and vary their decisions except in unusual circumstances.  In this case, the Board has allowed the applicant to proceed and make detailed submissions with regard to the rationale for the ESM and the various condition related to it, notwithstanding the fact that the applicant had full opportunity to address those matters in the earlier proceedings."  


In the specific circumstances of this decision, the Board recognized that confirmation or clarification might be helpful, suggesting that this is obviously a special case, although the circumstances as to why it's a special case were not spelled out in the decision.  Which then takes you back to tab 6, where you find a case that my friend, Mr. Warren, relied upon, as did Mr. Thompson, in particular, rendered October 6th of 2005.  


The relevant portion of this report is at page 7.  The first full paragraph in the top of the page, where the Board said that:

"This is not a hearing of the application de novo.  In considering a motion to vary, the Board considers whether new evidence has been presented by the applicant or whether the original panel made an error in law or principle, so as to justify the reversal of the original decision."


I would simply make this observation, that there is no consideration in the decision as to the wording of the SPPA.  There is no consideration in the decision to the Board's previous or existing rules.  There is no consideration in the decision of any previous decision of the Board.


So it is, at best, unclear as to why the Board made that particular statement in the reasons, but one cannot assume the Board pored over the change in rules that we talked about today and made an important choice based on that exercise.


That takes you, then, to tab 14.  You'll find a more recent 2006 decision dealing with a motion to review.  The relevant portion in this case is at page 4 under the heading "The Threshold Question", where the second paragraph says:

"The motion to vary a decision of the Board must, under the Board's rules, be brought within 20 days of the original decision and is usually based on some showing that there is new evidence or changed circumstances that warrant the decision being reviewed.  The courts in both Ontario and Alberta have held that it is not necessary that new evidence be demonstrated before the Board can exercise its power to review or vary a decision.  However, the general practice is that applicants are asked to justify a variance ..." 


And so on.  So that's a statement of the test in this case.  And then, finally, to tab 10, you'll find the most recent decision, at least that we're aware of, June 29 of 2006.


At page 3, you'll find a useful statement, in my submission, of the way in which the Board operates, under the heading "The Interrogatory Process," where the Board says that:

"It is obliged to govern its processes and manage hearings in a manner that is effective, efficient and fair to the parties while serving the public interest."


The Board gives weight to the principles of predictability and efficiency in the middle of page 5, and, for all the reasons mentioned in the first nine pages of the decision, reaches the conclusion that Mr. Crockford had failed to present a compelling case to pass the threshold test in rule 45, without giving a lot of explanation as to what that test is and where the test emanated from.


So based on those decisions, I say that at least three matters become clear from a review of those cases; first, that the Board does not appear to have analyzed the scope or content of the applicable threshold test in any degree of detail, certainly not in cases that postdate the amendment to the rules in 2002.


Second, although previous decisions of the Board concerning motions for reconsideration are not completely uniform, the Board has almost always taken a restrictive view of its power of review or reconsideration, and there are, in fact, very few successful applications, at least of which we are aware.  The power has, in fact, only been exercised in the past in unusual circumstances or in exceptional circumstances.  


And then, finally, based on our review of the law, although we stand to be corrected by our colleagues that know an awful lot more about this than we do, there does not appear to be a previous case in which the OEB has, in fact, exercised its power of review in respect of an alleged denial of natural justice.  Not one of the cases I've referred to, and I've given you now ten or eleven - and they're all the cases in the record - involve an alleged denial of natural justice.


It is certainly the case, in my submission, that there has been no review, no reconsideration by this Board, of one of its decisions on a natural justice basis in the period since the Board's rules were amended in 2002 to delete references to errors of law and jurisdiction, including natural justice.


That could be a matter of pure coincidence or it could be a matter of people looking at the rules and saying the rules simply don't provide any longer for reviews to be conducted on that basis.


Our courts have held that where, as in this case, there is a statutory pre‑condition to the exercise of a power of abuse, that pre‑condition must be satisfied strictly, and, of course, the pre‑condition here is that imposed by the rules themselves.


So if I can just give you one reference, not to take the time to turn it up, but the re: Sciavatarro case, which is tab 3 of our brief of authorities at page 527.  You'll find reference to that effect.  


I say that it's clear that the practice of this Board in taking a restrictive approach to its power of review is similar to the restrictive approaches taken by a number of other administrative tribunals, including tribunals that are governed by section 21 of the SPPA.  And we've given you one example in the materials, but it may be useful to turn that up briefly, and that is the Ontario Securities Commission.  


So if you turn with me to tab 21 of our brief of authorities, you'll find that the power of review is provided for under the rules.  So these are rules now of that the OSC adopted pursuant to section 21.2 of the SPPA.  The power of review is provided for in rule 9, and, in particular, rule 9.2, which says that:

"The Commission may review a final decision at the request of a party or on its own initiative."


And then if you look at the content of the rule - that is, how is this rule now applied by the OSC - if you turn to the last page in the tab, you'll find the practice guidelines adopted by the OSC that play a very important roles in its construction of its own constating rules and statute.  


You'll see under number 1, "Limits on Decision to Review": 

"The Commission will generally only review all or part of a final decision if there is significant new evidence that was not available at the time of the original proceeding, or there have been material changes in circumstances since the original decision."


And then under the heading "Factors on whether to review a decision", in my submission, are apposite and can guide, among others, this tribunal:

"Deciding whether it is advisable to review all or part of a final decision, the Commission may take into account any factors it considers relevant, which may include whether any parties to the proceeding or any other person has relied on the decision; any party to the proceeding or any other person will be affected by the review process; any parties to the proceeding consent to the review; any other rights of appeal that exist to the courts and the public interest and finality of the decisions is outweighed by the prejudice to the requestor."


So that's the way the OSC itself operates.


I'll give you two other references, if I may, because you'll see that many other tribunals adopt the same sort of restrictive approach.  You'll find the OLRB, the Ontario Labour Relations Board, clearly does so.  And I'll just give you a reference to the K‑Mart decision, which is in the Union brief of authorities at tab 6.


The Pay Equity Hearings Tribunal adopts the same approach.  You can look at the Women's College Hospital case, which is in the Union brief at tab 7.


Put slightly differently, but importantly, we, at least, are not aware of any administrative tribunal in this province governed by the SPPA that exercises powers of review or reconsideration for the purpose of permitting dissatisfied parties who are unhappy with decisions of a tribunal to simply repeat arguments that have been previously made or that could have been made through the exercise of proper diligence.  


In other words, applications for review are not applications to re-argue a case.


So, what is the applicable threshold test that must be met in circumstances such as these?  In our submission, it is governed by the rules themselves, at tab 17.  And therefore a party that seeks to review a decision of this tribunal must fit themselves within one of the enumerated grounds in rule 44.01.  


We say that the words, rather, may include - do not open the floodgates to include - all sorts of matters that the rules do not provide for and indeed, that were expressly deleted from the rules in 2002.  And therefore the parties seeking to invoke the Board's power of review must demonstrate either errors in fact, changes in circumstances, new facts that have arisen, facts that were not previously placed in evidence in the proceeding and could not have been discovered by reasonable diligence at the time, or at least some very similar matter.


As an example, a very similar matter might be, to go to my friend Mr. Moran's argument, something that had simply been completely overlooked by the Board, that ought to have been dealt with as part of its decision-making function, might well fit within the scope of rule 44.01.


But it is not broad enough to encompass errors of law.  It is not broad enough to encompass errors of jurisdiction.  It is certainly not broad enough to encompass errors of natural justice or breaches of the rules of natural justice.


Now, it goes without saying, perhaps - but perhaps things don't go without saying - that whatever the error is, it must be sufficiently serious to raise a serious question concerning the correctness of the decision in question.  So even if someone were able to establish, as an example, an error of fact, the error of fact would be of no moment in an application of review if the error was trivial in nature, or it could not have a direct, and in my submission, substantial impact on the decision in question.  And the same would apply with respect to each of the enumerated grounds in rule 44.01.  There has to be, in my submission, a significant materiality threshold built into Rule 44.01 or the review process would be rendered essentially meaningless.


Now, why should alleged errors of law, why should alleged breaches of the rulings of natural justice, require someone to pursue appeal to the Divisional Court bearing in mind a plenary power of appeal provided for under, I believe it's section 33 of the OEB Act?  The answer, in my respectful submission, very simply is this: that that is, of course, squarely within expertise of that court.  Areas of law fall squarely within the specialized jurisdiction of the Divisional Court.  Breaches of natural justice fall squarely within the specialized expertise of the Divisional Court.  Indeed, the Divisional Court wrestles with issues of that nature on virtually a daily basis.


This Board, on the other hand, does not.  It places a panel of this Board, in my submission, in an extremely awkward position, to have it sit on appeal from a decision of another panel and to wrestle with the alleged conduct of members of another panel, and to wrestle with the manner in which another hearing might have been conducted, in circumstances where a party alleges that their natural-justice rights have been implicated.


The Divisional Court, of course, is well aware of the minimum procedural safeguards that specialized administrative tribunals of this nature are expected to provide for and observe in the hearing setting, and in my submission, would have no difficulty whatsoever separating out claims of a jurisdictional nature and have merit from those that quite obviously do not.  For that reason, again, matters of that sort are better left to the Divisional Court than to another panel of this Board.


Which takes me now to my second submission, and that is:  Have the moving parties satisfied the applicable threshold test in the circumstance of this case?


In my submission, it is certainly arguable that they have not.  It is perhaps easiest in addressing this issue to reach a consensus in respect of what the moving parties have not alleged.


They have not alleged, in my submission, a change of circumstances in the period since the Board rendered its decision in this case on November 7 of 2006.  They have not alleged that new facts have arisen.  They have not attempted to establish facts that were not previously placed in evidence that could not have been discovered by reasonable diligence at the time of the first hearing.  


Of course, no affidavits have been delivered in support of these motions by any of the moving parties.  And in the absence of affidavit or other evidence, it would be, in my submission, essentially impossible to satisfy the tests for review set out in rules 44.01(a)(2),(3), or (4).  Which really leaves the one and only remaining ground of review that is relied upon, that at least fits within the scope of rule 44.01, and that is alleged errors of fact.


And having regard to the wording of rule 44.01, it is important, in my submission, to delineate quite clearly what an error of fact within the meaning of that rule is.  And to understand equally clearly what that phrase does not mean.


Again, it clearly does not mean errors of a trivial or inconsequential nature.  In my submission, an error of fact, if it fit within rule 44.01 must be clearly extricable from the record in these proceedings.  It cannot hinge on the review panel’s assessment of the witnesses who testified because, of course, this panel did nod have the advantage of looking into the whites of the eyes of the witnesses who did testify.  At best, you're left reviewing a paper record.


For that reason, this panel could not make a finding that there was an error in fact, where the factual finding made by the hearing panel was based on its assessment of the credibility of the witnesses who testified any more, of course, than an appellate court could, of course, in a judicial context.


It would not be open to a party on a motion for review, in my submission, to contend that the hearing panel made an error in fact by accepting the evidence of one witness over another.  And, if you're looking for a useful guide in interpreting your powers under rule 44.01, you might look to the general rule the courts apply on appeal in circumstances of this nature, where they use a magical phrase called the palpable and overriding error test, when dealing with errors of fact.  


That test means that an error of fact, to be cognizable on an appeal, and, in my submission, cognizable on a motion of this nature must be serious in nature, it must be demonstrable, based on the record.  Perhaps a silly example, but to illustrate the point:  An error of fact that could be relied upon could be an error made, as an example, a trial judge saying, Look, at the time of the accident, I find that the traffic light was green, when one can point to the transcript and one can say, look, there were three witnesses that testified about this light.  Every witness said it was red.   That is a palpable and overriding error that goes the heart of the decision made by the trial judge, and therefore should be set aside.  


The same sort of standard, in my submission, could and should be applied here.  Someone should have to be able to say, Look, here's the finding made by the hearing panel.  Here's the evidence that was led during the course of the hearing.  This is why the finding is incorrect and not sustainable.  That's one aspect of it.  Another aspect of it could be, the hearing made a finding that Union has no storage facilities in the province of Ontario.  Now, we hear from five witnesses to say they did.  Obviously the panel made an error.  Or the panel made a finding of fact an issue where there was, in fact, no evidence on the issue.  That would be, in my submission, a classic error in fact.  It would meet the palpable and overriding test as long as the finding of fact in question was a very significant finding of fact that went to the heart of the decision made by the hearing panel.


Absent that, to pore over a record trying to demonstrate 30 or 40 minor factual errors in circumstances where the errors were clearly debatable would not be a proper function for this panel on an application for review under Rule 44.01.


Now, with respect to the submissions made in this case, my strong preference is to leave it to others to debate the underlying facts.  I played no role in the hearing before the first Board and played no role in the pre-hearing processes, so I don't propose to wade in on that, but wanted to give the tribunal the benefit of at least some submissions on the type of standard that it might apply in circumstances of this nature. 


Which take me to my third submission, and that is the complaints made by IGUA concerning the manner in which the hearing itself was conducted.


I say this, that to the extent that you accept my submissions concerning the proper scope of a motion to review and you do conclude that allegations concerning supposed breaches of the rules of natural justice should properly be made to the Divisional Court rather than to a review panel of this Board, my submissions concerning IGUA's process-related complaints may well be considered redundant.


But if you reject my submissions in respect of the proper scope of motions of this nature and you do conclude that, notwithstanding the changes to the Board's Rules of Practice and Procedure made in 2002, that alleged breaches of rules of natural justice continue to be relevant on motions of review, you will, then, have to consider very carefully, in my submission, the various complaints that IGUA has made.


I respectfully submit that none of those complaints is well‑founded.  Among other things, those complaints ignore critical differences between this Board and the courts.  They confuse the role of the hearing panel itself with the roles of Staff counsel in Board proceedings, and, in my submission, they also turn on casting in a somewhat sinister light quite innocuous events and occurrences that took place during the course of the hearing process.  


So let me start, if I can, with the role of the Board itself.  It's clear beyond doubt, in my submission, that this Board is a highly specialized Board that has a strong and important policy‑making function.  It is quite clearly not a court of record.  It is not required to sit passively as an independent adjudicator and wait for parties to initiate proceedings before it, nor is the Board required, in my submission, to play a purely passive adjudicative role during the course of proceedings once they've been commenced, and particularly once they've been commenced at the instigation of the Board itself.


Rather, the Board is entitled to commence or initiate proceedings in its own right.  Hearing panels of the Board are fully entitled to ask probing questions of witnesses who appeared before them, including leading questions, to use a phrase in someone's factum.  There is, in my submission, nothing whatsoever unusual, extraordinary or remotely untoward about doing so.  


And if I could ask you to turn to tab 18 of our brief of authorities, you'll find a few provisions that may be of some assistance in making this point.


This is now of the Board's statute.  And if you would turn with me to section 19(4) of the Act -- 19(1), rather, says:

"The Board has in all matters within its jurisdiction authority to hear and determine all questions of law and fact."


19(4), "The Board of its own motion":

"The Board of its own motion may and if so directed by the Minister under section 28 or otherwise, shall determine any matter that under this Act or the regulations it may upon an application determine, and in so doing the Board has and may exercise the same powers as upon an application."


Well, you'll find no analogous provision - no analogous provision - in the Courts of Justice Act governing the Superior Court of Ontario.


Section 21, "The Board may at any time":

"The Board may at any time, on its own motion and without a hearing, give directions or require the preparation of evidence incidental to the exercise of the powers conferred upon the Board by this or any other Act."


So the Board having been given the power the initiate proceedings is also given the statutory right on its own motion to require the preparation of evidence incidental to the exercise of the powers conferred upon the Board by this statute or any other statute.


Section 29 of the Act, several pages later, is the power to forbear.  So on an application or in a proceeding:

"The Board shall make a determination to refrain in whole or in part from exercising any power or performing any duty under the Act if it finds as a question of fact that a licensee, person, product, class of products, service or class of services is or will be subject to competition sufficient to protect the public interest."


And, again, critically important to understand that this is squarely determined by the legislature to be a finding of fact - a finding of fact, not a finding of law - a finding of fact that the Board is entitled to make pursuant to its rights under section 29 of the Act.


Now, I say that the Board was given the statutory authority, and indeed the mandate, to do the very thing that it did in this case.  It can hardly be faulted - it can hardly be faulted - on a review application of this nature, or at least faulted properly for doing the very thing that the legislature has empowered it to do and asked it so do.  


And for those reasons alone, a number of the cases that IGUA purports to rely upon in support of its motion for review have no application whatsoever in the circumstances of this case, and, as I said a moment ago, are quite easily distinguishable.


There are a number of other provisions of the Board's constating statute that pertain clearly to its significant policy-making function that, again, moves it out of the adjudicative role that my friend Mr. Thompson referred to in his argument.  


If I can just give you a short list of those and ask you read them on your own time.  I won't take you to them now, but section 4.4 of the Act, dealing with stakeholder input; section 4.6 of the Act, dealing with the requirement to enter into memoranda with the Minister concerning the Board's priorities and plans; section 28 of the Act, dealing with the implementation of directives; section 35, an examination, reporting and advising role; section 36, the power to fix rates using any method or technique the Board considers appropriate; section 44, the Board's power to make rules governing a broad range of conduct.  


And I could go on and on throughout the Board statute, but the Board is so critically, critically different from a court, and so critically different from a simple adjudicator.  Such an extremely important part of its mandate is a rule-making function, a policy-making function.  


And hearings of the nature that was conducted here are a critically important component of that policy-making function.  The Board cannot be looked at simply as a judge sitting in a hearing passively, waiting for the parties to pick a fight before it, to adjudicate a fight that has been picked by someone else.


So what does IGUA actually complain of that occurred in this proceeding?  It complains of, as I read its factum and listen to its argument, really six matters, which I'll go through very quickly, if I may. 


First, paragraphs 43 to 50 of the IGUA factum.  It complains that the Board issued a notice of proceeding on its own motion in December of 2005 and delineated the issues it expected the parties and the intervenors to address in the proceeding.


The short and simple answer to that complaint is that in proceeding in that fashion, the Board discharged properly its statutory mandate and was fully entitled to do exactly what it did, given its governing statute.


The Board was free, in my submission, to delineate the scope of the proceedings, and in this case did so at the end of a consultative process that had been ongoing for more than two years, since at least October of 2003, when the Board initiated its review of natural-gas supply and storage and upstream transportation.


Pursuant to the Board's settlement guidelines, which we've included in our brief of authorities, the Board is fully entitled to exclude from the ambit of a settlement conference particular issues that it believes should be heard in full in the hearing; exactly what happened here, and it happened when the Board issued its Procedural Order No. 2 on February 28, 2006 and directed that the issue of storage regulation would not be subject to settlement.  


Again, nothing unusual or improper about any of that.  The Board simply determined, as it was entitled to do, that the public interest required that storage regulation issues should be the subject of a full hearing.


The second complaint, IGUA complains in paragraph 45 of its factum that the Board directed all parties to file their evidence with respect to storage regulations simultaneously on May 1, 2006, and then failed to impose a burden of proof on one party or another.


Again, in my submission, the complaint is of no moment whatsoever.  Administrative tribunals are, of course, the masters of their own procedures, and this too was a direction that the hearing panel is fully entitled to issue.


It also, in my submission, made perfect sense in a proceeding of this sort that was initialled by the Board itself, rather than at the application of one of the parties or the intervenors.


Third, IGUA complains that Board Staff retained an expert by the name of Dr. Roger Ware of LECG, a professor of economics at Queen's University, to assist Board Staff in formulating questions and in understanding the evidence.  


IGUA complains in its factum that Dr. Ware did not file evidence, was not subject to questioning by the other parties, and I say, as well, that complaint is without merit.


Staff was fully entitled to seek the assistance of an expert, and in providing this assistance Dr. Ware was simply an extension of Staff.  There's no suggestion on the record that Dr. Ware played a role in the deliberations of the hearing panel.  He was certainly not required to file evidence, nor, in my submission, was he required to submit to questioning by any of the parties.  And, again, there's nothing whatsoever that's extraordinary, unusual, or even remotely troublesome about the fact that Staff of the Board retained Dr. Ware as a consulting expert in respect of matters as complex of those at issue here.


What's the fourth complaint?  Paragraph 51 of the IGUA factum complains that Board Panel members asked questions of witnesses which are said to have indicated that they were searching for a forbearance solution to the storage regulation issue and that their questioning indicated that a decision to retain the status quo was not open for reconsideration.  In my submission, these are conclusory assertions that are neither fair nor accurate.  


Our courts, including the Supreme Court of Canada, have recognized, in my submission, for many years that even adjudicators, full-fledged adjudicators, are entitled to ask probing questions of witnesses who testify before them, including leading questions.  The fact that questions are asked does not mean that the person who asked those questions has a closed mind or has somehow pre-judged the issues in respect of which information is being sought, for obvious reasons.


Conversely, the fact that questions were not asked about particular subject matter, in my submission, signifies absolutely nothing.  There is an entire host of reasons why an adjudicator might ask or not ask particular questions from particular witnesses under particular circumstances that have nothing whatsoever to do with prejudgment, or of any form of adjudicative misconduct.


It is not unusual in the slightest, in my submission, for trial judges and appellate judges to ask difficult questions of counsel, of witnesses who appear before them, including leading questions, and these are in circumstances where judges are held to the highest possible standards of procedural fairness.  There's certainly no basis to suggest that a panel of this Board should somehow be held to a higher standard.  


It's clear, parenthetically, from the materials filed by Enbridge and Union that tough questions were also asked by members of the panel of witnesses on every side of this debate.  Again, nothing unusual, extraordinary about this.


I ask the panel to review very carefully the series of exchanges between Mr. Kaiser of the panel and Dr. Schwindt at tab 27 of Mr. Thompson’s document brief.  This is the one series of extracts that my friend relies upon to prove his case of somehow bias as a result of questioning.  In my submission, the exchanges in tab 27 of his brief do not reflect in any way that Mr. Kaiser or any of the other members of the panel somehow pre-judged the issues in the case.  Rather, it's clear from the transcript that Mr. Kaiser simply wanted to understand where whether the proposal that had been put forward by parties seeking forbearance was transitional in nature.  I say that that exchange is a remarkably thin read on which to hang an argument of this magnitude.


And finally, on this point, I say there's simply no proper basis upon which IGUA can rely on that exchange to contend that those exchanges somehow amount to bias or amount to a closed mind.


Fifth - it's my second-last point - the BP issues.  IGUA complains in paragraph 51 of its factum that that the hearing panel during the course of the hearing advised counsel for BP that it would like to put questions to BP, and asked him to consider putting forward someone to testify.  The Board Chair indicated at that time that if necessary - and those are the important words, if necessary - that could be done in camera.  IGUA then complains that the Board prepared a list of questions it wanted BP to address, and that Ms. Sebalj, in her capacity as Board Support Counsel, then “privately negotiated an agreement with counsel for BP where BP’s witnesses would attend and testify at the hearing.” Again, I say that series of complaints is without any merit whatsoever.


One of the most important issues that this case ultimately gave rise to is the manner in which the so-called secondary market operates.  That is directly relevant to the Board’s determinations as to whether Enbridge and Union had market power.  BP, as I understand it, is an important participant in the secondary market.  It had participated in this proceedings through its counsel from the very outset of the case.  


Furthermore, the expert called by staff in the hearing, Ms. McConihe, had given indirect evidence concerning certain dimensions of the secondary market, including her discussions, as I understand it, with BP.  In the circumstances, it is hardly surprising or unusual that the hearing panel expressed an interest in hearing directly from BP concerning the secondary market, and in my submission, the Board was fully entitled, fully entitled to say to counsel from BP, We would like to hear from one or your witnesses.  Again, nothing unusual, extraordinary or improper about that in any way, shape, or form.  The Board could well have exercised its powers under section 21.1 of the OEB Act or could have simply issued subpoenas to require representatives of BP to testify if it chose then to do.  As it turns out, it worked out in a co-operative fashion and the Board apparently obtained the information it was looking for.


I say that the Board simply operated in a fair and efficient and transparent manner in providing to BP and its counsel, and counsel of all the other parties as well, a list of the issues that it wished BP to address.  Again, nothing unusual about that.  Nothing unusual about the Board having suggested that if necessary it could heard BP in camera.  BP operates in a competitive arena, and it is perfectly natural, in my submission, that someone who operates in a competitive arena would have concerns pertaining to the confidentiality of competitively sensitive information that it might be required to divulge in a proceeding of this nature.  And there are many, many tribunals that operate using in-camera sessions to guard again against that risk.


The simple fact of the matter, the simple fact of the matters is that the witnesses for BP did, in fact, testify, and they did so in public after extensive submissions were made concerning that issue by counsel for all parties.  They were then subject to full cross-examination by the other parties to the proceeding, and they did, in fact, address the issues that the hearing panel had previously identified.  So I say with respect, that the BP issues are a complete red herring.  Nothing unusual.  Nothing untoward.  Nothing troublesome about in of this.  And it certainly did not give rise to any sort of breach of the rules of natural justice.


Finally, the last complaint.  IGUA complains that counsel for the Board hearing team made final argument -- this is paragraph 58 of the IGUA factum, in which he took a position adverse to the expert evidence that she had led.  She took the position that the market and storage services transacted at Dawn was sufficiently competitive to protect the public interest, and that position was taken by her in closing argument.


I say that this too is a complete red herring for several reasons.  First, that as counsel for the Board hearing team, Ms. Campbell was entitled to take whatever position she chose to take based on the evidence that was adduced during the three weeks of hearings that preceding closing arguments. The simple fact of the matter is that the expert witness called to testify by her, by the Board hearing team, did not fare terribly well in cross-examination, made a number of admissions that rendered untenable the position that Ms. Campbell had originally taken or proposed to take, and rather than clinging obstinately to turf that she had staked out at the start of the proceedings, counsel for the  Board took a responsible position in closing arguments, did the right thing, did the fair thing, and made a submission based on the evidence that came out during the course of the hearing.  Again, nothing unusual about that.


But perhaps more importantly, more fundamentally, nothing that Board hearing counsel did could possibly ground a complaint of breaches of the rules of natural justice against hearing panel itself.  Ms. Campbell isn't a member of the hearing panel.  She didn't play a role in the adjudication of the hearing panel.  She was counsel during the course of the proceeding.  She made submissions in the same way that I am.  And just as my submissions to you could not somehow impact on your ability to sit fairly in the case, would not cause you to lose jurisdictions, similarly, Ms. Campbell's submissions would have no such impact on the panel that heard the case on the merits.


Let me close by saying this, that with respect to the cases that were relied upon by IGUA, including the ones mentioned by Mr. Thompson today, those cases are all quite easily distinguishable.  The Baker and Hitchinson case, Ontario Court of Appeal, again, does not concern proceedings of this Board, does not concern the proceedings of any other administrative tribunal.  The proceedings arose from the misconduct of a trial judge during the trial of a personal injury case where the trial judge belittled and criticized both the plaintiffs and their counsel in a public fashion, in the middle of the trial, and in a manner that was unwarranted and ajudicious.  So for obvious reasons, the Court of Appeal said that conduct for a trial judge was impermissible.  Again, no application here at all.


Tab 6(e) of my friend's authorities, the Committee for Justice and Liberty versus the National Energy Board.


Again, an easily distinguishable case concerning the role of Marshall Crowe, formerly the president of the Canadian Development Corporation, and in that role was a key member of the Gas Arctic Northwest Project Study Group that became an active proponent of the Mackenzie Valley Pipeline.  Crowe was then appointed as Chair of the National Energy Board, and in that role purported to sit as a member of an adjudicative panel in order to approval the construction of the pipeline he had been a proponent of.  For obvious reasons, the Supreme Court of Canada stepped in and said that is obvious bias and places Crowe in an impossible position.  He can't wear both hats.


Then, skipping forward to the Newfoundland Telephone Company case, 1992 decision, Supreme Court of Canada.  This is tab 6(g) of my friend's authorities, again, concerning the misconduct of a person named Andy Wells, a consumer advocate who was appointed to a hearing panel of the Board of the public utilities responsible for regulating the Newfoundland Telephone Company.


Both before and during the hearings that he sat as a member of, Wells gave repeated interviews to the media in which he made a series of highly inflammatory and indeed arguably irresponsible statements that were critical of the conduct of senior executives of the telephone company, the very company whose conduct he was responsible for scrutinizing as a member of the hearing panel.  


Again, not surprisingly, the Supreme Court of Canada disqualified him from sitting as a member of the hearing panel because of his extrajudicial statement, if you will; the statements made out of the hearing to members of the media, the people that he was responsible for looking at.


If I can ask you to do one thing with respect to that decision.  This is tab 6(g) of the IGUA cases. 


My friend referred you to paragraph 27 of that decision at page 9.  This is the small brief.  It's got ‑‑ it's about an inch thick.  It's tab 6G, paragraph 27, and my friend stopped reading exactly one sentence too early.  


If you go to paragraph 27 and read the very last sentence.  This is just after he stopped.  You'll find an answer to my friend's assertion concerning this case, where Justice Cory in the Supreme Court of Canada says, three lines from the bottom of that page, page 9:

"Administrative boards that deal with matters of policy...", i.e., this Board, "...will be closely comparable to boards composed of municipal councillors.  For those boards, a strict application of a reasonable apprehension of bias as a test might undermine the very role which has been entrusted to them by the legislature."


If I had to pick one operative sentence the case, that's it, because, of course, this Board - this Board - deals with matters of policy, and, in my submission, moves further down the continuum, away from the purely adjudicative role.  The decision has simply no bearing here whatsoever.


And then, finally, the Beno case.  Beno versus Canada, tab H of my friend's authorities, again, the case where, simply, the Federal Court of Appeal overturned findings against the Chair of the Somalia inquiry based on critical comments he made to Brigadier General Beno during the inquiry itself and about General Beno, discussions outside the confines of the inquiry, and held that there was no basis for alleging the Commissioner was biassed simply because those comments were made.  


The case has no application whatsoever in the circumstances of this case.


So, in conclusion, I say this, that none of the cases relied upon by IGUA has any application in the circumstances of this case, and that even if alleged jurisdictional errors and breaches of the rules of natural justice are somehow relevant on a motion for review by this Board - and I say that they're not - there's simply no substance whatsoever to any of the complaints that have been made.  


The allegations concerning bias of the Board are without merit, and the allegations concerning the conduct of the Staff of the Board are, in my submission, similarly without merit.  They don't get even half way to first base in allowing IGUA to establish a credible basis to challenge the correctness of the Board's decision, at least on those bases.  And, for that reason, even if my submissions concerning the proper scope of the motion for review or reconsideration are not accepted, I respectfully submit that the reference of threshold test on this motion has not been satisfied, at least in respect of that series of issues.


Those are my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thomson.


MS. SPOEL:  Just one question, Mr. Thomson.  Go back to the Statutory Powers Procedure Act, which I think is somewhere in your brief of authorities.


MR. THOMSON:  It's tab 15.


MS. SPOEL:  Tab 15, great.  I wondered, if you look at section 21.2, subsection 1 that you referred to, there is a note here that that section appears to have been amended as a result of chapter 23, I guess it's the Statutes of Ontario in 1997. 


And I just wondered whether you could advise us as to how that particular section read before that amendment and whether it might have any bearing on why we come to review of our rules.


MR. THOMSON:  Yes, before the 1997 amendment ‑‑ can I just read the wording into the record?


MS. SPOEL:  Yes, that would be great.


MR. THOMSON:  Before the 1997 amendment, the section read as follows:


[Counsel confer]

"A tribunal may, if it considers it advisable, review all or part of its own decision or order in accordance with its rules made under section 25.1 and may confirm, vary, suspend or cancel the decision or order."


MR. THOMSON:  In other words, what the change clearly did was add the requirement for a tribunal to enact its own rules.  In other words, clearly from 1997 onwards, in the absence of rules of the tribunal, there is no power to review.  It's a conjunctive test.  


So if you look at 21.2 as it now stands, there are two tests that have to be met.  First, a tribunal may, if it considers it advisable, and, conjunctively, if its rules made under section 25.1 deal with the matter, then review all or part of its own decision.


MS. SPOEL:  Right.


MR. THOMSON:  And the problem with the rules as they were drafted -- I believe it was enacted in 1993, so from 1993 to 1997, again, the wording was:

"The tribunal may, if it considers it advisable, review all or part of its own decision or order in accordance with its rules."


It didn't make it explicit that the rules had to provide for power of review.


MS. SPOEL:  Right.  I thank you.  Mr. Vlahos?


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  


Mr. Thomson, just one area.  Your statement on the overview - I'm looking at your factum, paragraph 2 - where you say that these matters properly belong on appeal to the Divisional Court of Ontario.  And you have witnessed the exchange that I had with Mr. Ryder with respect to what may apply today or tomorrow, and his understanding of, you know, a decision has been made, but no orders have been issued.  At least we haven't gone through all the orders being issued.  Therefore, it's open to the parties.


Do you have a view on that?


MR. THOMSON:  My own view is that there is always a way to get to Rome and that if parties were to elect to pursue rights of appeal to the Divisional Court, there is a way they would and could get there.  And whether the time has started to run or not, I'm not that sure.  


I'm not that familiar with the Board's procedures, and I don't know about whether the orders have been issued or not issued.  But one can always apply to the Divisional Court for extensions of time, and people can consent to extensions of time, as well, to facilitate appeal rights.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  So when you did draft this paragraph, you had no view whether it was open for the parties to pursue that avenue or it was too late.  Did you have a view on that?


MR. THOMSON:  I did not.  I suspect it is not too late, is my point.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right, thank you.  


Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  I just have one question, as well, Mr. Thomson, in regards to the Board's own rules, which you have under tab 17, and the rule 44.01, the motion to review.


MR. THOMSON:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  The new rule, if you like, that you referred to.


Under section A, at the end of that phrase where it adds "which grounds may include", you've referred to the word "may" in other spots and said that it was a permissive "may."


MR. THOMSON:  This is permissive as well, in the sense that the grounds for the motion would not mandatorily include each of these matters.  It must include at least one of the matters, and if not one of these matters, then something very close to it.  


I'm applying a principle of law known as ejusdem generis.  So it's either a matter listed under rule 44.01(a) or something very close, like -- I gave an example with Mr. Moran's argument, something that the Board has just simply forgotten to deal with, just a clear omission from the judgment.  That would arguably fit within the scope of rule 44.01, as well.


MS. NOWINA:  So your understanding is that when it says "which grounds may include", you mean you think that that should be interpreted as "must include at least one of"?


MR. THOMSON:  Or something very close to that.


MS. NOWINA:  Or something very.  All right, thank you very much.


MR. THOMSON:  But for obvious reasons, that word could not possibly have said "shall include"; otherwise, the notice of motion would have had to set out errors of facts, changes in circumstances, new facts.  In circumstances where you rely upon one of the four, you couldn't.  


Or, to use my analogy, you know, a clear error by the tribunal, because it simply forgot to deal with my friend's point, would be another example.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you.  


That completes our day today.  We will resume at 

9 o'clock tomorrow morning and we'll begin with Union Gas.  


We're now adjourned for day.


‑‑‑ Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:34 p.m. 
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